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FRIWO at a Glance 

Key Figures 

In EUR million  1–12 / 2024  1–12 / 2023* 

Revenue  93.0  111.1 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  -3.6  -7.4 

EBIT margin in %  -3.9  -6.6 

Earnings before taxes (EBT)  -7.1  -11.1 

Earnings after taxes  -6.2  -11.5 

Statement of financial position  12/31/2024  12/31/2023* 

Total assets  63.7  71.2 

Equity  3.3  9.6 

Equity ratio in %  5.3  13.5 

Investments  1.4  4.0 

Employees (financial statement closing date)  1,206  1,701 

Share     

Earnings per share in EUR  -0.73  -1.35 

     

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 
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Foreword by the Management Board 

“FRIWO will reposition itself financially through comprehensive 
portfolio restructuring, thus laying the foundations for sustaina-

bly profitable growth.” 

Dear Shareholders and Friends of FRIWO, 

Throughout our more than 50-year history, one of our greatest strengths has been and remains our 

ability to adapt flexibly to new market conditions, even when this requires drastic action. Last year, for 

example, as part of necessary portfolio restructuring, we made some far-reaching strategic decisions 

to secure our financial stability for the long term: We sold our 49.9 percent stake in the joint venture 

in India, which supplies the local two- and three-wheeler market with electric drive systems, to our 

joint venture partner UNO MINDA. We also agreed to sell our DIN rail power supply business. 

These two transactions give us the necessary freedom to focus our financial and human resources 

on the future growth of our core activities, i.e. the development and production of innovative, high-qual-

ity power supply and charging solutions for selected target industries, which we intend to progressively 

expand internationally. 

Setting up the joint venture in India, which began in 2022, has been a success story for FRIWO that 

exceeded our expectations. Together with UNO MINDA, we established a significant position in the 

huge Indian market for e-mobility drive solutions for two- and three-wheelers in just a few years and 

recently doubled the joint venture’s revenue. However, given the high level of demand and the order 

backlog, significant investments will need to be made in plant capacity, personnel, product develop-

ment and the sales network in the coming years. This would have tied up too many resources for a 

medium-sized company like FRIWO and would not have been feasible in view of the necessary fi-

nancing. 

After careful consideration, the Management Board and Supervisory Board decided to initiate a struc-

tured sales process involving several prospects. Working with our Indian partner company UNO 

MINDA, we found ideal buyers for all of the company’s stakeholders and for FRIWO’s future strategic 

positioning in India and Southeast Asia. UNO MINDA is acquiring the 49.9 percent stake and the 

worldwide rights to FRIWO’s drive technology for two- and three-wheelers, with the exception of 

e-bikes and pedelecs. FRIWO will retain access to other e-mobility system offerings that already gen-

erate significant revenue for the company, such as those for the logistics, construction, golf cart and 

medical sectors. 

The sales proceeds of around EUR 20 million negotiated with UNO MINDA will enable us to fully repay 

the loan negotiated with a German banking syndicate by the end of 2025 and thus reduce the FRIWO 

Group’s financial leverage to a large extent. This, in turn, will provide us with new strategic opportuni-

ties to expand into promising segments around the world. 
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The decision announced late last year to sell our DIN rail power supply business for a nearly eight-digit 

sum in euros is also primarily intended to improve our finances and financial position and to focus on 

our core business. The buyer is an important customer for these specialized FRIWO products and 

services, a renowned manufacturer of components and systems for electrical engineering, electronics 

and automation. The fact that there were no synergies between this segment and the rest of our 

operations also played a role. We expect the transaction to become legally effective by the end 

of 2025, similar to the sale of our operations in India. 

Weak Economic Environment in 2024 

The 2024 fiscal year was operationally weaker than we had originally forecast at the start of the year 

amid a weak economic environment. Expectations of a significant revival in demand in Europe, espe-

cially in the E-Mobility and Tools segments, were unfortunately not met. In Germany, which remains 

FRIWO’s most important sales market, gross domestic product declined slightly for the second year 

in a row in 2024 and consumer sentiment remained subdued. As a result, we lowered our original 

revenue and earnings expectations in October 2024. 

These new targets were achieved. Consolidated revenue for the past fiscal year amounted to 

EUR 93.0 million – in line with the target of EUR 90 to 95 million – compared with EUR 111.1 million 

in the previous year. The order backlog amounted to EUR 43.7 million at the end of 2024, down from 

EUR 49.6 million a year earlier. Consolidated earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) of 

EUR -3.6 million also met the adjusted target of a small loss. On the expense side, a positive impact 

was achieved by lower material costs and ongoing measures to improve cost efficiency, such as mak-

ing our production base in Vietnam more flexible and discontinuing production at the Ostbevern site 

in favor of contract manufacturing. 

New Strategic Positioning 

Once the divestments are completed, our Group will expand its core activities on the basis of lean 

structures, a sound financial basis and a solid equity ratio, which is expected to exceed 30 percent. 

We will gradually expand our target industries. This will open up new growth opportunities and, in the 

medium term, reduce the volatility of demand within the Group, taking into account business cycles. 

In the future, FRIWO will have five customer segments and target sectors: 

▪ E-Mobility/Transportation & Logistics 

▪ Medical & Healthcare Solutions 

▪ Industrial Applications 

▪ Specialized Tools & Equipment 

▪ Lifestyle Solutions 

Our goal is to continue to impress our customers with our innovative edge and product excellence. 
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Everything we do revolves around our ability to transform to meet the dynamic changes in global 

markets. A stronger focus on advanced solutions as well as further efficiency improvements are ex-

pected to improve earnings. At the same time, we strive for operational excellence, aiming to reduce 

lead times and improve logistics efficiency across the board. We will also put significant focus on 

accelerating time-to-market in order to exploit competitive advantages. The transformation also in-

cludes the crucial step of further internationalizing FRIWO since our company is still overly dependent 

on the domestic market. Aside from Germany, we are mainly targeting other European countries and 

North America. 

Aiming to Return to Sustainably Profitable Growth 

For the medium term, FRIWO expects average annual revenue growth at least in the high single-digit 

percentage range and a sustainable EBIT margin of over 5 percent. This should enable the company 

to return to generating a distributable profit that allows shareholders to participate appropriately in the 

company’s success through the payment of dividends. 

The current year, 2025, will clearly be a year of transformation. We are cautiously optimistic that the 

resurgence of demand for FRIWO solutions, which was already expected last year, will gradually 

materialize. On this basis, we expect to achieve consolidated revenue between EUR 75 and 90 million 

and a break-even operating consolidated EBIT. This forecast is based on the assumption that the two 

divestments, e-drives and the DIN rail business, will be implemented in the middle of the year, thereby 

eliminating the corresponding revenues. In addition, earnings are adjusted for the one-off effects from 

the divestment transactions. 

Whatever changes are necessary, FRIWO will remain an innovative provider of intelligent and cus-

tomized power supply and charging solutions for selected target sectors with long-term growth poten-

tial. Our heartfelt thanks go out to all of our employees throughout the Group for all they have done 

over the past year. We thank you, our shareholders and business partners, for your continued confi-

dence in our company. 

Sincerely yours, 

FRIWO AG 

The Management Board 

Dominik Wöffen Ina Klassen 
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Report by the Supervisory Board 

In the following report, the Supervisory Board of FRIWO AG reports 

on its activities in the period under review, particularly its discussions 

in the full Supervisory Board, compliance with the German Corporate 

Governance Code, the audit of the non-financial declaration and the 

financial statements of FRIWO AG and of the Group. 
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Cooperation Between the Management Board and the Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board of FRIWO AG diligently performed the duties and tasks incumbent upon it 

under the law, the Articles of Association, and the Rules of Procedure in the 2024 fiscal year. It regu-

larly advised the Management Board on the management of the company and monitored its manage-

ment activities. The Supervisory Board was immediately and fully included at an early stage in all 

decisions of fundamental importance to the company. The Supervisory Board adopted the resolutions 

required by law or the Articles of Association in both its face-to-face meetings and by telephone, in 

writing or in text form by way of circular vote. 

The Management Board provided the Supervisory Board with regular, prompt and comprehensive 

written and verbal reports regarding all issues relevant to the company, especially strategy, planning, 

business performance, the risk situation, risk management and compliance, at and between meetings. 

At the Supervisory Board meetings, the chair of the Supervisory Board regularly reported on discus-

sions with the Management Board that were held outside these Supervisory Board meetings. The 

Supervisory Board also regularly received detailed information from the Management Board in prep-

aration for the meetings. Significant events – for example, deviations from plans and targets – were 

explained to the Supervisory Board in detail. The Supervisory Board thoroughly examined and scru-

tinized these events using the documents provided. The Supervisory Board was therefore able to 

carefully examine reports and proposed resolutions submitted by the Management Board, discuss 

them in detail and pass resolutions on this basis. 

The Supervisory Board also conferred in the absence of the members of the Management Board, 

particularly to discuss internal Supervisory Board matters as well as personnel and remuneration is-

sues. 

Meetings of the Supervisory Board and the Audit Committee 

The Supervisory Board held four regular meetings in 2024. The meetings took place as face-to-face 

meetings on April 11, June 13, September 18 and December 12. The ordinary meeting on April 11 

also dealt with topics relating to the 2023 fiscal year. In addition, the Board held a video conference 

on July 17, 2024 to discuss a personnel matter. 

The Supervisory Board also adopted resolutions in writing, by telephone or in text form on a total of 

sixteen occasions during the 2024 fiscal year. 

The main topics of the circular resolutions were as follows: 

▪ Management Board matters (resignation and appointment of Management Board members and 

restructuring of Management Board leadership) 

▪ The approval of the sale of the component production of FRIWO Vietnam  

▪ The election of the deputy chair of the Supervisory Board and the election of the chair of the Audit 

Committee 

▪ The annual financial statements prepared by the Management Board, the consolidated financial 

statements for 2023 including the management report, the Group management report, the non-fi-

nancial Group declaration and the report by the Supervisory Board 

▪ The resolution on convening the 2024 Annual General Meeting 
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▪ The approval of the sale of the DIN rail power supply business and conclusion of the contracts 

▪ The approval of the sale of the e-drives business to UNO MINDA 

▪ The engagement of strategic and legal advisors and the conclusion of a consulting agreement with 

Mr. Schwirz 

All the Supervisory Board and Management Board members were present at all meetings, with the 

exception of Mr. Jaeger, who was excused from the meeting on April 11, and Mr. Feuerbach, who was 

unable to attend and was excused from the meeting on June 13. 

All members of the Supervisory Board also took part in the circular resolutions; only one member did 

not take part in one resolution. 

The Audit Committee met for four meetings in the 2024 fiscal year, which also took place as face-to-

face meetings on April 11, June 13, September 18 and December 12. The committee members were 

present at every meeting. Among other matters, the committee meetings discussed the annual finan-

cial statements, the audit of the 2023 annual financial statements and the preparation, planning and 

definition of the key areas for the audit of the 2024 financial statements. 

The chair of the Audit Committee regularly discussed the progress of the audit with the auditors for 

the 2023 and 2024 financial years (Rödl & Partner GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft and Baker 

Tilly GmbH & Co. KG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, respectively) and relayed this information to 

the committee. 

Key Areas of the Board’s Activity 

In all its discussions, the Supervisory Board dealt with trends in revenue, earnings and employment 

as well as the financial position and net assets of FRIWO AG and the Group, various personnel mat-

ters, risk management, compliance and questions of sustainability (ESG). The consultations focused 

in particular on international activities, the strategic development of the Group between now and 2029, 

divestments and the impact of the global economic recession on the FRIWO Group’s revenue and 

earnings performance and, consequently, on its liquidity and equity base. 

Specifically, the following topics were also discussed in detail at the meetings: 

At its meeting in April 2024, which was also attended by the auditors, the Supervisory Board carefully 

reviewed and discussed at length the annual and consolidated financial statements for 2023, each of 

which was issued an unqualified audit opinion by Rödl & Partner GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesell-

schaft, Bielefeld, as well as the combined management report for FRIWO AG and the Group and the 

report on relationships with affiliated companies. 

In June 2024, the Supervisory Board discussed the Annual General Meeting that preceded the meet-

ing. Because several new Supervisory Board members were elected at this Annual General Meeting, 

the Supervisory Board also elected its deputy chair during its inaugural meeting. The incumbent was 

re-elected to the position. The Audit Committee was also confirmed in its current composition. 
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Key topics at the third ordinary meeting in September were the presentation of the strategy developed 

by the Management Board for the period up to 2029, including potential sales transactions relating to 

the e-drives business and the DIN rail power supply business. The Supervisory Board also adopted 

revised rules of procedure, including a skills and expertise profile for the Supervisory Board. 

The December 2024 meeting focused on the budget for fiscal 2025 in addition to the audit of the 2024 

annual financial statements. Also on the agenda was the adoption of the declaration of conformity with 

the German Corporate Governance Code. The Supervisory Board also discussed in detail the M&A 

transactions relating to the sale of the e-drives business and the DIN rail power supply business. In 

addition, the Board resolved not to commission an external audit of the non-financial declaration by 

the auditor for the 2025 fiscal year, provided that the EU CSRD Directive is not transposed into na-

tional law. 

Composition of the Supervisory Board 

Shareholder Representatives 

Mr. Michael Jaeger resigned from the Supervisory Board as of the end of the 2024 Annual General 

Meeting on June 13, 2024. He was succeeded by Mr. Felix Feuerbach who was elected to the Super-

visory Board by the Annual General Meeting for a term of office ending at the close of the 2028 Annual 

General Meeting. 

Dr. Thomas R. J. Robl, having initially been appointed by court order, was elected to the Supervisory 

Board by resolution of the Annual General Meeting for a term of office ending at the close of the 2028 

Annual General Meeting. 

The other shareholder representatives on the Supervisory Board are Mr. Richard G. Ramsauer and 

Dr. Gregor Matthies, with a term of office ending at the close of the 2028 Annual General Meeting. 

Employee Representatives 

The employee representative on the Supervisory Board of FRIWO AG, Ms. Sabine Vennekötter, re-

signed from the Supervisory Board as of June 30, 2024, due to the termination of her employment 

contract with the company. Ms. Stefanie Kunze was appointed to the Supervisory Board by court order 

effective October 7, 2024. Ms. Kunze’s court appointment will end as soon as the employee repre-

sentatives adopt an election resolution. 

Mr. Uwe Leifken is serving as an additional employee representative on the Supervisory Board, with 

a term of office ending at the close of the 2026 Annual General Meeting. 

The members of the Supervisory Board are solely responsible for obtaining the education and training 

necessary to perform their duties. 
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Changes in the Management Board 

There were a number of personnel changes on the Management Board in the reporting year. The 

Supervisory Board and CFO Mr. Tobias Tunsch mutually agreed that Mr. Tunsch would resign from 

his position as a member of the Management Board at his own request effective January 31, 2024. 

Likewise, the Supervisory Board and Dr. Walter Demmelhuber mutually agreed that Dr. Demmelhuber 

would step down from his position as a member of the Management Board effective Febru-

ary 29, 2024. Mr. Tunsch and Dr. Demmelhuber resigned from office as per their agreements. Mr. Ol-

iver Freund was appointed to the company’s Management Board effective February 1, 2024, and left 

the Management Board on July 17, 2024. On May 1, 2024, the Supervisory Board appointed 

Mr. Roald Gréboval to the Management Board; he resigned from his position by mutual agreement on 

January 17, 2025. 

Rolf Schwirz, CEO since 2017, also left the Management Board and the company as planned and 

announced on December 31, 2024. Under his leadership, a number of important strategic decisions 

were made within the FRIWO Group, including the reorganization of the production base with the 

establishment of manufacturing facilities in Vietnam and the optimization of the internal organization 

to boost efficiency and customer satisfaction. FRIWO’s transformation from a component supplier to 

a system provider through the acquisition of Emerge Engineering GmbH in 2018 was of groundbreak-

ing importance. Emerge’s management technology formed the basis for the establishment of the suc-

cessful joint venture with UNO MINDA. The Supervisory Board warmly thanks Mr. Schwirz for his 

many years of outstanding service to FRIWO and wishes him all the best for the future. 

Mr. Dominik Wöffen and Ms. Ina Klassen were appointed as equal members of the Management 

Board effective January 1, 2025. Both Mr. Wöffen and Ms. Klassen have had long careers at FRIWO, 

each with more than 12 years of service. Mr. Wöffen most recently served as Chief Operating Officer 

(COO) starting in 2018. His responsibilities on the Management Board include global operations, 

sales, purchasing, product management, research and development and quality management. 

Ms. Klassen was previously Head of Finance & Controlling and also managed strategic special pro-

jects. On the Management Board, she is responsible for finance and accounting, controlling, IT, human 

resources, marketing, legal, investor relations and sustainability. 

Following the changes to the Management Board, the Supervisory Board is confident that, in Ms. Klas-

sen and Mr. Wöffen, it has found an experienced, competent and capable management team that will 

continue to develop the FRIWO Group operationally and strategically in the coming years. 
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Corporate Governance 

In the opinion of the Supervisory Board, the Board includes a sufficient number of people who can be 

qualified as independent. The Board has extensive sector knowledge and, thanks to the diverse pro-

fessional backgrounds of its members, is characterized by a wealth of international experience and 

skills. It therefore has the knowledge, skills and professional experience required to perform its tasks. 

Future proposals to the Annual General Meeting for the election of shareholder representatives to the 

Supervisory Board should also ensure that the skills and expertise profile adopted by the Supervisory 

Board in September 2024 is taken into account in the composition of the Supervisory Board, taking 

into account further legal developments. The status of the skills and expertise profile’s implementation 

is disclosed in the corporate governance statement in the form of a qualification matrix. 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board issued the declaration of conformity in accordance 

with Section 161 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) in December 2024 and made it perma-

nently available on the company’s website. The Supervisory Board is satisfied that – with the excep-

tions stated in the Declaration of Compliance – FRIWO AG has complied with the recommendations 

of the German Corporate Governance Code for the 2024 fiscal year. 

No conflicts of interest involving members of the Supervisory Board or the Management Board were 

reported or otherwise identified in fiscal 2024, with the exception of the resolution to conclude a con-

sulting agreement between FRIWO and Kemeney Boehme Consultants SE (KBC), where Mr. Felix 

Feuerbach abstained from voting. 

Audit of the Non-Financial Group Declaration 

In accordance with Section 171(1) sentence 4 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Su-

pervisory Board reviewed the mandatory non-financial Group declaration supplementing the manage-

ment report as required by the German CSR Directive Implementation Act (CSR-RUG). As in the 

previous year, it decided not to commission an external audit. Following a thorough examination and 

discussion, the Supervisory Board came to the conclusion that it had no objections to raise against 

the non-financial Group declaration. On this basis, the declaration was adopted by the Supervisory 

Board. The non-financial Group declaration can be found in the separate sustainability report on the 

company’s website. 
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Audit of the Annual and Consolidated Financial Statements 2024 

Baker Tilly GmbH & Co. KG Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Düsseldorf, was appointed as auditor 

for the annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements for the 2024 fiscal year by 

the company’s Annual General Meeting on June 13, 2024, at the recommendation of the Supervisory 

Board. Baker Tilly audited the annual financial statements of FRIWO AG prepared by the Manage-

ment Board for the 2024 fiscal year and the consolidated financial statements for 2024 as well as the 

combined management report for FRIWO AG and the Group and issued an unqualified audit opinion 

in each case. The audit conducted by the auditor pursuant to Section 317(4) of the German Commer-

cial Code (HGB) revealed that the Management Board had appropriately taken the measures required 

under Section 91(2) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), in particular with regard to the es-

tablishment of a monitoring system. The monitoring system is suitable in all material respects for 

identifying developments that could jeopardize the continued existence of the company with sufficient 

certainty as soon as possible. 

The documents relating to the financial statements and the auditor’s reports about the audit of the 

annual financial statements and the audit of the consolidated financial statements were submitted to 

all members of the Supervisory Board in good time. In the joint meeting with the auditor on 

April 11, 2025, the Supervisory Board obtained detailed information about the annual financial state-

ments and the consolidated financial statements as well as the findings from the audit and was fully 

informed of the key facts pertaining to the annual financial statements of FRIWO AG and of the con-

solidated financial statements. There were no circumstances that would call the auditor’s independ-

ence into question. The Supervisory Board examined the annual financial statements, the consoli-

dated financial statements and the combined management report for FRIWO AG and the Group and 

did not raise any objections. The annual financial statements and the consolidated financial state-

ments were discussed in the presence of the auditor on April 11, 2025 and subsequently approved by 

circular vote. The annual financial statements have thus been adopted in accordance with Section 172 

of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The Supervisory Board thoroughly examined the disclo-

sures in the management report pursuant to Sections 289a(1) and 315a(1) of the German Commer-

cial Code (HGB). Issues applicable to the company are either disclosed or, if disclosures are not 

possible, a negative declaration is provided. The Supervisory Board approved the Management 

Board’s management report. 

In accordance with Section 162 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Management Board 

and Supervisory Board prepared a report on the remuneration granted and owed in the last fiscal year 

to each individual current or former member of the Management Board and Supervisory Board by the 

company and by companies in the same group (Section 290 of the German Commercial Code (HGB)). 

The remuneration report was subjected to a formal audit by the auditor in compliance with Sec-

tion 162(3) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The content of the remuneration report was 

not audited by the auditor in line with Section 162(3) AktG. The audit report issued by the auditor is 

published with the remuneration report. 
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The Management Board also prepared a report on relations with affiliated companies in accordance 

with Section 312 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). Baker Tilly audited the report and is-

sued the following audit report: 

“Following our mandatory audit and examination, we confirm the following: 

1. The factual statements made in the report are correct. 

2. The consideration given by the company for the transactions specified in the 

report was not unreasonably high.” 

The Supervisory Board, which also examined the report, concurs with the findings of the audit by 

Baker Tilly and has no objections to raise against the report on relations with affiliated companies 

produced by the Management Board, including the declaration provided by the Management Board 

at the end of the report. 

Fiscal 2024 was a very difficult year for FRIWO operationally, but it was also a year in which important 

strategic decisions were made. The decision announced in the first quarter of 2025 to focus on our 

core business through the agreed portfolio changes, along with the expansion of our target sectors, 

the targeted increase in internationalization and the extensive deleveraging of our Group, form a good 

basis for profitable growth in the coming years. 

Ostbevern, April 2025 

 

Richard G. Ramsauer 

Chair of the Supervisory Board 
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Basic Information on the Group 

Business Model and Group Structure 

FRIWO AG, a company listed in the General Standard of 

the Frankfurt Stock Exchange with headquarters in Ostbev-

ern, Westphalia, and its subsidiaries (hereinafter referred to 

as FRIWO), is an international product and systems pro-

vider of power supply units, charging technology and digi-

tally controllable drive solutions. In addition to high-tech 

chargers, battery packs and power supplies, the product 

and service range also includes intelligent components and 

systems for electric drives. 

The global provider of customized and innovative power 

supply and charging solutions is committed to creating sus-

tainable value for customers, employees and shareholders. 

The company’s products cover a wide range of applica-

tions. The sectors previously known as “TIME”, i.e. Tools, 

Industrial, Medical and E-Mobility, will be expanded in the 

future with strategically appropriate business segments, re-

sulting in the following five business segments: 

▪ E-Mobility, Transportation & Logistics 

▪ Medical & Healthcare Solutions 

▪ Industrial Applications 

▪ Specialized Tools & Equipment 

▪ Lifestyle Solutions 

FRIWO’s expertise in charging technology is highly valued 

by customers in the demanding growth markets of e-mobil-

ity where FRIWO has secured a strong, and in some cases, 

leading position as a supplier. Innovative charging technol-

ogies are also provided to customers in Specialized 

Tools & Equipment applications. The focus of power sup-

plies is primarily on applications in Medical & Healthcare 

Solutions, Industrial Applications and, in the future, also on 

high-end electronics in Lifestyle Solutions. Customers in-

clude well-known companies, the majority of which operate 

internationally and, in some cases, throughout the world. 

As a technology enabler with an exceptional innovative 

edge and a dedicated focus on research and development, 

FRIWO is a reliable and experienced partner for its custom-

ers. 

FRIWO AG is the Group’s management holding company 

and responsible for strategic direction, risk management and 

investor relations. It holds all shares in FRIWO companies 

directly or indirectly. FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH is the central 

operating company, which is also based in Ostbevern. The 

FRIWO Group also owns a production company in Vietnam, 

a service company in China, which is particularly important 

for component procurement, as well as a subsidiary in India. 

In February 2025, FRIWO announced that it would sell 

its 49.9 percent stake in its joint venture – which it had been 

operating in India with the Indian technology group UNO 

MINDA since October 2022 to supply the large Indian two- 

and three-wheeler market with electric drive systems – to its 

joint venture partner. The transaction is expected to be com-

pleted in the first half of 2025. 

FRIWO also established a subsidiary in the U.S. at the be-

ginning of 2023 in order to service the growing international 

demand, particularly in e-mobility and medicine, in a tar-

geted manner. 

The Group’s structure means that the net assets, financial 

position and results of operations of FRIWO AG are largely 

shaped by the economic performance of the subsidiaries. 

The following management report on the company and the 

Group also provides a complete overview of the position of 

FRIWO AG in this respect. 

The FRIWO brand stands for innovation, safety, quality and 

efficiency throughout the world. The company is certified to 

DIN ISO 9001 (quality management), DIN ISO 14001 (envi-

ronmental management) and DIN ISO 13485 (quality man-

agement for medical products).  
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Technical expertise and a passion for powerful products 

and solutions provide the basis for our day-today activities, 

combined with family-friendly HR policies. 

The company’s headquarters in Ostbevern, Westphalia, is 

home to administration, management, sales and research 

and development. The remaining production facilities in 

Ostbevern were purchased by the Hamburg-based invest-

ment company Private Assets SE & Co. KGaA (excluding 

the associated land and real properties) effective 

March 1, 2024. FRIWO continues to have products manu-

factured under contract in Ostbevern. 

The majority of high-volume production takes place in two 

production facilities in an industrial park close to Ho Chi 

Minh City (Vietnam). The site combines German production 

expertise in flexible production processes with attractive 

production conditions in Asia. As a result of vertical integra-

tion, the Vietnam site comprises three supplier plants in ad-

dition to the main plant in which FRIWO produces wound 

components, cables and plastic and metal stamped parts 

for its devices. The production of wound parts and other 

components was transferred to the Hong Kong-based part-

ner Group Intellect Power Technology Limited (GIPT) as 

part of the flexibilization of the production base in the sec-

ond half of 2024. Since then, GIPT has been acting as a 

contract manufacturer for FRIWO. 

Special Events in the Reporting Period 

Production reorganization: On March 1, 2024, the sale of 

the production assets at the Ostbevern headquarters was 

completed. The buyer was the Hamburg-based investment 

company Private Assets SE & Co. KGaA, which has since 

acted as a contract manufacturer for FRIWO. FRIWO re-

tains ownership of the land and real estate involved. 

Divestment: FRIWO announced an asset deal with Group 

Intellect Power Technology (GIPT) in March 2024. Under 

the terms of the deal, which was completed in the second 

half of 2024, the Hong Kong-based company acquired as-

sets and materials for FRIWO’s component manufacturing 

operations near Ho Chi Minh City and will act as a supplier 

of subcomponents for FRIWO’s products and system solu-

tions manufactured in Vietnam. 

Adjustments to the forecast: On October 22, 2024, 

FRIWO announced in an ad hoc announcement that it was 

adjusting its 2024 forecast due to ongoing economic and 

demand weakness in key European markets. The Manage-

ment Board now anticipated annual revenue of 

EUR 90 to 95 million instead of EUR 100 to 120 million. In-

stead of the consolidated earnings before interest and taxes 

(EBIT) being close to break-even, a slight EBIT loss was ex-

pected. 

Sale of the DIN rail business: On December 31, 2024, 

FRIWO announced the conclusion of a master agreement 

to spin off its business with customer- and application-spe-

cific power supply solutions for DIN rails. The buyer is the 

existing customer for these products and services. The pur-

chase price is a nearly eight-digit sum in euros. The closing 

date for the transaction is mid-2025. 

Management Systems 

The FRIWO Group attaches great importance to the use of 

key indicators in managing its business. A standardized re-

porting system is in place for financial management in all 

companies, which uses revenue and earnings before inter-

est and taxes (EBIT or EBIT margin) as the basic manage-

ment parameters and therefore the most important KPIs. 

If necessary, these key management parameters are bro-

ken down into operating figures to provide information on 

operating performance and consequently to provide a 

broader base for operational decisions. These include the 

book-to-bill ratio (ratio of incoming orders to invoiced reve-

nue) as an indicator for future growth, OTIF (“on time and in 

full”) as a figure to measure adherence to delivery dates, 

material savings or the capacity utilization of production fa-

cilities. The achievement of an adequate cash surplus is 

also a key criterion for all operational decisions. 
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Research and Development 

Research and Development (R&D) was able to fully focus 

on new product development in 2024, after having to con-

centrate resources on compensating for supply bottlenecks 

in global procurement markets in 2023. In addition to the 

traditional development of OEM solutions, FRIWO’s stand-

ard product portfolio was expanded further. There was also 

a focus on developing technology platforms to quickly im-

plement minor changes for customer-specific solutions. 

Organizationally, FRIWO’s R&D activities were allocated to 

the Power Systems division, with a focus on energy supply 

solutions for tools, industrial applications and medical appli-

cations, and to the E-Mobility division, where they continued 

to focus on drive train components for e-mobility. 

The E-Mobility division continued to see strong demand for 

chargers with ever-increasing charging capacities, driven by 

the desire for longer ranges, higher mileage and short 

charging times. In addition to portable chargers, more and 

more vehicle-integrated charging solutions are being devel-

oped and sold. Two attractive products were also added to 

the portfolio of engine control systems. In addition to a low-

cost control unit for the entry-level segment, an integrated 

motor and control unit for the high-performance segment 

was developed in collaboration with a well-known German 

electric motor manufacturer. Following the completion of the 

planned disposal of the e-drives business to the previous 

joint venture partner UNO MINDA, FRIWO will focus its R&D 

activities in e-mobility on e-bikes and pedelecs. 

In the Power Systems division, the portfolio of universal 

open-frame power supply units was expanded to cover a 

power range of 500 watts. These are standard products 

that appeal to a wide range of customers because they can 

be integrated and used to power equipment without major 

modifications. In addition, FRIWO has developed USB 

Power Delivery (PD) power supply units with capacities of 

up to 65 watts that also meet medical device requirements. 

In addition to being used in standard plug-in power supply 

units, this technology can be incorporated into devices and 

furniture with minor modifications, including for inductive 

charging. In the future, the portfolio of these devices will be 

expanded to the maximum power of the current USB stand-

ard of 240 watts. 

Solutions from the e-mobility portfolio were used for the first 

time in industrial applications and logistics in the Power 

Systems division. Chargers and battery packs were suc-

cessfully used in an application for automated warehouse 

logistics. 

FRIWO maintained its R&D capacity at a constant level 

in 2024. As of December 31, 2024, 86 employees were 

working in R&D departments worldwide (previous 

year: 91). 

R&D expenditure across the Group fell to EUR 5.6 million 

in fiscal 2024 (previous year: EUR 5.9 million). Part of the 

development costs (EUR 1.8 million) was charged to the 

joint venture in India and another part of the development 

costs (EUR 0.5 million) was capitalized, resulting in an ad-

justed figure of EUR 3.3 million. 

 

 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019 2018 

R&D Germany Power Systems 1,102 1,117 2,093 2,350 3,880 3,988 4,012 

R&D Germany E-Mobility 2,016 2,032 2,552 1,872 374 309 0 

R&D Vietnam 1,331 1,179 996 760 580 332 716 

Project management 625 793 565 596 306 113 0 

Joint venture development fee -1,787 -685 0 0 0 0 0 

 3,288 4,436 6,206 5,578 5,140 4,742 4,728 
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Economic Report 

The previous year’s figures have been restated in this report. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 

Macroeconomic Conditions 

The period of economic weakness in Germany continued 

in 2024. According to preliminary estimates by the German 

Federal Statistical Office, gross domestic product fell 

by 0.2 percent in real terms compared with the previous 

year. The ongoing and, in some cases, intensifying geopo-

litical conflicts, as well as market uncertainty caused by fac-

tors such as the presidential election in the U.S., weighed 

on economic development. 

Government consumption and, to a lesser extent, private 

consumption made a positive contribution to Germany’s 

economic output. However, this was overshadowed by a 

sharp decline in investment and negative momentum from 

net exports, with broadly stagnant imports contrasting with 

falling exports. 

The situation in Europe was somewhat better, albeit still 

subdued: In its Autumn Economic Forecast, released in No-

vember 2024, the European Commission projected that 

GDP would grow 0.9 percent in the EU and 0.8 percent in 

the euro area. 

Sources: 

▪ Press release of the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Climate Protection, Jan-

uary 15, 2025 

▪ EU Commission announcement on the Autumn 2024 Economic Forecast of Novem-

ber 15, 2024 

Sector-Specific Conditions 

The FRIWO Group’s products are primarily sold on the 

global markets for power supply units and charging technol-

ogy. Transparency Market Research (TMR) forecasts the 

global power supply market to reach USD 46.5 billion 

in 2031, up from USD 27.1 billion in 2020. This represents 

a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of 5.1 percent. For 

the global market for charging units, TMR expects a total 

volume of USD 42.8 billion in 2030, starting from 

USD 24.5 billion in 2018, which represents a CAGR 

of 5.8 percent. 

Since FRIWO, as a manufacturer of charging units, battery 

packs and power supply units, serves various sectors and 

applications, developments in the overall market for power 

supply units and charging technology are of only limited rel-

evance. It is more relevant for FRIWO’s development to 

look at individual submarkets that cover the areas of appli-

cation for FRIWO products. 

The rapidly growing global e-mobility market continues to 

be of great importance. Here, the experts at Mordor Intelli-

gence anticipate an average annual growth rate of 8.0 per-

cent for e-bike motors between 2025 and 2029. Fortune, a 

market research company, forecasts even stronger growth, 

with an average increase of 14.6 percent until 2032. 

Growth in the market for e-bikes will be driven primarily by 

increasing technological innovation in conjunction with ris-

ing awareness of efficiency, environmental friendliness and 

comfort. Since motors are usually supplied to bike manu-

facturers as a complete system with an on-board computer, 

battery and charging unit, this forecast serves as a good 

indicator for the development of the charging unit market. 

 

The global market for medical power supply units is also of 

strategic importance for FRIWO. Experts at Data Bridge 

Market Research expect a CAGR of 7.4 percent be-

tween 2023 and 2031. In addition to constant advances in 

medical technology, the main drivers are the steadily im-

proving medical care in developing and emerging countries 

and the growing demand for mobile solutions and medical 

devices for home use. 

The submarkets for charging technology are also very sig-

nificant for FRIWO’s future development.  
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For power tools, the expectation is that battery-driven de-

vices will increasingly find a market as battery technology 

improves, meaning that charging will be faster and batteries 

will last longer. FRIWO’s products tend to target the higher 

price segment. Fortune, a market research company, esti-

mates that the global market for cordless power tools will 

grow at a CAGR of 4.4 percent between 2024 and 2032. 

The submarket for power supply units in industrial applica-

tions is also very important for FRIWO. Markets and Mar-

kets forecasts a CAGR of 6.0 percent between 2022 

and 2027. Market growth is driven by increasing invest-

ments in energy-efficient devices in industry and the use of 

robots in various sectors. 

In the new strategic area of Lifestyle Solutions, FRIWO will 

focus its efforts on high-quality solutions for high-quality, 

high-performance power supply units outside the low-price 

segment. FRIWO intends to make strategic use of the sus-

tained growth predicted by market analyses in this area. Ex-

perts at Future Market Insights anticipate an annual growth 

rate of 3.7 percent between 2023 and 2033. 

Sources: 

▪ Transparency Market Research: Power Supply Market 2021–2031 

▪ Transparency Market Research: Global Charger Market 2018–2030 

▪ Mordor Intelligence: E-Bike Market SIZE & SHARE ANALYSIS – GROWTH 

TRENDS & FORECASTS UP TO 2029 

▪ Fortune Business Insights: Electric Bike Market Size 2024–2032 

▪ Data Bridge Market Research: Global Medical Power Supply Market Assessment 

Based on Market Size, Segmental Shares and Growth Trends – Sector Overview and 

Forecast to 2031 

▪ Fortune Business Insights: Power Tools Market Size, Share & COVID-19 Impact Anal-

ysis, 2024–2032 

▪ Markets and Markets: Industrial Power Supply Market – Global Forecast to 2027 

▪ Future Market Insights: Switching Mode Power Supply Market – Growth & Fore-

cast 2023 

General Business Performance 

The 2024 fiscal year was an economically challenging year 

for the FRIWO Group and did not meet original expecta-

tions. The persistent and, in some cases, very pronounced 

weakness in demand in the company’s target sectors re-

sulted in suppressed demand, primarily due to saturation 

trends in core European markets. This led to an increase in 

order cancellations in the reporting year. Demand was ex-

pected to pick up again in the second half of the year. How-

ever, this did not happen, prompting FRIWO to revise its full-

year forecasts downward in October 2024. 

The expense side was positively impacted by declining ma-

terial costs and ongoing measures to improve cost effi-

ciency, such as making the production base in Vietnam 

more flexible and selling the production facility in Ostbevern 

to a contract manufacturer. 

Consolidated revenue was EUR 93.0 million in 2024, down 

from around EUR 111.1 million in the previous year. Despite 

the significant decline in revenue, consolidated earnings be-

fore interest and taxes (EBIT) improved to EUR -3.6 million, 

compared with EUR -7.4 million in the previous year. This 

means that the company met the annual targets that were 

adjusted in October 2024. FRIWO benefited from the nu-

merous cost efficiency improvement measures imple-

mented in the reporting year and in previous years.  

At the strategic level, FRIWO was able to set the course for 

future profitable growth in the reporting year. The decision 

to sell the e-drives business, including the capital-intensive 

stake in the joint venture with UNO MINDA in India, along 

with the DIN rail power supply business will enable FRIWO 

to concentrate all its financial and human resources on its 

core activities in the future. 

FRIWO will be able to largely reduce the Group’s leverage 

with the funds generated from the sales. This, in turn, will 

open up new strategic opportunities to expand our core busi-

ness. 
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Order Book Status 

Incoming orders for the FRIWO Group amounted to 

EUR 88.2 million at the end of 2024, up 9.3 percent com-

pared to the previous year’s figure of EUR 80.7 million. The 

book-to-bill ratio, i.e. the ratio of incoming orders to sales, 

was 0.95 for the full year, slightly above the previous year’s 

level (0.73). This contrasts with the order backlog of 

EUR 43.7 million as of December 31, 2024, which 

was 11.9 percent below the previous year’s level 

(EUR 49.6 million). FRIWO recorded higher demand than 

last year in all areas except Medical & Healthcare and Life-

style Solutions. 

Orders had already lost momentum in the previous year, 

partly due to ongoing uncertainty caused by the war in 

Ukraine, significantly higher inflation and the generally 

weak economic situation in Europe, particularly in Germany. 

Regionally, order intake in the “Other Europe” segment was 

very strong, growing 35.4 percent. Orders in the other re-

gions continued to decline: The largest Group segment, 

“Germany”, recorded a decline of 6.3 percent. It should be 

noted that the sale of the German production facility in Ost-

bevern also included the sale of customer relationships with 

corresponding revenue potential. The “Asia” segment 

posted a 7.8 percent drop in incoming orders year on year 

due to changes in customers’ purchasing behavior. The 

“Rest of the World” segment – the company’s smallest – 

saw incoming orders decline by 54.5 percent. 

Revenue Development 

The FRIWO Group generated consolidated revenue of 

EUR 93.0 million in 2024, a 16.3 percent decline from the 

previous year’s figure of EUR 111.1 million. This puts reve-

nue development in the middle of the forecast range as ad-

justed in October of EUR 90 to 95 million (original forecast: 

EUR 100 to 120 million). Revenue contains a negative ef-

fect (EUR -0.2 million) from the change in contract assets 

(previous year: EUR -0.3 million). 

There were virtually no currency effects on revenue. Ad-

justed for currency effects, i.e. at previous year’s exchange 

rates, consolidated revenue was EUR 93.0 million in 2024. 

Revenue development in 2024 was characterized by weak 

demand in all application areas, which lasted longer than 

expected due to the economic downturn. 

Medical & Healthcare Solutions recorded the sharpest de-

cline in 2024, with revenue falling 42.0 percent. FRIWO 

was mainly affected by declining demand in the U.S. Rev-

enue in Industrial Applications decreased 38.9 percent. 

Revenue in Specialized Tools & Equipment fell by 4.0 per-

cent year on year. E-Mobility/Transportation & Logistics 

posted a decline of only 1.4 percent. It should be noted, 

however, that demand had already been on the decline in 

the previous year. 

The declines in revenue in Distribution and Lifestyle Solu-

tions amounted to 13.6 percent and 19.6 percent, respec-

tively. 

The European market remained the main source of reve-

nue for the FRIWO Group in 2024. Its share of total reve-

nue rose from 80.2 percent to 88.2 percent. In the “Rest of 

Europe” segment (Europe excluding Germany), revenue 

rose by 13.9 percent to EUR 51.1 million (previous year: 

EUR 44.8 million), driven by the renewed upturn in demand 

for e-mobility solutions. The “Germany” segment recorded 

a 30.0 percent decline in revenue to EUR 31.0 million (pre-

vious year: EUR 44.3 million), mainly due to the ongoing 

difficult economic situation in Germany. Revenue in the 

“Asia” segment dropped to EUR 7.1 million 
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(previous year: EUR 14.6 million). Revenue in the other re-

gions decreased by EUR 3.5 million to EUR 3.8 million. 

Consolidated revenue by country of production (excluding 

revenue from transferred development, tooling, approval 

and freight costs) changed only slightly in 2024. Vietnam’s 

share rose from 84.3 percent in the previous year 

to 85.8 percent. European production accounted 

for 14.0 percent of revenue (previous year: 12.0 percent). 

The share of Indian production decreased from 

EUR 3.9 million to zero. The decrease is mainly due to the 

transfer of the Indian subsidiary’s activities to the joint ven-

ture. China again contributed a very small share of 0.2 per-

cent (previous year: 0.1 percent). 

Earnings Performance 

Thanks to improved cost efficiency, FRIWO was able to sig-

nificantly soften the impact of persistently weak demand 

and the associated revenue development, the start-up 

costs for the Indian joint venture and the one-off expenses 

for the adjustment of production structures in the reporting 

year. The main drivers were the optimization of the Vietnam 

and Ostbevern sites, which resulted in reduced personnel 

costs and lower material costs. 

As a result, gross profit rose from EUR 11.1 million in the 

previous year to EUR 12.0 million in the reporting year. The 

gross margin from revenue increased from 10.0 percent 

to 12.9 percent. 

Selling costs in 2024 increased by EUR 1.3 million to 

EUR 5.5 million (previous year: EUR 4.2 million). They in-

clude a one-off effect due to the impairment (EUR 1.8 mil-

lion) of a receivable related to a bankruptcy. General admin-

istrative expenses decreased by EUR 1.8 million to 

EUR 9.7 million (previous year: EUR 11.5 million). In the 

previous year, this item included restructuring and person-

nel expenses of EUR 2.2 million. They are attributable to 

the restructuring report from December 2023, which was 

updated together with the restructuring expert and provided 

for the Ostbevern site to be restructured into a pure holding, 

sales and development site. The sale of the Ostbevern pro-

duction site has eliminated a large part of the restructuring 

costs envisaged in the restructuring plan. Nevertheless, the 

plan provided for further measures to restructure individual 

functional areas. 

The implementation of these measures began in Decem-

ber 2023, which is why the associated expenses were rec-

ognized as a provision. The plan was reviewed and ad-

justed again following another revision of the restructuring 

report in 2024, in particular with respect to the decisions to 

sell off the e-drive and DIN rail power supply business. The 

restructuring provision was utilized and reversed in 2024 on 

this basis. 

Operating earnings, i.e. gross profit on revenue minus sell-

ing and general administrative expenses, rose to EUR -

3.2 million, compared with EUR -4.6 million in the previous 

year. 

Other operating expenses and income largely contain cur-

rency expenses and income. Please refer to Note (14) in 

the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more 

information. 

Consolidated earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 

amounted to EUR -3.6 million, compared with EUR -

7.4 million in the previous year. This was below the original 

forecast made at the beginning of the year, but in line with 

the October 2024 forecast update of a small EBIT loss. The 

improvement in income despite the decline in revenue and 

the considerable costs in the reporting year reflects the sig-

nificantly improved cost efficiency within the FRIWO Group. 

The EBIT margin (in relation to revenue) reached -3.9 per-

cent (2023: -6.6 percent). 

The financial result of EUR -3.5 million (2023: EUR -

3.7 million) was mainly characterized by lower interest ex-

penses from factoring and lower loan liabilities as a result 

of scheduled repayments. 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) amounted to EUR -7.1 million 

after the previous year’s negative figure of EUR -11.1 mil-

lion. 

The Group reported after-tax earnings of EUR -6.2 million, 

a EUR 5.3 million improvement compared with the previous 

year’s after-tax earnings of EUR -11.5 million. This corre-

sponds to earnings per share of EUR -0.73 compared with 

EUR -1.35 in 2023 (see Note (17) in the notes to the con-

solidated financial statements). 
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Financial Position 

Capital Structure 

The FRIWO Group’s financial management comprises li-

quidity management, hedging against interest and currency 

fluctuations and financing for the FRIWO Group. This is the 

responsibility of Finance and Controlling at the headquar-

ters in Ostbevern. A key objective and the department’s 

main responsibility is to safeguard the FRIWO Group’s 

funding and ensure adequate levels of liquidity. The aim is 

to maintain financial stability while minimizing financial risks 

and capital costs. 

The Group’s financial strategy builds on the principles and 

objectives of financial management and takes into account 

not only equity providers’ interests but also lender require-

ments. The main objective is to ensure the best possible 

use of liquidity in accordance with the company’s strategic 

guidelines. 

FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH sells part of its receivables in the 

form of non-recourse factoring where the default risk is 

borne by the factoring company. The percentage of sold re-

ceivables in the receivables portfolio increased by 2.5 per-

centage points in 2024 and amounted to 83.9 percent as of 

December 31, 2024 (end of 2023: 81.4 percent). At the end 

of the 2023 fiscal year, FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH extended 

the factoring agreement until the end of 2025. Talks were 

held with the factoring company at the beginning of 2025 

and it is highly likely that the contract will be extended until 

the end of 2026. 

The syndicated loan agreement signed in the first quarter 

of 2020 consists of an amortizing term credit facility of 

EUR 10.4 million and two additional operating credit facili-

ties of EUR 8.3 million and EUR 2.0 million. In 2023, all 

three tranches were extended until December 31, 2025. No 

repayments were required on the operating credit facilities 

until the end of 2020 before quarterly repayments of 

EUR 0.25 million were made on the amortizing term credit 

facilities in fiscal 2021. In 2022, quarterly repayments in-

creased to EUR 0.7 million each. Two special repayments 

brought repayments to a total of EUR 3.6 million for 2022 

as a whole. Additional repayments of EUR 2.1 million and 

EUR 3.8 million were made in 2023 and 2024, respectively. 

The remaining liability under the syndicated loan amounted 

to EUR 9.9 million as of December 31, 2024 (Decem-

ber 31, 2023: EUR 13.4 million). The credit facility was fully 

utilized as of the financial statement closing date. 

The Vietnamese subsidiary also continues to maintain a 

bilateral revolving credit facility with a local bank in Vi-

etnam. As of December 31, EUR 8.7 million of this credit 

facility had been utilized. There was also an available un-

used credit facility of EUR 0.1 million. The credit facility is 

regularly extended by 12 months at a time; it was last ex-

tended on March 25, 2025, until March 25, 2026. 

FRIWO has provided various guarantees and collateral for 

both credit agreements. In addition, financial covenants 

were defined and reporting and documentation obligations 

stipulated for the syndicated loan. The credit agreement 

also stipulates that FRIWO AG will not pay any dividends 

during the restructuring period, which will run until the end 

of 2025. 

The shareholder loans provided by the major shareholder 

VTC GmbH & Co. KG, who made these loans available 

through its subsidiary Cardea Holding GmbH, Grünwald, in 

the years from 2020 to 2022, also made a significant con-

tribution to securing the FRIWO Group’s liquidity. FRIWO 

did not take out any additional shareholder loans from 

Cardea Holding GmbH in the 2024 fiscal year. The share-

holder loan balance, including accrued interest, amounted 

to EUR 12.8 million as of December 31, 2024 (previous 

year: EUR 12.2 million). 

The FRIWO Group’s financing is secured at the time of pre-

paring these financial statements. The existing syndicated 

loan agreement runs until December 31, 2025. However, 

the goal is to fully replace it with the divestments initiated 

in 2024 and signed in late 2024 or early 2025. This will also 

mark the successful completion of the FRIWO Group’s re-

structuring. Compliance with the restructuring plan was re-

confirmed by an external expert during the preparation of 

the 2024 financial statements and described as largely 

probable for the remaining period until the end of 2025. 

Further information can be found in the “Liquidity Risks” 

section of the risk report. 
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Liquidity 

Cash flow from operating activities amounted 

to EUR 3.1 million in the reporting year, compared with 

EUR 4.2 million in the previous year. The decrease is 

mainly due to the return to a negative consolidated net in-

come (EUR -6.2 million) and interest payments. The reduc-

tion in inventories, on the other hand, had a positive effect 

on operating cash flow. Overall, cash flow from operating 

activities still remained below the previous year’s level. 

Investing activities resulted in a cash inflow of EUR 0.8 mil-

lion (2023: cash outflow of EUR -3.8 million). Investments 

amounted to EUR 1.4 million, while proceeds from the dis-

posal of property, plant and equipment totaled EUR 2.2 mil-

lion (from the sale of component manufacturing operation 

in Vietnam). 

Net cash flow amounted to EUR 3.9 million, compared with 

net cash flow of EUR 0.3 million in the previous year. 

Financing activities resulted in a total cash outflow of EUR -

3.2 million (previous year: cash outflow of EUR -2.5 mil-

lion), primarily due to scheduled repayments on the syndi-

cated loan and the repayment of lease liabilities. The Group 

had cash and cash equivalents of EUR 5.4 million as of De-

cember 31, 2024, compared with EUR 4.7 million at the be-

ginning of the year. 

Given the expected cash inflows from the agreed-upon di-

vestments and the financing components secured and 

agreed to in 2024, liquidity is assured for 2025 and the fol-

lowing year if the company adheres to the restructuring 

plan. For further information, please refer to the “Liquidity 

Risks” section in the risk report. 

Investments 

The Group’s investments amounted to EUR 1.4 million in 

the 2024 fiscal year, significantly below the previous year’s 

level (EUR 4.0 million). EUR 0.9 million of total investment 

was invested in property, plant and equipment and 

EUR 0.5 million in intangible assets. 

Investment in property, plant and equipment was largely 

concentrated in machinery and tool purchases and served 

to boost productivity and modernize operations. 

From a geographical perspective, 67.3 percent of invest-

ment in property, plant and equipment and intangible as-

sets went to the production site in Germany and 32.7 per-

cent to the production site in Vietnam. 

Net Assets 

The FRIWO Group’s total assets came to EUR 63.7 million 

on December 31, 2024, EUR 7.5 million below the figure 

on the same closing date in 2023 (EUR 71.2 million). The 

decrease in total assets is mainly due to the reduction in 

working capital. 

The total value of non-current assets decreased from 

EUR 13.5 million as of December 31, 2023, to 

EUR 10.4 million at the end of 2024. 

The intangible assets included in non-current assets 

mainly comprise concessions, industrial property rights, 

similar assets and licenses, particularly from the introduc-

tion of SAP software in 2023. Goodwill and other assets 

from the acquisition of Emerge Engineering GmbH in 2018 

were reclassified as assets held for sale. 

Non-current assets also included right-of-use assets from 

leases of EUR 1.6 million (previous year: EUR 1.4 million) 

and the deferred tax assets of EUR 1.7 million (previous 

year restated: EUR 0.0 million). 

Total current assets declined to EUR 53.3 million (previous 

year: EUR 57.8 million). Inventories decreased to 

EUR 18.3 million (December 31, 2023: EUR 27.8 million). 

This was due primarily to the economically driven decrease 

in business volume in the reporting year and the strategic 

reduction in inventories since higher stock levels had been 

maintained in previous years as a precaution.  
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The recognition of revenue over time in accordance with 

IFRS 15 increased inventories by EUR 0.4 million com-

pared with an increase of EUR 1.2 million in the previous 

year. 

Trade receivables increased to EUR 4.0 million (previous 

year: EUR 3.1 million). The increase is partly attributable to 

two customers, one of whom was subject to a specific im-

pairment loss of EUR 1.8 million on receivables. The con-

tract assets resulting from the recognition of revenue over 

time in accordance with IFRS 15 decreased to 

EUR 13.5 million (previous year: EUR 13.8 million). 

Current assets include EUR 5.5 million in assets held for 

sale (relating to the sale of the DIN rail business and the 

sale of the shares in the joint venture in India and associ-

ated assets) (previous year: EUR 3.1 million). 

Cash and cash equivalents stood at EUR 5.4 million at the 

end of the year (December 31, 2023: EUR 4.7 million). 

On the equity and liabilities side of the statement of financial 

position, the FRIWO Group’s equity decreased from 

EUR 9.6 million as of December 31, 2023 to EUR 3.3 mil-

lion as of the end of the reporting year, primarily as a result 

of the negative consolidated net income. The equity ratio 

decreased accordingly year on year from 13.5 percent 

to 5.3 percent. 

Non-current liabilities decreased to EUR 16.0 million as of 

the end of 2024 (December 31, 2023: EUR 17.2 million). 

Non-current lease liabilities in accordance with IFRS 16 in-

creased to EUR 0.9 million (previous year: EUR 0.8 mil-

lion). 

Current liabilities fell slightly from EUR 44.4 million to 

EUR 44.3 million year on year. Despite the reclassification 

of EUR 1.8 million of non-current financial liabilities to cur-

rent financial liabilities, non-current financial liabilities de-

creased to EUR 18.6 million (December 31, 2023: 

EUR 18.8 million) as a result of scheduled repayments. 

Current provisions decreased from EUR 4.4 million to 

EUR 1.1 million. In the previous year, this figure included a 

provision for restructuring of EUR 2.2 million. 

Trade payables amounted to EUR 18.9 million, up 

EUR 2.6 million on the previous year (EUR 16.3 million). 

The current portion of the shareholder loan from the previ-

ous year of EUR 3.1 million was reclassified to non-current 

liabilities since the extension of the syndicated loan until the 

end of 2025 also extended the shareholder loans until at 

least the end of 2025 by means of a new subordination 

agreement. Repayment cannot be made until there are no 

longer any obstacles to the successful restructuring of the 

FRIWO Group and both the restructuring and sustainable 

financing have been secured. The company will look into 

possible refinancing in the short to medium term. However, 

no repayment of the shareholder loan is planned until a se-

cure refinancing solution is in place. 

Working capital, the balance of inventories, trade receiva-

bles and trade payables as well as contract assets and con-

tract liabilities, came to EUR 16.7 million as of Decem-

ber 31, 2024, compared with EUR 27.9 million at the end 

of 2023. The reduction is primarily due to lower inventories. 

In relation to the sharp decline in revenue, however, work-

ing capital fell from 25.1 percent at the end of 2023 

to 17.9 percent. 

Other current liabilities including other non-financial liabili-

ties increased by EUR 0.3 million to EUR 3.8 million. 

Overall, the Management Board considers the Group’s net 

assets, financial position and results of operations at the 

end of 2024 to be unsatisfactory. The fiscal year was char-

acterized by continued operational and financial chal-

lenges, which particularly affected the liquidity situation. De-

spite the introduction of structural stabilization measures, 

the situation remained difficult due to the ongoing restruc-

turing process. However, the Management Board expects 

that the situation will improve in the course of fiscal 2025 as 

a result of the measures taken and that the Group will be 

back on a solid footing in the future. 
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Economic Situation of FRIWO AG 

FRIWO AG acts as the holding company for the FRIWO 

Group. It generates its earnings in the separate financial 

statements prepared in accordance with the accounting 

principles of the German Commercial Code (HGB) primarily 

from the transfer of profits from its subsidiary, FRIWO 

Gerätebau GmbH, with which it has concluded a profit trans-

fer and control agreement. 

The holding company also incurs its own expenses, primar-

ily for personnel and consultancy fees. Personnel expenses 

increased from EUR 0.9 million in the previous year to 

EUR 1.6 million in the fiscal year, mainly due to one-time 

severance payments (EUR 0.4 million) and salary in-

creases (EUR 0.2 million). 

Legal and consulting costs remained at the previous year’s 

level of EUR 0.8 million. 

Other operating expenses include the cost of insurance, 

which increased by EUR 0.2 million to EUR 0.3 million. 

Audit fees increased from EUR 0.1 million to EUR 0.2 mil-

lion. 

No personnel recruitment costs were incurred in the report-

ing year (previous year: EUR 0.2 million). 

General administrative expenses totaled EUR 3.6 million, 

an increase of EUR 0.9 million compared to the previous 

year. 

Combined with the negative investment income of EUR -

7.0 million (previous year: EUR -11.5 million), FRIWO AG 

reported earnings of EUR -9.4 million for the reporting year 

(previous year: EUR -12.9 million). Including the EUR -

46.2 million earnings carried forward from the previous 

year, the accumulated loss amounted to EUR -55.7 million. 

Total assets of FRIWO AG amounted to EUR 28.6 million 

(previous year: EUR 36.3 million). Equity decreased from 

EUR 21.4 million to EUR 11.9 million due to the net loss for 

the year. 

The equity ratio was 41.8 percent, which was below the 

previous year’s level (59.0 percent). 

The equity interest in FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH is the main 

asset of FRIWO AG. This equity interest was reported un-

changed at its historical cost of EUR 28.3 million as of De-

cember 31, 2024. 

The carrying amount was again confirmed on the financial 

statement closing date. Measurement was based on a cur-

rent earnings forecast covering several years using the 

discounted cash flow method where assumptions and es-

timates were made about the future trend in revenue and 

earnings at FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH. 

The refinancing of the syndicated loan maturing on De-

cember 31, 2025, which was completed at the end 

of 2023, and the expected cash inflows from the divest-

ments in mid-2025 will secure the company’s liquidity 

for 2025 and the following year. 

Employees 

(Unaudited) 

Changes in the Workforce 

The FRIWO Group employed 1,206 people worldwide at 

the end of 2024 (previous year: 1,701). The reduction of 

approximately 500 employees is the result of flexible ad-

justments to employment levels in response to declining 

demand, particularly at the sites in Vietnam, and the sale 

of the production facility in Ostbevern. In Germany, 85 em-

ployees were involved in product development, produc-

tion, sales and administration on the financial statement 

closing date (previous year: 155). This corresponded 

to 7 percent of the Group’s workforce (previous 

year: 9.1 percent). At the end of the year, 1,121 people 

were employed abroad (previous year: 1,546), includ-

ing 1,106 employees at the sites in Vietnam (previous 

year’s closing date: 1,531), twelve in China (previous year: 

twelve), two in the U.S. (previous year: two) and one at the 

subsidiary in India (previous year: one). 
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Health Management 

Health management in the workplace continues to be a high 

priority at FRIWO. The goal is to focus on keeping all em-

ployees healthy and providing appropriate preventive 

measures to ensure their performance. This is expected to 

reduce sickness rates and production downtime, thereby 

lowering costs. 

Employees were also offered various vaccinations in 2024, 

including flu shots. 

R&D Workplace and Processes of the Future 

As part of the “Benchmarking R&D and Modern Workplace 

Design” project, FRIWO examined the potential need for 

action in the FRIWO development process and identified 

specific requirements for the existing and future R&D infra-

structure. The result showed that the iterative method of 

working, i.e., the repetition of actions, represents the cur-

rent state of modern development. However, there is still 

potential for optimization in process improvements, e.g. in-

terdisciplinary project management from development, 

sales, purchasing and production. 

Internal Communications 

In the past, two new meeting formats were introduced at 

FRIWO to improve internal communications. These for-

mats were also used in 2024. 

“LET’S TALK” stands for an informative meeting of a small 

group of people. Several times a year, management invites 

approximately ten employees each from different depart-

ments to a casual get-together. The attendees can share 

their views of the company as well as visions and goals for 

FRIWO. The Extended Executive Meeting also improved 

the flow of information within the company. It was held four 

times at department head level. 

Employee Motivation 

Setting goals helps motivate employees and gives them 

something to aim for in their work. FRIWO fundamentally 

revised the incentive system to ensure that everybody is 

working towards the same goal. Goals were based more 

closely on corporate objectives and derived systematically. 

FRIWO reduced the number of targets significantly and for-

mulated them across departments to make work more fo-

cused. This ensures that there are no conflicting objectives 

in the company and that several employees and depart-

ments work on the projects in question. The key targets are 

visualized in a matrix that can be viewed at any time. To 

ensure transparency and correct focus, all employee goals 

were also agreed upon in 2024 in the management team. 
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Forecast 

Macroeconomic Conditions 

By early 2025, the global economy was showing signs of im-

provement, despite persistent – and in some cases intensi-

fying – geopolitical risks and new trade conflicts. According 

to the Organization for Economic Cooperation and Develop-

ment (OECD) report, the global economy is expected to grow 

a moderate 3.3 percent, up from 3.2 percent in 2024. Infla-

tion is expected to fall further. This is mainly due to the con-

tinued restrictive monetary policies of many countries. Real 

wages are rising thanks to strong nominal wage growth and 

easing inflation. However, private consumption growth re-

mains subdued in many countries due to weak consumer 

confidence. 

The outlook for Germany’s export‑oriented economy, how-

ever, remained subdued. It remains to be seen to what ex-

tent a new federal government will be able to stimulate 

growth. Overall, the Ifo Institute estimates that the price‑ad-

justed gross domestic product will increase by just 0.4 per-

cent as of this year compared to the previous year. Eco-

nomic output is expected to increase by 0.8 percent in the 

coming year. 

Sources: 

▪ OECD – Economic Outlook, December 2024 

▪ Ifo Institute, Munich: Ifo Economic Forecast – December 12, 2024 

Company-Related Conditions 

The FRIWO Group’s business performance in 2025 will 

continue to be heavily dependent on external factors be-

yond the company’s control or influence – in particular, gen-

eral consumer restraint, monetary and interest rate policy, 

the development of geopolitical tensions and structural ob-

stacles to growth. 

The fundamental growth drivers in those segments of the 

global market for power supply and charging solutions being 

served by FRIWO are still intact, meaning that the prospects 

for growth are good in the medium and long term (see the 

“Sector‑Specific Conditions” chapter). 

Short-term business performance will depend on whether the 

expected economic recovery in the industrial sector will start 

in the first half of 2025 and whether the company’s order book 

will trend upward again. 

In addition, further labor cost increases are expected at the 

production sites in Asia. It also remains to be seen how the 

exchange rate of the euro against the U.S. dollar will de-

velop. Market analysts started out the year predicting that 

central banks would lower their key interest rates further 

over the course of the year. At the beginning of March 2025, 

the ECB further lowered its key interest rate from 2.75 per-

cent to 2.5 percent. 

Anticipated Business Development 

Strategic Priorities 

The focus in 2025 will be on the legal implementation of the 

negotiated M&A transactions (sale of the e‑drives business 

and the DIN rail power supply business), the expansion of 

the core business and the further internationalization of the 

Group’s activities in order to reduce dependency on Ger-

many and other European countries. 

FRIWO will have a well‑diversified product portfolio with 

growth potential after the successful completion of both 

transactions. The aim is to specifically expand the sectors 

previously known as “TIME”, i.e. Tools, Industrial, Medical 

and E‑Mobility, with strategically appropriate business seg-

ments.  
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FRIWO is also positioning itself for further growth in the me-

dium and long term by opening itself up to new markets and 

future‑oriented sectors. As part of this development, the 

business segments have been given new names that better 

describe their respective target markets and reflect 

FRIWO’s international focus. 

The new structure will consist of the following five business 

segments: 

• E‑Mobility/Transportation & Logistics 

• Medical & Healthcare Solutions 

• Industrial Applications 

• Specialized Tools & Equipment 

• Lifestyle Solutions 

The goal is for all divisions to have a balanced mix of custom 

OEM and standard products. A stronger focus on advanced 

solutions and further efficiency improvements are also ex-

pected to improve earnings. FRIWO strives to improve oper-

ational excellence in the sense that all areas reduce delivery 

times and time-to-market and increase efficiency in logistics. 

Anticipated Economic Development 

The Management Board is cautiously optimistic regarding 

business development in 2025. FRIWO is operating in a dif-

ficult and volatile market environment in 2025. The first half 

of the year is likely to be characterized by subdued demand, 

but FRIWO sees good opportunities for a revival in demand 

in the second half. 

On the cost side, the Management Board expects further re-

lief from the focusing and streamlining of business activities. 

The Management Board believes that this lays an important 

foundation for future profitable growth. 

For the 2025 fiscal year, the Management Board is fore-

casting consolidated revenues in the range of EUR 75 

to 90 million on the basis of current conditions. This range 

only includes the two divestments, e-drives and the DIN rail 

business, until June 30, 2025. For the year as a whole, 

FRIWO expects a break-even operating consolidated EBIT, 

which means a further improvement in earnings (after ad-

justing for the one-off effects from the divestment transac-

tions). In addition, the planned transactions are expected 

to generate earnings ranging from EUR 21 to 23 million in 

fiscal 2025. 

Based on its adjusted medium-term planning, FRIWO ex-

pects average annual revenue growth of at least in the high 

single-digit percentage range and a sustainable EBIT mar-

gin of over 5 percent in subsequent years. This would ena-

ble the Group to return to a period of profitable growth fol-

lowing its successful restructuring. 

FRIWO AG provides services for all Group companies. As 

a holding company, it is therefore dependent on the eco-

nomic performance of its subsidiaries, some of which it par-

ticipates in through profit and loss transfer agreements. 

FRIWO AG expects a slight improvement in operating earn-

ings for the 2025 fiscal year compared with the previous 

year. In addition, the planned transactions are expected to 

generate earnings ranging from EUR 21 to 23 million in fis-

cal 2025. 

The forecasts presume that macroeconomic conditions will 

not deteriorate significantly and that there will be no unpre-

dictable events that have a material adverse impact on the 

FRIWO Group’s business situation. 

 



32 FRIWO Annual Report 2024  

 

 

Risk Management and Internal Control System 

Risk Report 

Risk Management 

As an international company, FRIWO is exposed to a large 

number of specific risks in the course of its business activi-

ties. These risks can have an adverse impact on the Group’s 

business development as well as on its net assets, financial 

position and results of operations. This is why a professional 

and effective risk management system is essential for the 

operation and management of a business. 

The risk management system at FRIWO is designed to 

identify potential risks early on, analyze their causes and 

prevent them from occurring or minimize their impact by 

taking appropriate countermeasures in advance. Risk 

management is a standardized process that is constantly 

improved and refined. The system is not used to analyze 

and assess opportunities. 

The systematic identification, assessment and manage-

ment of risks and the reporting thereof are set out in a policy 

that provides the basis for an efficient risk management sys-

tem across the Group. 

Risks are assessed three times a year by the risk owners 

responsible (who are managers in all key areas of the 

Group) based on their potential impact (in euros) and prob-

ability of occurrence (in percent). 

FRIWO generally assesses the potential impact on the net 

assets, financial position and results of operations using 

EBIT as a metric for a twelve-month period.  

 

Risk Matrix 
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Risks are initially analyzed on the basis of a gross assess-

ment, followed by a net assessment that takes into account 

any risk mitigation measures that have already been intro-

duced. Risk controllers support risk owners and ensure that, 

if certain thresholds are exceeded, risks are communicated 

to senior management and to the Supervisory Board. Risk 

reporting is fully integrated in the standardized planning and 

forecasting processes. This system ensures that all identi-

fied risks can be taken into account in line with their materi-

ality. Risk awareness in the company is steadily raised by 

including all relevant management levels. 

A new tool was introduced in the 2023 fiscal year to improve 

the effectiveness and efficiency of the risk management sys-

tem. The improvements include the regular analysis of risk-

bearing capacity, the expanded Group-wide identification of 

developments that could jeopardize the company’s ability to 

continue existing as a going concern and their interaction 

with other risks, and the consistent tracking of the measures 

necessary to ensure the company’s continued existence as 

a going concern. The risk-bearing capacity represents the 

maximum extent of risk that the company can bear without 

jeopardizing its own continued existence as a going concern. 

Based on a quantitative risk assessment, FRIWO’s overall 

risk position is determined using risk aggregation, taking into 

account the net individual risks, and compared with the 

Group’s risk coverage potential. FRIWO uses consolidated 

equity and liquidity as parameters for the risk coverage po-

tential on the financial statement closing date for the period 

under review. The results of the risk-bearing capacity analy-

sis are regularly monitored by the Management Board. As of 

December 31, 2024, the overall risk position is fully covered 

by the risk coverage potential of the FRIWO Group 

Risks that may have a material negative impact on the 

FRIWO Group’s net assets, financial position and results of 

operations are described below. The overview contains the 

current assessment of the corporate risks described below. 

Please see Note (39) in the notes to the consolidated finan-

cial statements for more information on risks relating to the 

use of financial instruments and on risk management. Even 

risks of which the Group is currently not yet aware or risks 

that are currently still classified as immaterial could have a 

negative impact on the company’s business activities. 

 

Risk Type  
Risk Potential 

 Probability of 

Occurrence 

 Gross Expected 

Value 

 Net Expected 

Value 

Procurement, production and 

price risks 
 

Procurement of materials  Medium  Medium  Low  Low 

Procurement of finished products and 

merchandise 

 Low  Low  Low  Low 

Market risks  

Competitive risks  High  Medium  Medium  Low 

Financial risks  

Currency risks  Low  High  Low  Very low 

Liquidity risks  Very high  Medium  Very high  Low 

Interest rate risks  Low  Low  Very low  Low 

Default risks  Medium  Low  Low  Low 
         

Legal and compli-

ance risks 

 Low  Low  Very low  Very low 

HR risks  Low  Medium  Low  Low 
         

IT risks  Medium  Medium  Low  Low 
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Risk Types 

Macroeconomic Risks and Specific Risks for the 

FRIWO Group 

A continuing difficult economic situation in relevant submar-

kets could have a negative impact on demand in the market 

segments served by FRIWO. Depending on the intensity and 

duration of this situation, this would have a direct impact on 

the Group’s financial position, especially in light of the re-

structuring still underway at the FRIWO Group. A decisive 

factor for staying on track with the restructuring plan is an 

upturn in demand and further growth in the coming years. 

Compliance with the restructuring plan is, in turn, an im-

portant criterion for the continued financing of the FRIWO 

Group. The Management Board is highly confident that the 

Group’s financing can continue to be secured. This is based 

on transactions initiated and agreed to in 2024 and 2025, 

which will provide liquidity inflows that enable the partial re-

payment of bank liabilities and will largely eliminate the 

Group’s debt. An enhanced equity ratio and anticipated pos-

itive earnings contributions may present refinancing oppor-

tunities. This will ensure long-term financial stability (also 

see the “Liquidity Risks” section). 

The increasing significance of energy efficiency, the battle 

against climate change and consumer protection continue to 

lead to more and more legal regulations. A key factor in 

FRIWO’s success is therefore the early and rapid recogni-

tion and adoption of relevant technical requirements and 

standards. 

There are also country-specific risks at individual FRIWO lo-

cations or at those of its suppliers. In particular, there is a 

risk of inconsistent interpretation and application of legal 

sources, which specifically affects labor law and tax and cus-

toms regimes in Vietnam and China. 

Restrictions on global supply and logistics chains were min-

imized in 2024, after having been a relevant factor in previ-

ous years. However, uncertainty remains due to Russia’s 

ongoing war against Ukraine and the conflict in the Middle 

East. These and other geopolitical conflicts could lead to 

disruptions in international supply and logistics chains, 

which would also have a negative impact on procurement, 

production and delivery by the FRIWO Group or on FRIWO 

customer demand. On the procurement side, the conse-

quences would be limited material availability, high material 

prices and freight rates as well as logistics bottlenecks. In 

terms of sales, this could mean delayed processing of or-

ders and delivery dates. FRIWO tries to identify supply bot-

tlenecks as soon as possible and, where possible, avoid 

them by buying on spot markets. In order to maintain pro-

duction operations and ensure reliable delivery capability, 

FRIWO compensates for delays in material procurement by 

leveraging alternative suppliers and alternative processes. 

FRIWO also keeps in close regular contact with customers 

to secure reliability even under adverse conditions. 

On the sales side, FRIWO faced subdued demand in fis-

cal 2024, which was primarily attributable to the sluggish 

economic phase in key sales countries and the general price 

trends. Demand was also driven down by the fact that many 

customers still have high inventories. According to current 

forecasts, the order situation is not expected to stabilize until 

the seasonal business for 2025 begins and the warehouses 

need to be restocked. 

Another risk stems from the current customs and trade pol-

icy of the U.S., which continues to be characterized by pro-

tectionist tendencies. Possible increases in import duties or 

regulatory trade barriers could lead to restricted market ac-

cess or disruptions in global supply chains. The resulting un-

certainties may negatively impact the Group’s revenue and 

earnings performance. FRIWO is closely monitoring devel-

opments and will take all necessary measures to limit any 

potential negative impacts as much as possible. 
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Procurement, Production and Price Risks 

FRIWO is exposed to procurement and production risks as 

well as volume and capacity utilization risks, which can place 

financial burdens on the Group. 

When manufacturing products, FRIWO also processes other 

manufacturers’ upstream products or components, some of 

which have a unique selling point. FRIWO works very closely 

with these suppliers to avoid supply bottlenecks. Under cer-

tain circumstances, an adequate production and delivery 

quantity (whether in terms of quantity and/or quality) cannot 

always be secured, especially if a single-supplier strategy 

has to be pursued in the case of critical components. In this 

case, delivery and supply bottlenecks might occur, which 

would have a negative impact on business development. 

The availability of key electrical components on the global 

market poses a major challenge for FRIWO and the entire 

sector. There is still the risk of higher procurement costs. De-

lays in supplying FRIWO customers cannot be ruled out ei-

ther. FRIWO tries to counter this risk by planning on a long-

term basis – by expanding its manufacturer and supplier 

base, by using other assemblies and other designs of com-

ponents and by managing processes more efficiently. 

Higher prices for components and raw materials due to mar-

ket bottlenecks or other reasons could also have a negative 

impact on the FRIWO Group’s economic situation. In view of 

the intense competition still affecting the market for power 

supply units, there is no guarantee that FRIWO can pass on 

such price increases to customers entirely or at least in part. 

The rate at which wage costs are increasing at the produc-

tion site in Vietnam still poses a risk for FRIWO. The legal 

minimum wages there were also significantly increased 

in 2024. This led to FRIWO incurring additional costs when 

manufacturing products itself and from higher purchasing 

prices for finished devices manufactured outside the Group. 

The assumption is that there will be regular wage increases 

at the production sites, which cannot be compensated for or 

can be only partly compensated for by increased productiv-

ity. It is not guaranteed that FRIWO can pass on the addi-

tional costs to customers by adjusting sales prices without 

delay. 

Competitive Risks 

The FRIWO Group has a broad customer and product port-

folio. For some customers, FRIWO is the sole supplier over-

all or for individual product groups. In the past, individual 

customers reduced the scope of their business with FRIWO 

by developing a multi-supplier strategy. FRIWO was able to 

counter any negative impact on revenue and earnings by 

adopting suitable measures such as attracting new custom-

ers and extending its product portfolio. Should additional 

customers press ahead with the development of a multi-sup-

plier strategy, this could have a negative impact on the 

Group’s business development. As a supplier of compo-

nents, the Group is also indirectly exposed to the general 

sales and market risk of customers supplied by FRIWO. 

Currency Risks 

FRIWO is exposed to transaction risks due to the fact that it 

is a globally active company conducting a significant portion 

of its business in foreign currencies (especially in U.S. dol-

lars). 

Foreign currency risks result from foreign currency items in 

the statement of financial position and future transactions 

where incoming and outgoing payments are made in differ-

ent currencies. The foreign currency risk is considered from 

the perspective of the respective company and its domestic 

currency compared with all foreign currencies. 

Initially, a natural hedge is created in part, at least for those 

foreign currency items that occur in the same currency in 

both accounts payable and receivable. 

FRIWO reduces remaining foreign currency risks through 

targeted currency management. Ideally, companies are fi-

nanced in their respective domestic currency or on a cur-

rency-hedged basis as far as possible. It is not permitted to 

raise or invest funds in foreign currencies for the purposes 

of speculation. The Group’s preferred method of reducing its 

currency risk from future transactions is by concluding trans-

actions in the currency in which the majority of the manufac-

turing costs are incurred (“natural hedging”). 
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Nevertheless, changes in exchange rates, those transactions 

chiefly invoiced in U.S. dollars and the translation into the 

Group currency, the euro, can pose risks to the Group’s net 

assets, financial position and results of operations. 

Since FRIWO has four operating companies abroad, the 

Group is also exposed to the impact from translating these 

companies’ income statements into the reporting currency 

used in the consolidated financial statements, the euro, in 

addition to the transaction risks described above (translation 

risk). 

Liquidity Risks 

The European Central Bank has been gradually raising its 

key interest rate since July 2022. These adjustments were 

made in September, October and December 2022 and in 

February, March, May, June, July and September 2023 until 

it finally reached 4.00 percent. The U.S. and the U.K., on the 

other hand, raised their key interest rates a few months ear-

lier. The turnaround in interest rates came on June 6, 2024, 

when the ECB’s Governing Council decided to lower the key 

interest rate for the first time after a period of rate hikes. Sev-

eral additional cuts followed, most recently in March 2025. 

Banks may tighten their lending policies despite the renewed 

decline in interest rates. This would lead to higher financing 

costs for borrowers and reduce the financial flexibility of com-

panies. If the banking industry’s restrictive lending policy con-

tinues over a longer period, it is possible that FRIWO would 

also be affected by this. 

The decision to sell the e-drives business and the DIN rail 

power supply business will enable FRIWO to concentrate all 

its financial and human resources on its core activities again. 

FRIWO will be able to largely reduce the Group’s leverage 

with the proceeds from the sales. This would allow the syn-

dicated loan to be repaid ahead of schedule in mid- to 

late 2025, ending the restructuring period at the end of 2025. 

As a result, and given the cash inflows from the two transac-

tions, there is no longer any material uncertainty regarding 

the FRIWO Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 

unlike in the previous year. 

FRIWO then plans to reorganize and restructure its financ-

ing structure. Factoring and local financing in Vietnam will 

most likely remain an important element. As further compo-

nents of its financing, FRIWO is seeking new credit facilities 

in Germany, although these may be limited by the banks’ re-

strictive lending policies. 

The liquidity risk is rated as medium in terms of probability 

of occurrence. 

Interest Rate Risks 

The FRIWO Group’s interest rate risk in 2024 resulted 

largely from the existing syndicated loan and the local fi-

nancing in Vietnam. The shareholder loan was set up with 

fixed interest rate payments. The syndicated loan has a var-

iable interest rate and is therefore subject to interest rate 

risk. The financing banks also increased their rates as part 

of the syndicated loan extensions, which has led to higher 

interest expenses. 

Default Risks 

Default risks mainly arise from trade receivables and con-

tractual financial obligations with business partners. FRIWO 

did not record any significant defaults in 2024 in relation to 

its existing customers. However, an impairment of 

EUR 1.8 million was recorded for receivables due from one 

customer as this customer filed for bankruptcy in Febru-

ary 2025. Defaults cannot be completely ruled out, despite 

the great care taken in the selection of new customers. 

Please refer to the disclosures in Notes (25) and (39) in the 

notes to the consolidated financial statements regarding the 

management of the credit risk resulting from the receivables 

due from FRIWO customers on the financial statement clos-

ing date. 
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Legal and Compliance Risks 

FRIWO is exposed to risks from legal disputes or proceed-

ings in the ordinary course of business, for example in con-

nection with deliveries, product liability, product defects or 

quality issues. Currently, there are no proceedings pending 

that might have negative effects on the Group’s net assets, 

financial position and results of operations. However, poten-

tial future legal disputes and proceedings could very well 

have a negative impact. 

Compliance with laws and internal policies to avoid breaches 

of compliance legislation is a high priority at FRIWO. For this 

reason, FRIWO has set up a Group-wide system in which 

every employee is informed about the existing FRIWO poli-

cies on a regular basis. The company policies are expected 

to provide sufficient safeguards to ensure that the rules are 

followed. However, information and training cannot entirely 

guarantee that employees do not breach laws or internal pol-

icies inadvertently, either through negligence or intentionally. 

Such breaches may disrupt internal business processes, 

damage the company’s reputation and have a negative im-

pact on the financial position. 

FRIWO sees the pursuit of sustainability goals (known as 

ESG principles – Environmental, Social, and Governance) as 

a core task. In addition to opportunities, sustainability also en-

tails several risks – FRIWO is largely active in the e-mobility 

sector, which is highly relevant to sustainability. On the oper-

ations side, FRIWO will face increased ESG reporting obliga-

tions in the future, which will require more detailed data col-

lection. Additional costs for measures to reduce greenhouse 

gas emissions are also to be expected. Sustainability issues 

will also gain in relevance for the acquisition of new custom-

ers and the awarding of contracts by existing customers, and 

there is a risk that FRIWO will not meet the requirements in 

full.  

This means that FRIWO must also pay greater attention to 

sustainability aspects in its value chain, e.g. when selecting 

components and suppliers. This may entail additional costs 

or require a switch to new suppliers. 

HR Risks 

FRIWO needs highly qualified technical employees and 

managers on an ongoing basis. If vacant roles are not filled 

sufficiently or there is a failure to ensure qualified employees 

remain with the company long term, this could affect the 

Group’s future development adversely. FRIWO attempts to 

largely reduce personnel risks through the strategic recruit-

ment of qualified specialists and managers, early succes-

sion planning and the provision of an attractive and respect-

ful working environment. 

IT Risks 

FRIWO is highly dependent on the information technology it 

uses due to its high degree of integration in the global value 

chain. It is exposed to risk from unauthorized access to sen-

sitive corporate data and systems not being available as a 

result of disruptions or targeted attacks. FRIWO counters 

these risks with a range of measures such as using virus 

scanners and firewall systems, restricting the allocation of 

access rights to systems and the redundant design of IT in-

frastructures. FRIWO addressed the risk posed by logistics 

processes not being interlinked in the current ERP system 

with the global introduction of the latest SAP S/4HANA ERP 

system in 2023. The goal is to streamline and permanently 

automate the entire process landscape. 
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Opportunity Report 

The Management Board is convinced that the global market 

for power supply units and charging technology offers attrac-

tive long-term growth prospects. Despite the negative impact 

of global crises and sector-specific cyclical fluctuations in 

customer demand, the overall long-term growth drivers for 

the sector remain intact. 

Opportunities will emerge for the FRIWO Group by focusing, 

in particular, on market segments and applications where 

technological requirements for products are high. In this 

way, customers can benefit from the renowned expertise 

that FRIWO has developed over many years. FRIWO is 

therefore working constantly on expanding its range of prod-

ucts and services, since this is what will differentiate it from 

its competitors and is thus a key factor in the Group’s suc-

cess. 

The creation of technological – and therefore economic – 

added value by further strengthening our research and de-

velopment capabilities and closely interacting with custom-

ers therefore remains a core element of the Group’s strat-

egy. This goal is also served by what is known as predevel-

opment, i.e. research and development services that do not 

have to be capitalized immediately but are already aimed at 

“products of the day after tomorrow”. 

 

FRIWO’s business model – in particular, the combination of 

German engineering expertise and flexible production re-

sources in Asia – provides an effective and flexible basis for 

servicing its target markets successfully. Thanks to the pro-

duction base in Vietnam, which has been established and 

continuously adapted over the past years, FRIWO can lever-

age cost advantages in Asia and thus hone its competitive 

edge. Additional flexibility is provided by working with high-

performance contract manufacturers in Germany and Po-

land. 

FRIWO also sees opportunities in the targeted expansion of 

target markets in its core power supply unit business. New 

application areas are also being continuously reviewed fol-

lowing the modification of the strategic positioning, which 

now comprises five application areas: E-Mobility/Transporta-

tion & Logistics, Medical & Healthcare Solutions, Industrial 

Applications, Specialized Tools & Equipment and Lifestyle 

Solutions. To achieve this, FRIWO needs to be able to utilize 

its technological strengths in a targeted manner to achieve 

reasonable prices and, consequently, generate contribution 

margins. 

Other opportunities include the use of the innovative control 

technology acquired from Emerge Engineering GmbH 

in 2018 in areas outside of the divested e-drives business. 

When developing these system solutions, FRIWO can draw 

on the experience gained from its successful joint venture 

with UNO MINDA. 

The Management Board aspires to generate revenue from a 

far larger geographical area in the medium to long term. At 

the top of the priority list are the U.S., Europe outside the 

DACH region and the Asian market. Another goal is to ex-

pand the sales channels through the addition of new sales 

partners and distributors. 
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Overall Assessment of the Risk and 

Opportunities Situation of the Group 

The current risk situation of FRIWO AG and the FRIWO 

Group is seen as manageable. 

As shown in the “Liquidity Risks” section, the Management 

Board believes that it is highly probable that the Group will 

continue to have the necessary liquidity and financing avail-

able and that it can therefore continue as a going concern. 

This is based on divestments agreed to in 2024 and 2025, 

which will provide liquidity inflows that enable the partial re-

payment of bank liabilities and will largely eliminate the 

Group’s debt. An enhanced equity ratio and anticipated pos-

itive earnings contributions also open up the possibility for 

FRIWO to refinance itself on the market again, which would 

ensure long-term financial stability. 

The overall opportunities position has changed since De-

cember 31, 2023, in that FRIWO will significantly improve 

its financial position, working capital and cash flow in 2025 

with the sale of the e-drives business and the DIN rail power 

supply business. This opens up new strategic opportunities 

for future growth. 

Description of the Internal Control and 

Risk Management System Relating to 

Financial Reporting 

Key Features of the Internal Control and Risk Management 

System (Unaudited) 

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 91(3) of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the Management Board of a 

listed company is required to establish an effective internal 

control system and risk management system that is appro-

priate to the scope of the business it undertakes and the 

company’s risk situation. The Audit Committee of the Super-

visory Board is responsible for monitoring the effectiveness 

of the internal control and risk management system (Sec-

tion 107(3) sentence 2 of the German Stock Corporation Act 

(AktG)). Referring to this, Recommendation A.5 of the Ger-

man Corporate Governance Code recommends that the key 

features of the entire internal control system and risk man-

agement system are described in the management report 

and a statement on the appropriateness and effectiveness 

of these systems is provided. Statements included in this 

section refer to the entire internal control and risk manage-

ment system and therefore also to the internal control and 

risk management system related to financial reporting, 

which is described in more detail in the corresponding sep-

arate section. 

The internal control and risk management system at FRIWO 

comprises all monitoring measures to minimize risks in cor-

porate processes. It is designed to address all key operating 

and financial corporate risks and to manage the risks and 

opportunities for the achievement of business objectives, the 

correctness and reliability of financial reporting and compli-

ance with the legal provisions of relevance to the company 

and internal policies. The internal control system extends 

over all material business processes – namely, procurement, 

production, sales, financial accounting, human resources, 

treasury, warehouse and materials management – and is 

documented in the form of work policies. The dual-control 

principle constitutes an important element that is applied, for 

example, to payments, the submission of major quotations 

and the approval of purchase requisitions. In addition to ad-

ditional control mechanisms, the risk of fraudulent actions is 

to be reduced preventively through custom access rights and 

an appropriate separation of functions. 
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Significant processes that relate to the internal control sys-

tem are reported to the Management Board on an ad hoc 

basis. Risks that exceed certain thresholds are reported to 

the Management Board and the Supervisory Board on a 

scheduled basis three times a year as part of the budgeting 

and forecasting processes. If required, risks are also re-

ported directly in addition to the continuous exchange of in-

formation between the risk owners and the Management 

Board. The Management Board assesses the appropriate-

ness and effectiveness of the internal control and risk man-

agement system at regular intervals on the basis of the feed-

back it receives. The findings from these assessments are 

fed into the continuous enhancement of the internal control 

and risk management system. The entire internal control and 

risk management system is also adapted to business-spe-

cific risks and new legal requirements on an ongoing basis. 

The Management Board has no indication that the internal 

control and risk management system was inappropriate or 

ineffective as of December 31, 2024. However, it should be 

noted that neither the internal control system nor the risk 

management system can provide absolute certainty that the 

objectives associated therewith will be achieved. 

Even if a system is deemed appropriate and effective, it can-

not guarantee that all actual risks will be identified in ad-

vance, all violations will be prevented, or all inaccurate infor-

mation will be prevented or detected. Checks may not be ef-

fective in individual cases because of simple mistakes or er-

rors or changes may be recognized too late despite their be-

ing monitored. 
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Key Features of the Internal Control and Risk Manage-

ment System Relating to Financial Reporting 

As a capital market-oriented corporation within the meaning 

of Section 264d of the German Commercial Code (HGB), 

FRIWO AG is obligated in accordance with Section 289(5) 

and Section 315(2) No. 5 of the German Commercial Code 

(HGB) to describe the key features of the internal control 

and risk management system with respect to the accounting 

process followed by the company and the Group. 

The internal control and risk management system with re-

spect to the accounting process is not defined by law. 

FRIWO regards the internal control and risk management 

system as a comprehensive system and applies the defini-

tions of an accounting-related internal control system 

(IDW PS 261(19) et seq.) and risk management system 

(IDW PS 340 new version) issued by the German Institute 

of Public Auditors (Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer in Deutsch-

land e.V.). An internal control system therefore comprises 

the principles, processes and measures introduced by com-

pany management to support the organizational realization 

of management decisions. This entails: 

• Ensuring the effectiveness and economic efficiency of 

operating activities (this also involves the protection of 

assets, including the prevention of and detection of dam-

age to assets) 

• The correctness and reliability of internal and external ac-

counting 

• Compliance with the legal provisions of relevance to the 

company 

The risk management system includes all organizational 

rules and measures for identifying and dealing with risks 

arising from business activities. 

The following structures and processes are implemented in 

the Group for the accounting processes: 

The Management Board bears overall responsibility for the 

internal control and risk management system with respect to 

the accounting processes of the company and its subsidiar-

ies. All companies included in the consolidated financial 

statements are included in a clearly defined management 

and reporting structure. 

The Group’s material business processes are regularly re-

viewed to determine any risks they pose in relation to the ac-

counting. All processes identified as risk-relevant are set out 

in binding policies and organizational instructions to be ap-

plied throughout the Group and are adapted at least once a 

year to reflect current external and internal developments. 

In its accounting processes, FRIWO considers features of 

the internal control and risk management system to be ma-

terial if they could have a significant impact on the financial 

reporting process and overall presentation of the consoli-

dated financial statements, including the Group management 

report. In particular, these are the following elements: 

• Identification of material risk fields and control areas rele-

vant for the Group accounting process 

• Checks to monitor the Group accounting process and their 

results at the level of the Management Board and at the 

level of the companies included in the consolidated finan-

cial statements 

• Preventive checks in the Group’s finance and accounting 

department and in the companies included in the consoli-

dated financial statements. This also includes operational 

performance-related corporate processes, which generate 

essential information for the preparation of the consoli-

dated financial statements including the Group manage-

ment report, with a separation of functions and predefined 

approval processes in relevant areas 

• Measures to ensure the proper IT-supported processing of 

facts and data relating to financial reporting in the Group 

and its subsidiaries 

• Measures to monitor the internal control and risk man-

agement system relating to financial reporting 
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Disclosures Required by Takeover 
Law 

As a publicly traded company whose voting shares are listed 

in an organized market as defined by Section 2(7) of the 

German Securities Acquisitions and Takeover Act (WpÜG), 

FRIWO AG is obligated to disclose the information stipulated 

in Sections 289a(1) and 315a(1) of the German Commercial 

Code (HGB) in the management report and Group manage-

ment report. The disclosures are intended to enable a third 

party interested in taking over a publicly traded company to 

form an opinion about the company, its structure and any 

obstacles to the takeover. 

The share capital of FRIWO AG amounts to EUR 22.2 mil-

lion and is divided into 8.6 million bearer shares with equal 

rights. A notional share in the subscribed capital of EUR 2.60 

each is therefore attributable to each share. The number of 

shares issued has not changed in the 2024 fiscal year. The 

contributions to the share capital are fully paid. FRIWO AG 

does not hold any treasury shares either directly or indirectly. 

The Management Board of FRIWO AG is not aware of any 

restrictions regarding voting rights or the transfer of shares. 

The company was aware of the following direct or indirect 

shareholdings of more than 10 percent of the voting rights in 

the capital of FRIWO AG on December 31, 2024: 

 Direct Share of 

Voting Rights 

in % 

Indirect Share of 

Voting Rights 

in % 

Cardea Holding 

GmbH, Grünwald, 

Germany 

81.59 
 

VTC GmbH & Co. KG, 

Munich, Germany 

 
81.59 

 

The voting rights percentages stated are voluntary disclo-

sures made by shareholders as of the December 31, 2024 

closing date. There may have been changes to these voting 

shares after the date stated, which did not have to be re-

ported to the company. Since the company’s shares are 

bearer shares, the company generally only becomes aware 

of changes to share ownership if they are subject to report-

ing requirements. 

The shares issued do not grant special rights conferring 

control powers. The employees of FRIWO AG have no vot-

ing rights control. 

Pursuant to Article 4(4) of the Articles of Association, the 

Management Board is authorized, with the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by up to 

EUR 11.12 million by issuing new bearer shares against 

cash and/or non-cash contributions on one or more occa-

sions (Authorized Capital) until June 12, 2029. The Man-

agement Board may, with the approval of the Supervisory 

Board, exclude shareholders’ subscription rights for certain 

purposes. The Management Board did not make use of the 

authorization in the 2024 fiscal year. The authorized capital 

of approximately EUR 11.12 million is therefore still in place. 

By resolution of the Annual General Meeting on 

May 6, 2021, the Management Board was authorized to ac-

quire shares in the company representing up to 10 percent 

of the company’s share capital in total on behalf of the com-

pany on one or more occasions. The authorization is valid 

until May 5, 2026. The Management Board has not made 

use of this authorization to date. 
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Article 7(1) of the company’s Articles of Association states 

that the Management Board is composed of one or more 

members. Deputy members of the Management Board may 

be appointed who have the same rights as the ordinary mem-

bers of the Management Board when representing the com-

pany externally. Under Section 7(2), the Supervisory Board is 

responsible for determining the number of ordinary members 

and deputy members of the Management Board and for ap-

pointing and dismissing them. It can also appoint a member 

of the Management Board to serve as chair of the Manage-

ment Board and other Management Board members to serve 

as deputy chairs of the Management Board. 

The company’s Management Board consisted of two Man-

agement Board members as of December 31, 2024. The An-

nual General Meeting decides on amendments to the Articles 

of Association in accordance with Sections 119(1) No. 5, 179 

of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). According to Ar-

ticle 12(2) of the Articles of Association, the Supervisory 

Board is authorized to make amendments to the Articles of 

Association that relate solely to their wording. 

The company has no agreement that is subject to the condi-

tion of a change of control as a result of a takeover bid. Sim-

ilarly, there are no compensation agreements between the 

company and members of the Management Board or em-

ployees in the event of a takeover bid. For further infor-

mation, please refer to the disclosures in the remuneration 

report. 
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Report by the Management Board on Relation-

ships with Affiliated Companies 

The Management Board made the following statement in its 

report on relations with affiliated companies for the 2024 fis-

cal year: 

“In accordance with Section 312(3) of the German Stock 

Corporation Act (AktG), we declare that, according to the cir-

cumstances known to us at the time when the legal transac-

tions were carried out or the measures were taken, 

FRIWO AG received an appropriate consideration for each 

legal transaction carried out or measure taken and listed in 

the report on relations with affiliated companies and was not 

disadvantaged by any measures taken.” 

Non-Financial 

Group Declaration 

Please refer to the 2024 sustainability report for explanations 

pursuant to Sections 289b and 315b of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB). At the same time, this report constitutes 

the combined separate non-financial Group report for the 

FRIWO Group and FRIWO AG for fiscal 2024 within the 

meaning of Sections 315b and 315c in conjunction with 289b 

to 289e of the German Commercial Code (HGB) and also 

contains the disclosures required by the EU Taxonomy Reg-

ulation. The sustainability report is made available to the pub-

lic by being posted on the website: 

https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/ 
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Corporate Governance Statement 
(Unaudited) 

Declaration of Conformity with the German 

Corporate Governance Code in Accordance 

with Section 161 of the German Stock Corpo-

ration Act (AktG) 

The declaration of conformity pursuant to Section 161 of the 

German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) was issued by the 

Management Board and Supervisory Board in Decem-

ber 2024 and made permanently accessible to sharehold-

ers and the public on the company’s website 

(https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/). 

Disclosures about Corporate Practices 

Corporate practices that exceed the statutory requirements 

and the provisions of the German Corporate Governance 

Code are not applied. 

Working Methods and Composition of 

the Management Board 

The Management Board, as the governing body of 

FRIWO AG, currently consists of the following members: 

Dominik Wöffen 

Member of the Management Board  

Term of office expiring on December 31, 2027 

Ina Klassen  

Member of the Management Board  

Term of office expiring on December 31, 2027 

Tobias Tunsch, Dr. Walter Demmelhuber and Roald 

Gréboval, who served as members of the Management 

Board in the 2024 fiscal year, resigned from the Manage-

ment Board in agreement with the company as of Janu-

ary 31, 2024 (Tobias Tunsch), February 29, 2024 (Dr. Wal-

ter Demmelhuber) and January 17, 2025 (Roald Gréboval). 

In addition, Mr. Freund left the company’s Management 

Board on July 17, 2024. 

Rolf Schwirz, CEO since 2017, also left the Management 

Board and the company as planned and announced on De-

cember 31, 2024. 

Detailed information on the members of the Management 

Board is available on the FRIWO website at 

https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/. 

The Management Board is committed to the company’s in-

terests and, in this context, is guided by achieving a sus-

tained increase in its value. It manages the business in ac-

cordance with the provisions of the law, the Articles of Asso-

ciation and the Rules of Procedure for the Management 

Board. 

The Management Board consisted entirely of men in 2024. 

At the present time, there is also a woman on the Board. The 

members of the Management Board are appointed on the 

basis of their qualifications and experience. The Supervisory 

Board does not consider that gender is a characteristic that 

would particularly qualify a candidate, whether male or fe-

male, for a specific position and therefore did not consider 

this criterion in the selection process. When deciding on new 

appointments to the Management Board, applicants’ qualifi-

cations should be primarily considered and not their gender. 

The Supervisory Board also applies this principle to its target 

figures for the proportion of women on the Management 

Board, which are valid until December 31, 2026. 

The Management Board is responsible for the strategic di-

rection of the company, planning and setting the company’s 

budget, allocating resources and overseeing the manage-

ment of the company’s subsidiaries. The Management Board 

is responsible for preparing the interim and annual financial 

statements for the company and the Group and for filling key 

positions. The Management Board takes diversity into ac-

count when filling management positions within the com-

pany. 

Responsible management of the risks associated with busi-

ness activities requires an appropriate and effective internal 

monitoring system. This system should identify develop-

ments that could jeopardize the company’s existence as a 

going concern at an early stage. Additionally, a suitable con-

trol and risk management system is required. The Manage-

ment Board is responsible for compliance with the law and 

internal policies and ensures compliance with these in the 

company. 
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If the Management Board consists of several members, they 

are jointly responsible for management. Nevertheless, the 

individual members are responsible for managing the areas 

assigned to them. If the Management Board consists of sev-

eral members, the allocation of tasks to members of the 

Management Board is based on a written fixed allocation of 

responsibilities. The chief executive officer, as the chair of 

the Management Board, coordinates the work of the Man-

agement Board members. The rules of procedure for the 

Management Board specify the details of the Management 

Board’s work. 

The Management Board in its entirety decides on all matters 

of fundamental and material significance and in cases 

clearly specified by law or otherwise. Management Board 

meetings are held regularly. The rules of procedure for the 

Management Board contain a catalog of measures that 

must be dealt with and decided by the Management Board 

in its entirety. 

The Management Board works closely with the Supervisory 

Board in addressing issues and scheduling. It informs the 

Supervisory Board regularly, promptly and comprehensively 

of all matters relating to the strategy and its execution that 

are relevant to the company as well as business planning, 

business development, finances, earnings, business risks, 

compliance and sustainability. Significant decisions require 

Supervisory Board approval according to the catalog of 

transactions requiring approval. The Management Board 

and the Supervisory Board collaborate in a spirit of trust for 

the benefit of the company. 

The Management Board is also responsible for setting tar-

gets to increase the proportion of women in both manage-

ment levels below the Management Board within 

FRIWO AG. Since the operating business is located entirely 

in the subsidiaries of FRIWO AG, there are no management 

levels below the Management Board, meaning that it would 

be impossible to set such targets. 

Working Methods and Composition of the 

Supervisory Board and its Committees 

The Supervisory Board, which acts as the oversight body of 

FRIWO AG, has six members. As required by the German 

Act on One-Third Employee Participation, two thirds of the 

Supervisory Board members are shareholder representa-

tives and one third are employee representatives. The share-

holder representatives are elected by the Annual General 

Meeting, whereas the employee representatives are elected 

by the employees in an election process that is independent 

of the Annual General Meeting. The shareholder representa-

tives and the employee representatives are equally commit-

ted to the company’s interests. Supervisory Board members 

serve for a five-year term. The members of the Supervisory 

Board are solely responsible for obtaining the education and 

training necessary to perform their duties. The chair of the 

Supervisory Board is elected by the Supervisory Board from 

among its members. He or she coordinates the work of the 

Supervisory Board and represents the Board externally. 

The following members belonged to the Supervisory Board 

in the reporting period: 

Richard Ramsauer (chair; member of the Supervisory Board 

since 2008; current term of office until the end of the 2028 

Annual General Meeting) 

Dr. Thomas R. J. Robl (deputy chair; member of the Super-

visory Board since February 2024; current term of office until 

the end of the 2028 Annual General Meeting) 

Michael Jaeger (resigned as of June 13, 2024) 

Dr. Gregor Matthies (member of the Supervisory Board 

since 2018; current term of office until the end of the 2028 

Annual General Meeting) 

Felix Feuerbach (member of the Supervisory Board since 

June 2024; current term of office until the end of the 2028 

Annual General Meeting) 

 

 



 Combined Management Report of the FRIWO Group and FRIWO AG 47 

 

 

Sabine Vennekötter (resigned as of June 30, 2024 due to 

termination of her employment contract with the company)  

Uwe Leifken (member of the Supervisory Board since 2016; 

current term of office until the end of the 2026 Annual Gen-

eral Meeting) 

Stefanie Kunze (member of the Supervisory Board 

since 2024; the court appointment ends as soon as the em-

ployees have voted for a new member) 

Detailed information on the members of the Supervisory 

Board is available on the FRIWO website at 

https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/. This in-

cludes details about their professional career, the year in 

which they were appointed and the period for which they 

were appointed, memberships in other governing bodies 

outside FRIWO AG, membership of committees and infor-

mation about their expertise. 

The Supervisory Board of FRIWO includes a sufficient 

number of people who can be classified as independent. 

No member has any significant business or personal rela-

tionships with the company or the Management Board apart 

from their capacity as a shareholder or a close relationship 

with a shareholder of the company. The current version of 

the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) pro-

vides indicators for categorizing independence in Sec-

tion C.7. It states, among other things, that a member of the 

Supervisory Board who has been a member of the Board 

for more than twelve years cannot be categorized as inde-

pendent, which has been the case for Mr. Ramsauer, who 

is also chair of the Supervisory Board, since 2020. How-

ever, in the opinion of the Supervisory Board, time spent as 

a member alone is not a suitable criterion for categorizing 

independence. Rather, criteria such as objectivity, sufficient 

distance and expertise are more important in ensuring that 

the Management Board is adequately monitored. The Su-

pervisory Board therefore considers Mr. Ramsauer to be in-

dependent. 

 

According to the skills, expertise and requirements profile 

adopted by the Supervisory Board on September 18, the 

Supervisory Board is to be composed in such a way that it 

can provide qualified supervision and advice to the Man-

agement Board and perform its duties professionally and 

competently when decisions of fundamental importance to 

the company are to be made. The members of the Super-

visory Board should collectively have the knowledge, skills 

and professional experience required to properly perform 

their duties in a capital market-oriented multinational tech-

nology company in the field of power supply units, charging 

technology and digitally controllable drive solutions. 

The Supervisory Board is of the opinion that it meets the ob-

jectives of the skills and expertise profile in its current com-

position. The members of the Supervisory Board collectively 

possess extensive sector knowledge and the requisite pro-

fessional qualifications. The diverse backgrounds of its mem-

bers provide the Supervisory Board with a wealth of interna-

tional experience and skills. 
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The Supervisory Board takes the skills and expertise profile into account when discussing its election proposals for the Annual 

General Meeting. The status of the skills and expertise profile’s implementation is disclosed in the form of a qualification ma-

trix below. 

Qualification Matrix 

  
Shareholder Representatives Employee Representatives 

  Richard Georg 
Ramsauer 

Dr. Thomas Rudolf 
Johannes Robl 

Felix Feuerbach Dr. Gregor Mat-
thies 

Uwe Leifken Stefanie Kunze 

Length of Service Member since 2008 2024 2024 2018 2016 2024 

Personal Suitability Independence1       

 No overboarding2       

Diversity Date of birth 08/21/1969 02/04/1959 03/21/1975 05/03/1962 01/06/1971 11/12/1980 

 Gender Male Male Male Male Male Female 

 Nationality Austrian German German German German German 

International Experience Europe 
      

 North/South/Latin 
America      

 

 India    •   

 China    •   

 Asia/Pacific  

Skills and Expertise 
Familiarity with busi-
ness segment/sector       

 Technology  
     

 Sustainability   
    

 Transformation       

 Purchasing/produc-
tion/ sales/R&D     

 
 

 Finance       

 Financial expert       

 Risk management       

 Legal/compliance       

 Personnel   
  

  

 Management experi-

ence 

      

1 Within the meaning of the German Corporate Governance Code 

2 Within the meaning of Section 100(5) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) and Recommendation D.3 of the German Corporate Governance Code 

▪ Criterion has been met. The assessment is based on a self-evaluation by the Supervisory Board. This criterion is considered to be met when the member’s knowledge and skills allow him/her to 

understand issues and questions in this area and to make a qualified decision based on that understanding. 

The Supervisory Board’s previous resolution on the target 

proportion of women on the Supervisory Board set a target 

of one-sixth by May 5, 2026. This target was achieved in 

the reporting period. When selecting a suitable candidate, 

however, the professional qualifications and knowledge of 

the applicants continue to be the primary consideration, and 

not gender. 

During the year, the Supervisory Board regularly meets at 

least four times (twice per half year). The Supervisory 

Board has given itself rules of procedure that specify its 

tasks and working methods. The Supervisory Board moni-

tors and advises the Management Board on its manage-

ment of the business. 

It regularly discusses business development, planning, 

strategy and its implementation, and sustainability and 

compliance issues. It adopts the annual planning as well 

as the annual financial statements of FRIWO AG and the 

Group, taking into account the audit reports produced by 

the auditor, and checks the non-financial declaration by the 

company. The appointment of the members of the Man-

agement Board also falls within its remit. Here, the Super-

visory Board decides on the number of Management 

Board members, the qualifications needed and the appro-

priate personalities to fill individual positions within the re-

quirements of the law and the Articles of Association. 
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The Supervisory Board ensures the minimum participation 

of the genders specified by law or sets targets for the pro-

portion of women on the Management Board within the legal 

requirements. Significant decisions by the Management 

Board are also subject to Supervisory Board approval. It is 

also responsible for approving the company’s transactions 

with related parties. The chair of the Supervisory Board and 

the chairs of the committees are also in close contact with 

the Management Board outside the regular Board meetings. 

The Supervisory Board has an Audit Committee whose 

members are Dr. Thomas R. J. Robl (chair), Richard G. 

Ramsauer and Dr. Gregor Matthies. Section 100 (5) of the 

German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) stipulates that at 

least one member of the Supervisory Board must have ex-

pertise in accounting and at least one other member of the 

Supervisory Board must have expertise in auditing financial 

statements. This requirement is satisfied by members 

Dr. Robl and Mr. Ramsauer. Dr. Robl has expertise in ac-

counting through his degree and professional experience. 

Mr. Ramsauer has expertise in auditing annual financial 

statements through his degree and professional experi-

ence. This also satisfies the requirement of the German 

Corporate Governance Code (DCGK) that the chair of the 

Audit Committee should be an expert in at least one of 

these areas. 

The Audit Committee deals with, among other things, ex-

amining the financial reporting, monitoring the financial re-

porting process, the effectiveness of the internal control 

system, the risk management system, the internal audit 

system, the audit of the financial statements and compli-

ance. 

There are no other committees. 

Detailed information about the work of the Supervisory 

Board and its the Audit Committee can be found in the re-

port by the Supervisory Board. 
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Transparent Corporate Communications 

The activities and decisions of the Management Board are 

reported in the regular annual reports, six-month interim re-

ports and quarterly reports. The publication dates of this in-

formation can be found in the financial calendar on the 

FRIWO website at the following internet address: 

https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/. 

FRIWO also provides information on events in the Group of 

significance for the capital market in the form of press re-

leases or ad hoc notifications. Employees are also kept in-

formed via employee meetings or the Intranet. 

Remuneration Report 

In the remuneration report for the Management Board and 

the Supervisory Board, the company reports on the remu-

neration paid and owed to the members of the company’s 

Management Board and Supervisory Board and on the 

principles of the remuneration system applied for the past 

fiscal year in accordance with Section 162 of the German 

Stock Corporation Act (AktG). The report complies with the 

requirements of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG). 

The remuneration report for the last fiscal year, the audit 

report compiled by the auditor in accordance with Sec-

tion 162 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), the 

applicable remuneration system for members of the Man-

agement Board pursuant to Section 87a(1) and (2) sen-

tence 1 of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG), 

which was approved by the Annual General Meeting on 

May 12, 2022, and the last remuneration resolution by the 

Annual General Meeting on May 6, 2021, pursuant to Sec-

tion 113(3) of the German Stock Corporation Act (AktG) on 

the remuneration of Supervisory Board members are pub-

licly accessible on the company’s website at 

https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/. 

Remuneration reports for previous fiscal years are also 

made available at the above address in accordance with 

Section 162(4) of the German Stock Corporation Act 

(AktG). 

Further information on the remuneration of the governing 

bodies of FRIWO AG can also be found in the notes to the 

consolidated financial statements and in the notes to the 

annual financial statements of FRIWO AG. 

 

Ostbevern, April 22, 2025 

 

 

 

 

Dominik Wöffen    Ina Klassen 

Member of the Management Board  Member of the Management Board 
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Consolidated Income Statement 

For the 2024 fiscal year 

In EUR thousand Note 2024 2023* 

Revenue (11) 93,023 111,076 

Cost of sales -81,053 -100,010 

Gross profit 11,970 11,066 

Selling expenses (12) -5,488 -4,163 

General administrative expenses (13) -9,662 -11,453 

Other operating expenses (14) -7,436 -13,544 

Other operating income (14) 7,012 10,726 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) -3,605 -7,368 

Income from investments recorded using the equity 
method 

(22) 43 -280 

Interest income (15) 21 12 

Interest expense (15) -3,560 -3,444 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -7,101 -11,081 

Income taxes (16) 852 -436 

Consolidated net income -6,249 -11,517 

 

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) (in EUR) (17) -0.73 -1.35 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the 2024 fiscal year 

In EUR thousand Note 2024 2023* 

Consolidated net income -6,249 -11,517 

Remeasurement of net liability from 

defined benefit plans (30) 
-190 -32 

Deferred tax (16) 59 10 

Net result from the change in the net liability from 
defined benefit plans -131 -22 

Total changes in value recognized in other comprehensive income not 
subsequently reclassified to the income statement 

-131 -22 

 

Gains / losses from the translation of foreign operations 
77 -1,074 

Total changes in value recognized in equity that are subse-

quently reclassified to the income statement if certain condi-

tions are met 

Total changes in value recognized in other consoli-

dated comprehensive income 

77 -1,074 

-54 -1,096 

Total comprehensive income -6,303 -12,613 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

For the 2024 fiscal year 

In EUR thousand Note 2024 2023* 

Consolidated net income -6,249 -11,517 

Income from investments recorded using the equity 

method 

(22) -43 280 

Tax expenses/income recognized in profit or loss (16) -852 436 

Net interest recognized in profit or loss (15) 3,539 3,433 

Depreciation and amortization (21) 3,577 4,856 

Change in provisions (30)(31) -3,594 3,103 

Result from the disposal of fixed assets (14) -670 3 

Changes in inventories (24) 9,499 7,920 

Change in trade receivables and other assets not attributable to 

investing or financing activities (25)(26) -1,625 17,156 

Change in trade payables and other liabilities not attributable to 

investing or financing activities (34)(35)(36) 2,880 -17,633 

Interest paid -2,355 -2,754 

Interest received 21 12 

Income tax paid/received -303 -357 

Other non-cash effects -712 -778 

Cash flow from operating activities 3,112 4,158 

Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment / intangible 

assets 2,244 115 

Payments for investments in intangible assets (21) 
-500 -1,037 

Payments for investments in property, plant and equipment (21) -926 -1,912 

Payments for investments in financial assets (21) 0 -1,013 

Cash flow from investing activities 817 -3,847 

Repayment of current liabilities to banks (net) 
(32) -2,318 -1,378 

Repayment of lease liabilities (34) -911 -1,121 

Cash flow from financing activities -3,229 -2,499 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 700 -2,189 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year (27) 4,698 6,887 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year (27) 5,398 4,698 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

As of December 31, 2024 

Assets 

In EUR thousand Note 12/31/2024 12/31/2023* 

Non-current assets    

Goodwill (21) 0 153 

Other intangible assets (21) 2,635 3,780 

Property, plant and equipment (21) 4,241 6,575 

Investment property (21) 222 0 

Right-of-use assets from leases (23) 1,569 1,370 

Deferred tax* (16) 1,693 0 

Investments recorded using the equity method (22) 0 1,574 

  10,361 13,452 

Current assets    

Inventories (24) 18,257 27,756 

Trade receivables (25) 4,047 3,073 

Contract assets (25) 13,530 13,775 

Other financial assets (26) 2,844 2,176 

Income tax receivables  26 0 

Other non-financial assets (26) 3,747 3,181 

Cash and cash equivalents (27) 5,398 4,698 

Assets held for sale (28) 5,485 3,111 

 53,333 57,770 

Total assets 63,694 71,223 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 
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Equity and Liabilities 

In EUR thousand Note 12/31/2024 12/31/2023* 

Equity (29)   

Subscribed capital 22,242 22,242 

Capital reserves 28,328 28,328 

Revenue reserves* -46,933 -40,553 

Other reserves -291 -368 

 3,346 9,649 

Non-current liabilities   

Shareholder loans (33) 12,820 12,202 

Non-current liabilities to banks (32) 0 1,840 

Non-current lease liabilities (34) 894 836 

Provisions for pensions (30) 2,228 2,178 

Other non-current provisions (31) 64 113 

 16,006 17,169 

Current liabilities   

Other current provisions (31) 1,113 4,404 

Current liabilities to banks (32) 18,559 18,778 

Current lease liabilities (34) 767 665 

Trade payables (35) 18,885 16,322 

Contract liabilities (35) 293 299 

Other financial liabilities (36) 2,716 2,322 

Income tax liabilities 929 426 

Other non-financial liabilities (37) 1,080 1,189 

 44,342 44,405 

Liabilities 60,348 61,574 

Total liabilities 63,694 71,223 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the 2024 fiscal year 

In EUR thousand S
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As of 12/31/2022 22,242 28,328 -25,301 -1,063 706 24,912 

Restatement due to error 
correction (6b)   -2,649    

Subtotal 

01/01/2023 after restatement 
22,242 28,328 -27,950 -1,063 706 22,263 

Consolidated net income, 
restated 

  -11,517    

Other consolidated compre-
hensive income 

   -22 -1,074  

Total comprehensive in-
come 

  -11,517 -22 -1,074  

As of 12/31/2023 22,242 28,328 -39,467 -1,085 -368 9,649 

Consolidated net income   -6,249    

Other consolidated compre-
hensive income 

  0 -131 77  

Total comprehensive in-
come 

  -6,249 -131 77  

As of 12/31/2024 22,242 28,328 -45,716 -1,216 -291 3,346 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial State-
ments 
General Information 

(1) Information about the Company 

FRIWO AG and its subsidiaries are an international product 

and systems provider of power supply units, charging tech-

nology and digitally controllable drive solutions. The com-

pany covers numerous applications for various markets and 

sectors with its products. 

Its address is: 

FRIWO AG, Von-Liebig-Strasse 11, 48346 Ostbevern, Ger-

many.  

Registered office Ostbevern, Münster Local Court, 

HRB 11727. 

The consolidated financial statements and the combined 

management report of FRIWO AG and the Group for 

the 2024 fiscal year are published in the German Federal Ga-

zette (Bundesanzeiger). 

VTC GmbH & Co. KG, Munich, prepares the consolidated fi-

nancial statements for the largest group of companies, in 

which FRIWO AG is included. 

The company is therefore an affiliated company of VTC 

GmbH & Co. KG and its direct and indirect subsidiaries. 

According to VTC GmbH & Co. KG, its subsidiary, Cardea 

Holding GmbH, Grünwald, held 81.59 percent of the 

shares in FRIWO AG as of December 31, 2024 (2023: 

81.59 percent). The consolidated financial statements of 

FRIWO AG are included in the consolidated financial state-

ments of VTC GmbH & Co. KG, which are published in 

Bundesanzeiger. Minda Industries Limited (a company of 

the UNO MINDA Group), New Delhi, India, holds 5.24 per-

cent (2023: 5.24 percent) of FRIWO AG following a capital 

increase in the 2022 fiscal year. 

The consolidated financial statements of FRIWO AG were 

approved by the Management Board for publication on 

April 22, 2025 (date of approval for presentation to the Su-

pervisory Board). 
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Accounting Policies 

(2) Declaration of Compliance with 
IFRSs 

FRIWO AG is listed on a regulated market within the Euro-

pean Union. The consolidated financial statements are pre-

pared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) adopted by the EU. The requirements of 

Section 315a of the German Commercial Code (HGB) are 

also met. 

(3) Principles Applied in the Preparation of the 

Financial Statements 

The key accounting policies applied in the preparation of 

these consolidated financial statements are presented be-

low. Unless stated otherwise, the policies described were 

applied consistently to the reporting periods presented. 

The consolidated financial statements were prepared in eu-

ros. Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts have been 

stated in thousands of euros (EUR thousand). 

Financial Reporting Based on the Principle of the Ability 

to Continue as a Going Concern 

In December 2023, FRIWO drew up a turnaround concept to-

gether with the restructuring consultant, Struktur Management 

Partner GmbH (SMP). SMP had previously prepared a restruc-

turing report for FRIWO in 2020 as the basis for rearranging fi-

nancing under a syndicated loan agreement in March 2020. 

This was last updated in March 2022 and provided for a restruc-

turing period until the end of 2023. As follow-up financing for the 

end of 2023 was no longer likely due to significant deviations 

from the 2023 plan, the Management Board of FRIWO AG com-

missioned an updated restructuring concept in July 2023. 

The restructuring concept included significant structural 

changes at the Ostbevern site, resulting in a significant 

change in the fixed cost structure. On the basis of this re-

structuring, FRIWO was able to extend the existing financ-

ing until the end of 2025. At the same time, the restructuring 

consultant confirmed the restructuring capability in a re-

structuring report. 

The remaining production facilities in Ostbevern were pur-

chased by the Hamburg-based investment company Pri-

vate Assets SE & Co. KGaA (excluding the associated land 

and real properties) effective March 1, 2024. At the same 

time, the production of wound parts and other components 

was transferred to the Hong Kong-based partner Group In-

tellect Power Technology Limited (GIPT) as part of the flex-

ibilization of the production base. The implementation of 

these two divestments significantly improved the liquidity 

situation and cost structure in the short term compared with 

the plans set out in the restructuring report. 

FRIWO recorded a significant deviation from the revenue 

and earnings targets in its restructuring plan in the first half 

of 2024 due to the sharp downturn in the market. Partly with 

the aim of reducing the company’s debt, FRIWO's manage-

ment decided to initiate a sales process for the divestment 

of the E-Drives division (excluding e-bikes) and to use the 

proceeds from the sale to partially repay the banks. In ad-

dition, FRIWO’s management pursued another project to 

sell the DIN rail power supply business to the sole customer 

for this product line. In late 2024 and early 2025, FRIWO 

signed agreements to sell its e-drives business, including 

its capital-intensive stake in the joint venture with UNO 

MINDA in India and its DIN rail power supply business. 

These decisions regarding the sales will enable FRIWO to 

refocus all its financial and human resources on its core 

activities in the future.  
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FRIWO will be able to largely reduce the Group’s leverage 

with the proceeds from the sales. An enhanced equity ratio 

and anticipated positive earnings contributions also open up 

the possibility for FRIWO to refinance itself on the market 

again, which would ensure long-term financial stability. 

Based on the measures taken, the Management Board expects 

the company to continue as a going concern, and the consoli-

dated financial statements have been prepared on a going con-

cern basis. This will also mark the successful completion of the 

FRIWO Group’s restructuring. Compliance with the restructur-

ing plan was reconfirmed by an external expert during the prep-

aration of the financial statements for 2024 and found to be 

very probable. 

Detailed information can be found in the risk report in the com-

bined management report. 

(4) Significant Judgments by FRIWO 

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in compli-

ance with IFRS requires that assumptions and estimates are 

made that have an impact on the amount and recognition of 

assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position, in-

come and expenses, and contingent liabilities. 

The significant judgments relate to the recoverability of non-

current assets (see Note (21)), the recognition and amount of 

provisions (see Notes (30) and (31)), the recognition of de-

ferred tax assets on loss carryforwards (see Note (16)) and the 

calculation of fair values of assets acquired as part of business 

combinations (see Note (21)). 

(5) Principles of Consolidation 

The financial statements of the German and foreign subsidiar-

ies included in the consolidated financial statements were pre-

pared using uniform accounting policies. 

The fiscal year of all fully consolidated companies, including 

FRIWO AG, corresponds to the calendar year (with the ex-

ception of Friemann & Wolf India Private Limited, which has 

a different fiscal year). 

Receivables and liabilities between the Group companies 

are offset against each other. Revenue, interim results and 

all other intragroup expenses and income are eliminated. 

The initial consolidation takes place on the acquisition date 

in accordance with the acquisition method. The date of ac-

quisition is the date on which the FRIWO Group gains con-

trol of the acquired company. Control exists when FRIWO is 

exposed to variable returns from its exposure to the inves-

tee, has rights to such returns and has the ability to influence 

those returns through its power over the investee. The iden-

tifiable assets and liabilities acquired are measured at their 

acquisition date fair values. If the purchase price exceeds 

the newly measured assets, this will result in goodwill, which 

has to be capitalized. Any negative difference is recognized 

in profit or loss. The income and expenses of acquired com-

panies are included in the consolidated financial statements 

from the time at which control is acquired. In the event of a 

sale, the income and expenses of acquired companies are 

included in the consolidated financial statements until the 

time at which control is lost. 

Joint ventures are recorded using the equity method in ac-

cordance with IFRS 11. The equity method assumes that 

the interest is recognized at historical cost at the time the 

shares were acquired. This is subsequently adjusted by, 

among other things, the changes in equity – for example, 

from the current result less any distributions received. 

Goodwill is not shown separately for investments recorded 

using the equity method but recognized in the carrying 

amount of the investment. Should unscheduled impairments 

of the equity value become necessary, these are shown in 

income from investments recorded using the equity method. 
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(6) Changes to Accounting Policies 

(6a) General Information 

The consolidated financial statements of FRIWO as of Decem-

ber 31, 2024 were prepared according to the International Fi-

nancial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as applicable in the EU 

and the guidelines of the International Accounting Standards 

Board (IASB) applicable on the financial statement closing 

date. The term IFRS also includes those International Account-

ing Standards (IAS) that are still valid. 

All interpretations (IFRIC) of the IFRS Interpretations Commit-

tee, for which application is compulsory for fiscal year 2024, 

were also applied. 

The accounting policies are basically identical to those used in 

the previous year. 

(6b) Restatement of Earlier Periods (IAS 8.41) 

The published figures for the previous year have been restated 

for the following items. 

Capitalization of Deferred Taxes 

An error related to the capitalization of deferred taxes on loss 

carryforwards was corrected in the reporting year. IAS 12.35 

imposes stricter requirements on the capitalization of de-

ferred taxes on loss carryforwards in cases where there is a 

history of losses. They are recognized only to the extent that 

sufficient deferred tax liabilities exist and/or there is other 

convincing evidence of sufficient future positive income. The 

relevant deferred tax asset item has therefore been restated 

up to the amount of the existing deferred tax liabilities. 

The relevant items in the previous year’s financial state-

ments have been restated as follows: 

▪ Non-current assets: Reduction in active deferred taxes by 

EUR 3,091 thousand 

▪ Equity: Reduction in revenue reserves by 

EUR 2,649 thousand 

▪ Income taxes: Reduction in deferred tax income by 

EUR 442 thousand 

▪ Consolidated net income: Reduction in consolidated net 

income by EUR 442 thousand to EUR -11,517 thousand 

▪ Earnings per share: Reduction in earnings per share by 

EUR 0.06 to EUR -1.35 

The following tables summarize the impact on the consolidated financial statements: 

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
Assets 

In EUR thousand 

Stated Restatement Restated 

12/31/2023  12/31/2023 

Non-current assets    

Goodwill 153  153 

Other intangible assets 3,780  3,780 

Property, plant and equipment 6,575  6,575 

Right-of-use assets from leases 1,370  1,370 

Deferred tax 3,091 -3,091 0 

Investments recorded using the equity method 1,574  1,574 

 16,543 -3,091 13,452 

Current assets 57,771  57,771 

Total assets 74,314 -3,091 71,223 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
Equity and Liabilities 

In EUR thousand 

Stated Restatement Restated 

12/31/2023  12/31/2023 

Equity    

Subscribed capital 22,242  22,242 

Capital reserves 28,328  28,328 

Revenue reserves -37,462 -3,091 -40,553 

Other reserves -368  -368 

 12,740 -3,091 9,649 

Non-current liabilities 17,169  17,169 

Current liabilities 44,405  44,405 

Liabilities 61,574  61,574 

Total assets 74,314 -3,091 71,223 

  

Consolidated Income Statement 

In EUR thousand 

Stated 
Restate-

ment 
Restated 

2023  2023 

Earnings before taxes (EBT) -11,081  -11,081 

Income taxes 6 -442 -436 

Consolidated net income -11,075 -442 -11,517 

Earnings per share (basic and diluted) (in EUR) -1.29  -1.35 

 

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement 

In EUR thousand 

Stated 
Restate-

ment 
Restated 

2023  2023 

Consolidated net income -11,075 -442 -11,517 

Tax expenses/income recognized in profit or loss -6 442 436 

Cash flow from operating activities 4,158  4,158 

Cash flow from investing activities -3,847  -3,847 

Cash flow from financing activities -2,499  -2,499 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents -2,189 
 

-2,189 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 

of the year 
6,887 

 
6,887 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 

year 
4,698 

 
4,698 
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(6c) Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies 

New and revised standards and interpretations applied for 

the first time in the reporting period 

The following standards, amendments to standards and in-

terpretations were applied for the first time in the reporting 

period. 

Standard Title 

Amendments to 

IAS 1 

Classification of debt as current 

or non-current (including deferral 

of initial recognition date) and 

non-current liabilities with cove-

nants 

Amendments to 

IFRS 16 

Lease Liability in a Sale and 

Leaseback 

Amendments to 
IAS 7 and IFRS 7 

Supplier Financing Agree-

ments 

The amendments were applied for the first time in the 2024 fis-

cal year. 

They did not have any material impact on the consolidated fi-

nancial statements. 

New and Revised Standards and Interpretations Already 

Adopted into EU Law 

In addition, the IASB has published the following announce-

ments: 

Standard Title 

Mandatory appli-

cation for fiscal 

years beginning 

on or after 

Amendments 

to IAS 21 

Lack of Exchangeabil-

ity 
01/01/2025 

 

FRIWO will only apply all of the listed standards as of the 

date of the first mandatory application. According to the 

analyses carried out, there will be no material impact on the 

accounting in the consolidated financial statements for fu-

ture fiscal years. 

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations not yet 

Transposed into EU Law 

The following revisions, which will enter into force in the 

coming years, have not yet been transposed into applicable 

EU law: 

Standard Title 

Mandatory appli-

cation for fiscal 

years beginning 

on or after 

Amendments 

to IFRS 9 and 

IFRS 7 

Classification and 

measurement of finan-

cial instruments 

01/01/2026 

Amendments 
to IAS 7, 
IFRS 1, 
IFRS 9 and 
IFRS 10 

Annual improvements 

to IFRS – Volume 11 
01/01/2026 

IFRS 18 

Presentation and Dis-

closure in Financial 

Statements 

01/01/2027 

IFRS 19 
Subsidiaries without 
Public Accountability: 
Disclosures 

01/01/2027 

The effects of the amendments and changes that have not 

yet been adopted into EU law on FRIWO’s consolidated fi-

nancial statements are still being examined. 

(7) Currency Translation 

The Group’s reporting currency is the euro, which corre-

sponds to the reporting currency of FRIWO AG. 
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Each company within the Group determines its own func-

tional currency. The items included in the financial state-

ments of the respective company are measured using this 

functional currency. Foreign currency transactions are initially 

translated at the spot exchange rate between the functional 

currency and the foreign currency on the date of the transac-

tion. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities in a for-

eign currency are translated into the functional currency at the 

year-end rate. All exchange differences are recognized in profit 

or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of his-

torical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the ex-

change rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items 

measured in a foreign currency at fair value are translated us-

ing the exchange rate valid at the time of the measurement of 

fair value. 

The financial statements of foreign subsidiaries are translated 

using the functional currency concept in accordance with 

IAS 21 – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates. 

The statements of financial position are translated at the year-

end rate on the closing date and the income statements at av-

erage rates since these companies are financially, economi-

cally and organizationally autonomous. The functional cur-

rency of companies abroad therefore corresponds to the re-

spective national currency. The exchange differences resulting 

from translation are recognized in other comprehensive in-

come. 

The following exchange rates were used in currency transla-

tion: 

 Closing Date Average 

In foreign 

currency / 

euros 
12/31/2024 12/31/2023 2024 2023 

 

 

China 

(CNY) 
7.5833 7.8509 7.7875 7.6591 

U.S.A. 

(USD) 1.0389 1.1050 1.0824 1.0816 

Vietnam 

(VND) 26,181.00 26,235.00 26,480.30 25,155.99 

India (INR) 
88.9335 91.9045 90.5563 89.3249 
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(8) Summary of Key Accounting Policies 

The income statement is prepared using the function of ex-

pense method. 

Revenue (revenue from contracts with customers) is recog-

nized when control of the goods or services is transferred to 

the customers. At FRIWO, the performance obligation largely 

results from the manufacture and delivery of products. Ser-

vices (development and tools) are not significant as a perfor-

mance obligation. Revenue is recognized in the amount of 

consideration that the Group expects to receive in exchange 

for these goods and services. When revenue from customer-

specific products that have no alternative use is recognized 

over time and there is a legal right to payment for the work 

completed to date, revenue is calculated on the basis of the 

manufacturing costs incurred plus the average customer-spe-

cific margin calculated in the reporting year. 

The specifics of the contract mean that this conveys an accu-

rate picture of the transfer of the goods. 

Payment terms usually provide for payment within 60 days of 

the invoice being issued at the latest. As a rule, there are no 

significant financing components. The period between trans-

fer of the goods and the payment date is no more than twelve 

months. 

As a rule, the transaction price corresponds to revenue. If a 

contract contains several performance obligations, the trans-

action price is allocated to the performance obligations on a 

relative stand-alone selling price basis. 

FRIWO recognizes a provision for the obligation to repair or 

exchange defective products under service-type warranties. 

As a rule, there are no assurance-type warranties. 

Cost of sales comprises the manufacturing costs of the 

products sold and the purchase costs of the merchandise 

sold. In accordance with IAS 2 – Inventories, the costs of 

self-constructed products also include all production-related 

overheads including production-related depreciation and 

amortization in addition to directly attributable costs such as 

the cost of materials and labor costs. 

This item also includes product-related development costs 

(minus capitalized development costs) and logistics costs. 

Development costs are recognized as an expense in the 

period in which they are incurred. FRIWO capitalizes inter-

nally generated intangible assets if the requirements of 

IAS 38 are met, in particular if they are realizable, have an 

economic benefit and sufficient resources are available. 

As of December 31, 2024, development expenses amount-

ing to EUR 0.5 million were capitalized, which were incurred 

in 2023 and 2024 and are allocated to five development pro-

jects. As of the end of fiscal 2024, nine development projects 

related to the joint venture were deactivated in the amount 

of EUR 0.7 million and recognized in other operating ex-

penses because the joint venture is classified as an asset 

held for sale. Capitalized development expenses are re-

ported on the assets side of the statement of financial posi-

tion under intangible assets. The capitalized expenses are 

amortized on a straight-line basis over the useful life after 

the development project is completed. The useful life on 

which the amortization of capitalized development costs is 

based depends on the product life cycle and generally 

amounts to three to five years. The conclusion of the devel-

opment project constitutes the start of series production. 

There was no depreciation in the reporting year because the 

capitalized projects had not yet been put into series produc-

tion. The first depreciation on capitalized development costs 

is expected in 2025. 

The assets or disposal groups held for sale are assets 

that are highly likely to be sold.  
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The sale must be expected to be completed within one year 

from the date of classification as a completed sale. These 

may be individual non-current assets or groups of assets 

(disposal groups) (discontinued operations). 

An impairment test in accordance with IAS 36 is performed 

one last time before reclassification as “assets held for 

sale.” 

Assets intended for sale are no longer depreciated accord-

ing to schedule but are instead valued at their fair value mi-

nus selling costs if this is lower than the book value. 

Deferred taxes are calculated in accordance with IAS 12 

on temporary differences between the carrying amounts 

stated in the consolidated statement of financial position 

and the carrying amounts for tax purposes and on any loss 

carryforwards that may be deductible against tax. The tax 

relief or tax charges that will probably occur because of 

these differences in the future are recognized as assets or 

liabilities. Deferred tax assets on tax loss carryforwards are 

recognized only if realization of the claims to a reduction in 

tax from the anticipated use of loss carryforwards is reason-

ably certain in subsequent years. Please also refer to 

Note (6b) regarding the correction of errors in the previous 

year. 

If the charges or relief based on deferred taxes are recog-

nized in equity through other comprehensive income, the 

creation or reversal of deferred taxes also takes place 

through other comprehensive income. Consolidation 

measures also result in deferred tax measures. 

Deferred taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax rates 

applicable or anticipated in the relevant countries at the time 

of realization in accordance with the current legal situation. 

A tax rate of 30 percent (previous year: 30 percent) is used 

for domestic companies. 

If deferred tax assets exceed the amount of deferred tax 

liabilities, impairment is assessed on the basis of the antic-

ipated trend in revenue at the respective Group company. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are netted if the conditions 

for netting are met. 

Financial instruments: financial assets within the mean-

ing of IFRS 9 are measured at fair value upon initial recog-

nition, with the exception of trade receivables without a fi-

nancing component, which are measured at their transaction 

price upon initial recognition. They are subsequently recog-

nized at amortized cost, at fair value in other comprehensive 

income (with or without recycling) or at fair value in profit or 

loss. 

The classification of financial instruments is based on the 

business model in which the instruments are held and the 

composition of the contractual cash flows. 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are non-deriv-

ative financial assets with contractual payments that consist 

solely of interest and principal payments on the outstanding 

nominal amount and that are held with the aim of receiving 

the contractually agreed cash flows such as trade receiva-

bles or cash and cash equivalents. 

Subsequent to initial recognition, these financial assets are 

measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 

method less impairment. Gains or losses are recognized in 

the consolidated profit or loss if loans and receivables are 

derecognized or impaired. The effects of currency translation 

are also recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment of financial assets: financial assets (except fi-

nancial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss 

and equity instruments measured at fair value through other 

comprehensive income), contract assets pursuant to 

IFRS 15, lease receivables, loan commitments and financial 

guarantees are subject to the impairment model defined in 

IFRS 9.5.5. 
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The amount of impairment is measured in line with the ex-

pected loan losses. Expected loan losses result from the dif-

ference between the contractually agreed cash flows and the 

expected cash flows, measured at present value using the 

original effective interest rate. 

Expected credit losses are recognized in three stages. For fi-

nancial assets for which there has been no significant in-

crease in default risk since initial recognition, the loss allow-

ance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month expected 

credit losses (stage 1). In the event of a significant increase in 

default risk, the expected credit loss for the remaining term of 

the asset is determined (stage 2). FRIWO assumes in princi-

ple that the credit risk has increased significantly if receivables 

are 30 days past due. This principle can be rebutted if, in the 

respective individual case, there is reliable and supportable 

information indicating that the credit risk has not increased. If 

there are objective indications of impairment, the underlying 

assets must be allocated to stage 3. 

The classes of assets largely of relevance to FRIWO for the 

application of the impairment model are trade receivables and 

contract assets, for which the simplified approach pursuant to 

IFRS 9.5.15 is applied. Accordingly, the loss allowance is al-

ways measured at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit 

losses. See Note (39) in the “Credit Risk” section for more de-

tails on the calculation of expected credit losses. There were 

no significant expected credit losses for all other assets sub-

ject to the impairment model pursuant to IFRS 9.5.5. 

FRIWO generally assumes a default if contractual payments 

are more than 90 days past due. In individual cases, it also 

uses internal or external information that indicates that the 

contractual payments cannot be made in full. Financial assets 

are derecognized when there is no justifiable expectation of 

future payment. 

Derecognition of financial assets: a financial asset (or a 

part of a financial asset or a part of a group of similar financial 

assets) is derecognized when the corresponding conditions 

of IFRS 9.3.2.3 et seq. are met. A financial liability is derecog-

nized if the underlying obligation relating to the liability is set-

tled, canceled or expires. 

Intangible assets are recognized in accordance with the pro-

visions in IAS 38 at the cost of purchase or manufacture and 

subject to scheduled straight-line amortization over their prob-

able economic useful life. The useful life of intangible assets 

(excluding goodwill) amounts to three to six years. The amor-

tization period and method are reviewed in each period. If 

there are indications of impairment and the recoverable 

amount is less than the amortized cost, the intangible assets 

are amortized on an unscheduled basis. If the reasons for the 

unscheduled amortization end, the assets are written up ac-

cordingly. 

Amortization of intangible assets is recognized either in cost 

of sales or in selling or administration expenses in accordance 

with their objective allocation. 

Goodwill is not subject to scheduled amortization but is 

tested for impairment once a year. A review is also carried out 

if events or circumstances occur that indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable. Impairment charges on 

goodwill are not reversed. 

Property, plant and equipment are measured at amortized 

cost in accordance with IAS 16. In the case of internally con-

structed equipment, the manufacturing costs include all pro-

duction-related overheads, including production-related de-

preciation and amortization in addition to direct costs. As a 

rule, borrowing costs are not included in the costs of purchase 

or manufacture. If they can be assigned directly to the acqui-

sition, construction or manufacture of a qualified asset, they 

are capitalized in accordance with IAS 23 – Borrowing Costs. 

There are currently no applications for this. 
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Property, plant and equipment with a limited useful life is de-

preciated on a straight-line basis over its expected useful 

life, unless there are indications of impairment based on the 

actual useful life. 

Scheduled depreciation on property, plant and equipment is 

essentially based on the following useful lives: 

Buildings 8 to 50 years 

Technical equipment and machinery 3 to 15 years 

Operating and office equipment 3 to 15 years 

Vehicles 6 to 8 years 

The useful lives and depreciation methods used are re-

viewed in each period to ensure that the depreciation meth-

ods and periods correspond to the expected economic ben-

efits from the respective items of property, plant and equip-

ment. 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is recognized 

either in cost of sales or in selling or administration expenses 

in accordance with their objective allocation. 

More complex property, plant and equipment that consist of 

clearly separable components with different useful lives are 

divided into these components for the purposes of determin-

ing depreciation. Depreciation is then calculated using the 

useful lives of the individual components. 

Servicing and repair costs are recognized as an expense. 

Maintenance expenses are capitalized if they increase the 

asset’s future potential useful life. 

IAS 40 does not contain any disclosure requirements for in-

vestment property. Investment property is reported sepa-

rately from property, plant and equipment on the assets side 

of the statement of financial position.  

This item comprises land and buildings used to generate 

rental income. Financial investments are measured using 

the cost model. The fair value additionally disclosed in the 

notes was determined on the basis of a capitalized earnings 

valuation. 

Investments recorded using the equity method are ini-

tially measured at the historic cost of the investment. In sub-

sequent years, the historic cost is amended to reflect the 

share of the net assets attributable to FRIWO. Here, the 

carrying amounts are adjusted each year by the pro rata 

results, distributions and all other changes in equity. Good-

will is not shown separately but recognized in the carrying 

amount of the investment. It is not depreciated on a sched-

uled basis. Investments recorded using the equity method 

are written down on an unscheduled basis if the recovera-

ble amount is less than the carrying amount. 

Impairment of non-current, non-financial assets: on 

each closing date, the Group assesses whether there is any 

indication that an asset may be impaired. If there are such 

indications of impairment or an annual impairment test of 

the asset is required, the Group estimates the recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount for an asset is the higher 

of the fair value of an asset or cash-generating unit (CGU) 

less costs to sell and its value in use. The recoverable 

amount is determined for each individual asset unless the 

asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely inde-

pendent of those from other assets or groups of assets. If 

the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable 

amount, the asset is considered to be impaired and its value 

is written down to its recoverable amount. To calculate the 

value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted 

to present value using an interest rate before taxes that re-

flects the present market assessment of the interest effect 

and the specific risks relating to the asset. Impairment 

losses of continuing operations are recognized in the ex-

pense categories that correspond to the function of the im-

paired asset. 
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The Group assesses on each reporting date whether an im-

pairment recognized in previous periods no longer exists or 

may have decreased; goodwill impairment is not included in 

these assessments. If there are indications that this is the 

case, the recoverable amount is estimated. An impairment 

loss recognized at an earlier time must then be reversed if 

there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 

the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment 

loss was recognized. If this is the case, the carrying amount 

of the asset shall be increased to its recoverable amount. 

This increased carrying amount must not exceed the carry-

ing amount that would result after taking into account depre-

ciation if no impairment loss had been recognized in previ-

ous years. Such an increase in the carrying amount must be 

recognized immediately in the profit or loss for the reporting 

period. 

In accordance with IAS 2 – Inventories, inventories are 

stated at cost or the lower net realizable value on the closing 

date in compliance with the principle of item-by-item valua-

tion. The average method is applied to items that are inter-

changeable in accordance with IAS 2.25. 

Manufacturing costs comprise direct materials, production 

costs and all production-related overheads including produc-

tion-related depreciation and amortization. Interest ex-

penses are not included in the costs of purchase or manu-

facture. 

Contract balances: if one of the parties to the contract has 

performed their contractual obligations, a contract asset or 

contract liability is recognized depending on whether FRIWO 

has supplied the service or the customer has made the pay-

ment. Contract assets and liabilities are shown as current as 

they have accrued within the normal business cycle. Receiv-

ables are shown if the claim to receive consideration is no 

longer subject to any condition. 

Receivables and other assets are accounted for at amor-

tized cost. Receivables in foreign currency are translated 

using the closing rate in accordance with IAS 21 and differ-

ences from this translation are recognized in profit or loss. 

Impairment is measured using the expected credit loss 

(ECL) model in accordance with IFRS 9. 

Miscellaneous trade receivables are measured in accord-

ance with the simplified impairment model in compliance 

with IFRS 9. Here, the average default rates based on past 

due times are used to calculate the expected losses. 

The cash and cash equivalents item in the statement of fi-

nancial position comprises cash in hand, balances with 

banks and current deposits. 

Provisions for pensions are reported on the liabilities side 

in accordance with the requirements of IAS 19. 

Retirement benefit obligations from direct pension commit-

ments are determined in accordance with the projected unit 

credit method, taking account of future changes to salaries 

and pensions. The present value of the obligation (DBO) is 

calculated by discounting the anticipated future cash out-

flows by an interest rate based on the interest rates on high-

quality corporate bonds. 

The interest portions of changes in provisions for pension 

are reported in the financial result and other expenses in the 

applicable positions in each case. 

Other provisions are accounted for in accordance with 

IAS 37. They are recognized only when the company has a 

present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past 

event and it is probable that an outflow of resources embod-

ying economic benefits will be required to settle the obliga-

tion and the amount of the obligation can be reliably esti-

mated. The reported provisions sufficiently cover the risks in 

the consolidated financial statements resulting from obliga-

tions to third parties. The calculation is based on the proba-

ble utilization. 
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Provisions with a probable residual term of more than one 

year are stated at present value if the effect is material. Pro-

visions where utilization is expected within one year are re-

ported under current provisions. 

Restructuring provisions: provisions for restructuring 

measures are recognized if the Group has drawn up a de-

tailed, formal restructuring plan and this has been communi-

cated to the parties concerned or implementation has begun 

before the closing date. 

Liabilities are measured at amortized cost. Liabilities in for-

eign currency are translated at the closing date rate. Any dif-

ferences arising compared with the rate when they were first 

recognized are netted through profit or loss. Interest is paid 

at market rates on non-current financial liabilities at FRIWO, 

meaning that the carrying amount is essentially equal to the 

fair value. 

Leases: for all new contracts coming into effect on or after 

January 1, 2019, the Group checks whether the contract 

constitutes or contains a lease. However, the regulations of 

IFRS 16 are not applied to rights of use to intangible assets 

by exercising the option in question. 

A lease is defined as a contract or part of a contract that 

grants the right to use an asset for a specific period in return 

for a fee. To apply this definition, the Group assesses 

whether the contract fulfills the following three conditions: 

▪ The contract relates to an identified asset. 

▪ The Group has the right to obtain substantially all the eco-

nomic benefits from use of the identified asset during the 

entire useful life, taking account of its rights within the de-

fined scope of the contract. 

▪ The Group has the right to determine use of the identified 

asset during the entire useful life. 

Each separate lease component is accounted for separately 

in the case of contracts with several separate lease compo-

nents. In the case of contracts that contain non-lease com-

ponents in addition to lease components, use is made of the 

option of not separating these components. 

The Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease lia-

bility in the statement of financial position on the date the 

lease asset is made available. On initial recognition, the his-

torical cost of the right-of-use asset corresponds to the 

amount of the lease liability, adjusted for the Group’s initial 

direct costs, an estimate of the costs for dismantling and re-

moving the asset at the end of the lease and the lease pay-

ments paid before the lease starts less possible lease incen-

tives. In subsequent periods, the right-of-use asset is meas-

ured at amortized cost. 

The lease liability is measured as the present value of the 

lease payments paid during the term of the lease, using the 

interest rate on which the lease is based or, if this is not avail-

able, the incremental borrowing rate. As part of the subse-

quent measurement, the carrying amount of the lease liabil-

ity is increased using the interest rate used for discounting 

and reduced by the lease payments made. 

The lease payments included in the measurement of the 

lease liability comprise fixed payments (including de facto 

fixed payments) and variable payments that are linked to an 

exchange rate. 

At present, the existing contractual agreements do not con-

tain any residual value guarantees, termination or extension 

options of relevance for measurement. Accordingly, there 

were no penalties for possible terminations to be taken into 

account. 
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Changes to leases and remeasurements of lease liabilities 

are generally recognized directly in equity against the right-

of-use asset. They are recognized in profit or loss in the in-

come statement if the carrying amount of the right-of-use 

assets has already been reduced to zero or if this occurs 

because the lease has been partially terminated. 

FRIWO depreciates the right-of-use assets on a straight-line 

basis from the date the lease asset is made available until 

the earlier of the end of the lease asset’s economic life or 

until the end of the contract term. FRIWO also checks for 

impairment if there are indications to this effect. 

FRIWO has opted to make use of the practical expedients 

for short-term leases and low-value leases, although there 

are presently no use cases for the latter. Instead of record-

ing a right-of-use asset and a matching lease liability, the 

payments associated with these types of leases are recog-

nized on a straight-line basis as expense in the income 

statement over the term of the lease. 

Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are shown sepa-

rately in the statement of financial position. 

When recognizing leases in the statement of financial posi-

tion, the management of the Group takes the assumptions 

and estimates shown below as a basis with respect to de-

termining the discount rate. 

If the Group does not know the interest rate on which the 

lease is based, a matched-term, country- and currency-spe-

cific risk-equivalent incremental borrowing rate is deter-

mined on the basis of existing financing. 

Management does not believe that contract-specific adjust-

ments are necessary under the existing leases and therefore 

does not take them into account. 

FRIWO reviews the parameters for deriving the incremental 

borrowing rate as required (conclusion of major new con-

tracts). 

The Group acts as lessor for parts of the property in Ostbev-

ern in the 2024 fiscal year under an operating lease in con-

nection with IAS 40. Intragroup leases are not recognized in 

accordance with IFRS 16 but are treated similarly to the 

agreements previously classified as operating leases at the 

lessee. 

Contingent liabilities are not recognized as liabilities in the 

consolidated financial statements until utilization is probable. 

They are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 

statements unless it is unlikely that they will be utilized. As 

an international company involved in various areas of busi-

ness, FRIWO is exposed to a large number of legal risks. In 

particular, these may include risks from product liability, war-

ranties, tax law, promised rights from corporate transactions 

and other legal disputes. The outcome of pending or future 

litigation cannot be predicted with reasonable assurance – 

hence, court decisions might result in expenses that are not 

fully covered by the insurance in place and that could have 

a material impact on the company’s business and its results. 

In the assessment of the Management Board, no unac-

counted-for decisions that may have a material impact on 

the company’s net assets, financial position and results of 

operations are expected in the legal proceedings that are 

pending at the financial statement closing date. 

Events after the financial statement closing date that pro-

vide additional information on the position of the company as 

of the closing date are taken into account in the statement of 

financial position. Non-adjusting events after the financial 

statement closing date are solely dealt with in the notes to 

the financial statements (see Note (47)). 
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(9) Consolidated Companies 

The consolidated financial statements include FRIWO AG 

and all German and foreign companies controlled by 

FRIWO AG through direct or indirect majority voting rights. 

According to IFRS 10, FRIWO AG controls an investee 

when it is exposed to variable returns from its involvement 

with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns 

through its power over the investee. 

The scope of consolidation comprises two German and four 

foreign companies. Please refer to the shareholdings shown 

in Note (45). 

A foreign joint venture was included in the consolidated fi-

nancial statements using the equity method in 2024 (see 

Note (22)). 
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Segment Reporting of the FRIWO Group 

(10) Segment Reporting 

A business segment within the meaning of IFRS 8 is char-

acterized, among other things, by the fact that its operating 

results are regularly reviewed by the company’s chief oper-

ating decision-maker to make decisions about resources to 

be allocated to the segment and assess its performance. 

Accordingly, the FRIWO Group’s chief operating decision-

maker is the Management Board of FRIWO AG, which has 

central decision-making powers about the allocation of ma-

jor resources. 

The Management Board has access to various analyses 

from the regular internal reporting from Group companies, 

which analyze the company’s performance from different 

perspectives in each case. 

Here, the regional aspect plays a very important role in var-

ious forms. In this respect, the Management Board views 

regional differentiation as the fundamental criterion pursu-

ant to IFRS 8 for the segment report. 

Segments are defined by revenue for the regions Germany, 

Other Europe, Asia (excluding Japan) and Others. Reve-

nue is allocated regionally according to customers’ delivery 

addresses. Other business activities contain the expenses 

of the holding company that cannot be allocated to a re-

gional segment. 

 

Segment Information 
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2024         

Revenue 31,030 51,050 7,146 3,797 0 93,023 0 93,023 

Depreciation and 
amortization 

1,492 1,724 219 142 0 3,577 0 3,577 

Operating earnings -1,206 1,023 -1,145 106 -1,960 -3,181 0 -3,181 

2023         

Revenue 44,297 44,813 14,648 7,318 0 111,076 0 111,076 

Depreciation and 
amortization 

2,362 1,759 456 279 0 4,856 0 4,856 

Operating earnings 906 -1,074 -2,758 182 -1,805 -4,550 0 -4,550 
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Reconciliation of Segment Results 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023* 

Operating earnings of reportable segments -3,181 -4,550 

Other operating expenses and income -425 -2,819 

Income from investments recorded using the equity method 43 -280 

Interest income 21 12 

Interest expenses -3,560 -3,444 

Income taxes 852 -436 

Consolidated net income -6,249 -11,517 

 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 

There are no intersegment activities. The segments are as-

sessed on the basis of operating earnings. Financing and 

tax effects as well as other income or expenses are not 

taken into account. Since the internal reporting follows the 

principles of IFRS accounting, there are no reconciliation ef-

fects. 

German sites accounted for 60 percent (previous 

year: 46 percent) and foreign sites for 40 percent (previous 

year: 54 percent) of the non-current fixed assets’ carrying 

amounts. 

The operating earnings of the reporting segments are deter-

mined by allocating depreciation and amortization asymmet-

rically based on this breakdown to the segments in accord-

ance with the contribution of each site to the revenue of the 

respective segment. 

In 2024, EUR 80.9 million (previous year: EUR 100.0 mil-

lion) of revenue was recognized over time and 

EUR 12.1 million (previous year: EUR 11.1 million) at a 

point in time. 

In 2024, FRIWO Group revenue broke down as follows: 

EUR 34.9 million to the power supply units (previous year: 

EUR 50.6 million), EUR 46.8 million to charging units (pre-

vious year: EUR 52.3 million) and EUR 11.3 million to “Oth-

ers” (previous year: EUR 8.2 million). 

One customer located in the geographical areas of Ger-

many, Other Europe and Asia accounted for EUR 26.6 mil-

lion (previous year: EUR 20.0 million) or 28.6 percent (pre-

vious year: 18.0 percent) of total revenue in the reporting 

year. Another customer accounted for EUR 10.4 million 

or 11.2 percent (previous year: EUR 18.8 million; 16.9 per-

cent) of total revenue in the reporting year. 
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Notes to the Income Statement 

(11) Revenue 

The trend in revenue by region and product group is pre-

sented in the segment reporting in accordance with IFRS 8. 

The transaction price, which was allocated to (partially) un-

fulfilled performance obligations on the closing date, 

amounted to EUR 30.2 million (previous year: 

EUR 35.9 million). Of this figure, it is anticipated that 

EUR 26.6 million (previous year: EUR 29.2 million) will be 

realized as revenue in the coming period. 

(12) Selling Expenses 

Selling expenses include personnel and material costs in-

curred by the sales departments as well as advertising 

costs and commission expenses. 

(13) General Administrative Expenses 

This section includes personnel and non-personnel costs for 

administration as well as costs for external services. In 

the 2023 fiscal year, this item included restructuring and per-

sonnel expenses of EUR 2.2 million. They are attributable to 

the restructuring report from December 2023, which was up-

dated together with the restructuring expert and provided for 

the Ostbevern site to be restructured into a pure holding, 

sales and development site. The sale of the Ostbevern pro-

duction site has eliminated a large part of the restructuring 

costs envisaged in the restructuring plan. Nevertheless, the 

plan provided for further measures to restructure individual 

functional areas. The implementation of these measures be-

gan in December 2023, which is why the associated ex-

penses were recognized as a provision. The plan was re-

viewed and adjusted again following another revision of the 

restructuring report in 2024, in particular with respect to the 

decisions to sell off the e-drives business and the DIN rail 

power supply business. The restructuring provision was uti-

lized and reversed in 2024 on this basis. 

(14) Other Operating Expenses and In-
come 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Losses from disposals of property, 
plant and equipment 

-106 -3 

Currency losses -5,573 -11,003 

Other expenses -1,757 -2,540 

Other operating expenses -7,436 -13,546 

Income from disposals of property, 
plant and equipment 

777 0 

Currency gains 5,149 10,174 

Other income 1,086 553 

Other operating income 7,012 10,728 

Other operating expenses/income 
(net) 

-425 -2,819 

 

Other expenses include special expenses related to the di-

vestment of the DIN rail power supply business and the di-

vestment of the e-drives business (see Note (28)), including 

legal and consulting fees necessary for the M&A transac-

tions (EUR 488 thousand). 

Currency gains and currency losses resulted from the for-

eign currency measurement of receivables and liabilities in 

VND and USD and virtually canceled each other out. 
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(15) Financial Result 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Investment result 43 -280 

Other interest and similar income 21 12 

Interest and similar expenses -3,489 -3,370 

Interest portion in the allocations to 

provisions for pensions and other 

post-employment benefits 

-71 -75 

Financial result -3,496 -3,713 

 

The improvement in the financial result year on year is 

mainly due to a positive investment result and lower inter-

est expenses from factoring in the amount of 

EUR 736 thousand (2023: EUR 1,037 thousand). 

Interest and similar expenses include interest expenses for 

bank debts of EUR 2,071 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 1,550 thousand), interest expenses for shareholder 

loans of EUR 618 thousand (previous year: EUR 616 thou-

sand) and interest expenses for lease liabilities of 

EUR 58 thousand (previous year: EUR 167 thousand). 

(16) Income Taxes 

This item comprises the income taxes paid or accrued in 

the individual countries, plus deferred taxes. Income taxes 

are calculated in accordance with IAS 12 and break down 

as follows: 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023* 

Current income taxes -722 -448 

Taxes from previous years -60 22 

Deferred income taxes 1,634 -10 

 852 -436 
 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are ex-
plained in Note (6b). 

Current income taxes include EUR 482 thousand for with-

holding tax payable in Vietnam. 

The income tax liabilities recognized in the statement of fi-

nancial position relate primarily to foreign withholding taxes. 
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The deferred taxes reported relate to the following items in the statement of financial position: 

 2024 2023* 

In EUR thousand As-
sets 

Liabili-
ties 

As-
sets 

Liabil-
ities 

Intangible assets 0 160 0 290 

Inventories 291 24 41 89 

Receivables, contract assets and other 
assets 

141 855 61 1,508 

Provisions for pensions 295 127 710 551 

Other provisions 12 3 16 5 

Other liabilities 0 134 0 180 

Tax loss carryforwards 2,258 0 1,796 0 

 2,996 1,303 2,624 2,624 

Offset -1,303 -1,303 -2,624 -2,624 

Consolidated statement of financial 
position 

1,693 0 0 0 
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Intangible assets -160 -290 130 130 0 0 

Inventories 267 -48 315 315 0 0 

Receivables, contract assets and 

other assets -714 -1,447 733 733 0 0 

Provisions for pensions 168 159 9 -50 59 0 

Other provisions 10 11 -1 -1 0 0 

Other liabilities -134 -180 46 46 0 0 

Tax loss carryforwards 2,258 1,796 462 462 0 0 

Consolidated statement of financial 
position 

1,693 0 1,693 1,634 59 0 

 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are explained in Note (6b). 
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Total loss carryforwards (for corporate income tax and trade 

tax) amount to EUR 63.0 million. Deferred tax assets of 

EUR 1.7 million (previous year: EUR 0.0 million) were rec-

ognized for losses incurred in Germany in the amount of 

EUR 14.2 million (previous year: EUR 16.0 million). 

This recognition is based on the assumption that loss car-

ryforwards will be partially utilized in the five-year period be-

ginning in the current 2025 fiscal year. 

No deferred tax assets (EUR 14.9 million; previous year: 

EUR 10.6 million) were recognized on the additional tax 

loss carryforwards of EUR 48.8 million (previous year: 

EUR 34.9 million). 

The following table shows the reconciliation from the no-

tional to the actual tax expense: 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023* 

Earnings before taxes -7,101 -11,081 

Expected tax expense1) -2,162 -3,374 

Tax rate differences -244 -112 

Non-recognition of deferred tax as-

sets 
2,001 3,861 

Non-deductible other ex-

penses 
126 99 

Capital increase transactions 0 0 

Taxes for previous years -60 22 

Tax-free foreign earnings -514 -38 

Other, net 0 -22 

Actual tax expense -852 436 

 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are ex-

plained in Note (6b). 

1) Expected tax expense at a tax rate for FRIWO AG of 30 per-

cent (previous year: 30 percent) 

(17) Earnings per Share 

Earnings per share are calculated in accordance with IAS 33 

– Earnings per Share on the basis of consolidated net in-

come and amounted to EUR -0.73 for 2024 (previous year: 

EUR -1.35). The number of shares (8.6 million shares) did 

not change in the reporting year compared to the previous 

year. 

Since there are no financial instruments outstanding that 

can be converted into shares, basic and diluted earnings 

per share are identical. 

 2024 2023* 

Number of shares issued 
8,554,496 8,554,496 

Consolidated net income in 

EUR thousand 

-6,249 -11,517 

Earnings per share (in EUR) -0.73 -1.35 

 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are ex-
plained in Note (6b). 
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Other Income Statement Disclosures 

(18) Research and Development Costs 

Expenses for research and development of EUR 3.3 million 

were recognized in the reporting year (previous year: 

EUR 4.4 million). Expenses were reduced by charges 

passed on to the joint venture in India (EUR 1.8 million) and 

from the capitalization of development costs in intangible as-

sets (EUR 0.5 million). Group-wide expenditures for re-

search and development, not adjusted for these effects, 

amounted to EUR 5.6 million. The costs, which largely con-

stitute expenses for the project-related development of the 

product range, are included in the cost of sales. 

(19) Other Income Statement Disclosures 

Cost of sales, selling expenses and general administration 

expenses include the following types of expenditure: 

Cost of Materials 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Cost of raw materials, supplies and 

merchandise purchased 56,745 64,562 

Cost of purchased services 869 1,312 

 57,614 65,874 
 

Personnel Expenses 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Wages and salaries 16,471 23,702 

Expenses for social security 2,449 3,464 

Expenses for pensions and other 

benefits 
35 3 

 18,955 27,169 

Number of Employees 

On average, the Group’s employee numbers in the fiscal 
year were as follows: 

Number of employees 2024 2023 

Germany 100 160 

Abroad 1,184 1,779 

 1,284 1,939 

As of December 31, 2024, 1,206 staff members (previous 

year: 1,701) were employed in the Group, of whom 85 (pre-

vious year: 155) were in Germany. 

Depreciation and Amortization 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Amortization of intangible assets 
956 848 

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment 

1,800 2,351 

Depreciation of investment property 9 0 

Amortization and depreciation of 

right-of-use assets in accordance 

with IFRS 16 

812 1,081 

Impairment under IFRS 5 0 577 

 3,577 4,856 
 

The impairment from IFRS 5 in the previous year results 

from the sale of production in Ostbevern. This decision re-

sulted in a fair value impairment of EUR -577.3 thousand 

being recognized. 
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Notes to the Cash Flow Statement 

(20) Cash Flow Statement 

A reconciliation between the opening and closing figures for liabilities from financing activities is shown be-

low: 
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As of 01/01/2023 0 11,586 21,996 4,838 38,420 

Cash changes 0 0 -1,378 -1,121 -2,499 

Non-cash changes 1,840 616 -1,840 -2,215 -1,599 

As of 12/31/2023 1,840 12,202 18,778 1,502 34,321 

Cash changes 0 0 -2,318 163 -2,155 

Non-cash changes -1,840 618 2,099 -3 874 

As of 12/31/2024 0 12,820 18,559 1,662 33,040 
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Notes to the Statement of Financial Position 

(21) Fixed Assets 

Statement of changes in assets of the FRIWO Group for the 2024 and 2023 fiscal years 

2024 

In EUR thousand 

Cost of Purchase 
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Intangible assets        

Internally generated industrial property 

rights and similar assets 
752 476 693 0 0 0 535 

Goodwill 2,503 0 0 -2,503 0 0 0 

Industrial property rights and similar 

rights and assets 
9,194 24 352 -526 4 2 8,346 

 12,448 500 1,045 -3,029 4 2 8,881 

Property, plant and equipment        

Land and buildings 10,724 1 0 0 -211 4 10,517 

Technical equipment and machinery 16,686 81 6,260 -1,811 138 14 8,848 

Other plant, factory and office 

equipment 
19,610 558 3,993 -2,139 264 27 14,327 

Prepayments made and as-

sets under construction 
422 286 0 0 -427 0 281 

 47,442 926 10,254 -3,950 -235 44 33,973 

Financial assets        

Investments 2,013 43 0 -2,057 0 0 0 

Investment property 
0 0 0 0 231 0 231 

 2,013 43 0 -2,057 231 0 231 

 

2023 

In EUR thousand 

Cost of Purchase 

0
1

/0
1

/2
0

2
3
 

A
d

d
it
io

n
s
 

D
is

p
o
s
a

ls
 

IF
R

S
 5

 

D
is

p
o
s
a

l 

G
ro

u
p

s
 

H
e
ld

 f
o

r 

S
a

le
 

R
e
c
la

s
s
if
i-

c
a

ti
o

n
s
 

E
x
c
h
a

n
g

e
 

D
if
fe

re
n
c
e
s
 

1
2

/3
1

/2
0

2
3
 

Intangible assets        

Goodwill 2,503 0 0  0 0 2,503 

Industrial property rights and 

similar rights and assets 
5,970 285 0  2,957 -18 9,194 

Advance payments for intangible 

assets 
2,957 752 0  -2,957 0 752 

 11,430 1,037 0 0 0 -18 12,448 

Property, plant and equipment        

Land and buildings 10,461 142 0  225 -104 10,724 

Technical equipment and machinery 17,600 311 0 -5,041 261 -593 12,538 

Other plant, factory and office 

equipment 
18,987 764 0  101 -241 19,610 

Prepayments made and as-

sets under construction 
440 695 115 

 
-587 -11 422 

 47,488 1,912 115 -5,041 0 -950 43,294 

 



83 FRIWO Annual Report 2024  

 

 

 

Depreciation and Amortization 
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0 0 0 0 0 0 

2,350 0 0 -2,350 0 0 

6,165 956 352 -526 2 6,245 

8,515 956 352 -2,876 2 6,245 

      

9,048 181 -34 0 4 9,267 

14,774 642 6,483 -1,336 20 7,618 

17,044 977 3,827 -1,374 27 12,847 

0 0 0 0 0 0 

40,866 1,800 10,276 -2,709 50 29,731 

      

440 0 0 -440 0 0 

0 9 0 0 0 9 

440 9 0 -440 0 9 
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2,350 0 0  0 2,350 

5,334 848 0  -16 6,165 

0 0 0  0 0 

7,684 848 0 0 -16 8,515 

      

8,917 175 0  -44 9,048 

13,806 803 0 -3,571 -411 10,626 

15,843 1,375 0  -174 17,044 

0 0 0 
 

0 0 

38,566 2,352 0 -3,571 -629 36,718 
 

Carrying Amount 
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535 752 

0 153 

2,100 3,028 

2,636 3,933 

  

1,250 1,676 

1,230 1,912 

1,480 2,566 

281 422 

4,241 6,575 

  

0 1,574 

222 0 

222 1,574 
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153 153 

3,028 636 

752 2,957 

3,933 3,746 

  

1,676 1,544 

1,912 3,794 

2,566 3,144 

422 439 

6,575 8,921 
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The development projects taken into account for capitalized 

development costs are currently still under development. 

For this reason, no depreciation has been recognized 

in 2024. 

Fixed assets are subject to collateral agreements; see 

Note (32). 

Further disclosures on investment property: 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 

Land 147 

Buildings 75 

Investment property 222 

 

In EUR thousand 2024 

Rental income (lease income) 400 

Expenses -86 

Depreciation and amortization -9 

 306 
 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 

Investment property  

Fair value 3,581 
 

Testing Cash-Generating Units (CGUs) with Goodwill for 

Impairment 

The goodwill of the FRIWO Germany CGU of EUR 153 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 153 thousand) is insignificant in re-

lation to the total goodwill. 

No impairment was required for the CGU. The transfers of the 

relevant fixed assets related to the divestments (e-drives 

business and DIN rail power supply business) do not indicate 

any need for impairment in 2024. As part of the sale of the e-

drives business, goodwill amounting to EUR 153 thousand 

will be disposed of in 2025. Accordingly, goodwill will be re-

classified as assets held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5. 

Testing Assets and Cash-Generating Units Without Good-

will for Impairment 

FRIWO checks whether there are any indicators that non-cur-

rent assets require recognition of impairment. In accordance 

with IAS 36, an impairment test as part of the measurement 

of non-current assets is triggered by a triggering event. 

The decision to sell the e-drives business and the DIN rail 

power supply business constitute triggering events that re-

quired an impairment test in accordance with IAS 36 (see 

Note (28)). 

In recent years, there were no indicators that would have had 

any impact on the recoverability of non-current assets. 
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(22) Investments Recorded Using the Equity 
Method 

 

The only company recorded using the equity method is the 

joint venture UNO MINDA EV SYSTEMS PVT. LTD., North 

West Delhi, Delhi, India, with the UNO MINDA Group, in 

which FRIWO holds an interest of 49.9 percent. 

The object of the joint venture is the development and 

sale of e-mobility drive solutions for two- and three-wheel 

vehicles in India. The closing date for the joint venture 

is March 31 of each fiscal year, which corresponds to 

the closing date of the joint venture partner. 

Investments Recorded Using the Equity Method – Reconciliation 
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2023 840 1,014 -280 0 1,574 

2024 1,574 0 43 0 1,617 

 

The following tables contain the material items of the aggregated statement of financial position and the 

aggregated income statement of the company recorded using the equity method. 

Investments Recorded Using the Equity Method – Statement of Financial Position Data as of December 31 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Non-current assets 7,992 7,938 

Current assets 18,242 11,184 

Current liabilities (including provisions) 17,861 9,808 

Non-current liabilities (including provisions) 5,784 6,809 

Cash and cash equivalents 729 236 

Current financial liabilities 16,890 9,680 

Non-current financial liabilities 5,681 6,731 

Equity 2,589 2,505 

Percentage share 49.9 49.9 

Proportionate equity 1,292 1,250 

Group adjustments 0 0 

Carrying amount of the investment 1,617 1,574 
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Investments Recorded Using the Equity Method – Earnings Data 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Revenue 3,958 1,755 

Annual result from continuing operations 87 -561 

Scheduled depreciation and amortization -87 -44 

Interest income 0 0 

Interest expenses -732 -382 

Income taxes 0 -209 

Dividend paid to FRIWO 0 0 

Other comprehensive income 0 0 

Total comprehensive income 87 -561 

Percentage share 49.9 49.9 

Pro rata annual earnings after taxes 43 -280 

Pro rata other comprehensive income after taxes 0 0 

Pro rata total comprehensive income after taxes 43 -280 

Group adjustments 0 0 

Income from investments recorded using the equity method 43 -280 

 

The carrying amount of the investment was reclassified to assets held for sale in accordance with 

IFRS 5 following the sale of the e-drives business. The carrying amount of the investment will be 

derecognized upon the final closing of the sale in fiscal 2025 (see Note (28)). 



 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 87 

 

 

 

(23) Right-of-Use Assets 

The following table shows the changes in right-of-use assets 

accounted for by the Group. 

The figures were as follows in the previous year: 
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Cost of purchase  Cost of purchase  

As of 01/01/2024 4,355 78 167 4,600 

Additions 1,005 0 0 1,005 

Disposals 220 0 0 220 

Remeasurement 0 0 0 0 

Currency translation 14 0 0 14 

As of 12/31/2024 5,155 78 167 5,400 
 

As of 01/01/2023 6,791 78 163 7,032 

Additions 0 0 54 54 

Disposals 0 0 51 51 

Remeasurement -2,100 0 0 -2,100 

Currency translation -335 0 0 -335 

As of 12/31/2023 4,355 78 167 4,600 
 

Depreciation and amorti-
zation 

 

Depreciation and amorti-
zation 

 

As of 01/01/2024 3,095 61 75 3,231 

Additions 737 16 59 812 

Disposals 220 0 0 220 

Currency translation 8 0 0 8 

As of 12/31/2024 3,620 76 135 3,831 

 

As of 01/01/2023 2,254 45 68 2,367 

Additions 1,007 16 58 1,081 

Disposals 0 0 51 51 

Currency translation -166 0 0 -166 

As of 12/31/2023 3,095 61 75 3,231 

 

Carrying amount  Carrying amount  

As of 12/31/2024 1,534 2 32 1,569 
 

As of 12/31/2023 1,260 18 91 1,370 
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The Group has concluded several real estate leases. This 

primarily includes leased foreign production facilities and 

offices. 

Right-of-use assets recognized under operating and office 

equipment are primarily photocopiers. 

There are also several vehicle leases. 

In some cases, maintenance, servicing and/or insurance ob-

ligations are associated with the leases. 

Please refer to the information on the corresponding lease 

liabilities in Note (34) “Lease Liabilities”. 

In determining the sales market-related valuation allow-

ances, in addition to current price trends on the sales side, 

inventory coverage, expected consumption and marketabil-

ity are also included in the measurement to determine net 

realizable value. To this end, assumptions were made as to 

future revenue expectations at product level. 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Revaluation of raw 

materials 
-3,789 -4,302 

Revaluation of semi-

finished products 
-301 -325 

Revaluation of fin-

ished products 
-558 -268 

Revaluation of mer-

chandise 
-1,113 -956 

 -5,762 -5,850 
 

(24) Inventories 
Inventories are subject to collateral agreements; see 

Note (32). 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Raw materials and supplies 16,669 21,468 

Unfinished goods and work in 

progress 
3,141 5,157 

Finished goods and products 882 1,104 

Advance payments on inven-

tories 
46 27 

Assets held for sale in ac-

cordance with IFRS 5 
-2,482  

 18,257 27,756 
 

(25) Trade Receivables and Contract Bal-

ances 

FRIWO sells some of its trade receivables in the form of 

non-recourse factoring. This means that the assigned re-

ceivables no longer feature in FRIWO’s statement of finan-

cial position since all opportunities and risks – especially the 

del credere risk – are transferred to the factor. 

FRIWO has not retained control either, according to 

IFRS 9.3.2.6, since the factor has the ability and is legally 

able to sell the receivable to a third party. 

FRIWO retains neither the contractual obligations and rights 

since control passes to the factor according to IFRS 9.3.2.6, 

nor does it acquire any new obligations and rights from the 

transfer or sale of receivables to the factor. Therefore, there 

is no continuing involvement as defined in IFRS 7. 

The raw materials and supplies have been reduced by the 

assets held for sale (see Note (28)). 

As of December 31, 2024, valuation allowances amounted 

to EUR 5.8 million (previous year: EUR 5.9 million). The car-

rying amount of inventories recognized at net realizable 

value amounted to EUR 1.2 million (previous year: 

EUR 1.2 million) at the end of the reporting year. As of , val-

uation allowances amounted to EUR 0.1 million (previous 

year: increase of EUR 1.8 million). Assets recognized at 

EUR 1.3 million were also scrapped (previous year: 

EUR 0.5 million). 
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The factor makes most of the purchase price available to 

FRIWO as cash. Furthermore, the receivables not pur-

chased by the factor are pledged as security for its receiv-

ables. For the period between purchase and payment be-

ing received, the factor receives an interest rate of a refer-

ence interest rate plus a 1.7 percent interest margin. 

There are no receivables that are more than 360 days past 

due that have not been written down. For receivables that 

are neither past due nor impaired, no indications were iden-

tified that the respective debtors will default on their pay-

ment obligations. 

 

Contract assets will be fully realized or fulfilled within the 

next year. The contract assets of EUR 13.5 million (previ-

ous year: EUR 13.8 million) relate to products that have not 

yet been invoiced and largely have the same risk charac-

teristics as trade receivables. 

Past due receivables amounted to EUR 11.6 million as of 

December 31, 2024. The following table shows the valua-

tion allowances calculated on the basis of expected credit 

losses. 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Valuation allowances based 

on receivables being past 

due 

68 144 

Valuation allowances recog-

nized on an individual basis 
1,464 149 

Valuation allowances for 

trade receivables and con-

tract assets 
1,532 293 

 

The contract liabilities of EUR 0.3 million (previous year: 

EUR 0.2 million) relate to advance payments for develop-

ment costs, which are realized in revenue and profit or loss 

for the following series production. The balances reported 

at the beginning of the reporting period were fully recog-

nized in full as revenue in the reporting period. 

Receivables are subject to collateral agreements; see 

Note (32). 

(26) Other Assets 

Other Financial Assets  

The purchase price retention from factoring amounts to a 

percentage of the value of the gross receivable sold and 

serves to protect the factor vis-à-vis the company in order 

to cover the usual discounts and bonus payments, the gen-

eral fees and the risk associated with the legal validity of 

the receivables. 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Purchase price retention 

from factoring 
2,327 1,536 

Rent deposits 332 490 

Miscellaneous finan-

cial assets 
184 151 

 2,844 2,176 

Other Non-Financial Assets  

The increase is mainly due to higher receivables from im-

port sales tax for the import of merchandise. 

There were no write-downs of financial and non-financial 

assets on the closing dates. 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Other income tax receiva-

bles, customs duties 
3,343 2,468 

Accrued items 404 713 

 3,747 3,181 
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(27) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Checks and cash in hand 4 5 

Bank balances 5,394 4,693 

 5,398 4,698 

 

Bank balances include an amount of EUR 3.2 million (previ-

ous year: EUR 0.1 million) owed to the factor for that portion 

of the purchase price of the receivables assigned to the fac-

tor that has not yet been claimed but can be called at any 

time (cash equivalents). 

This definition of cash and cash equivalents is also used in 

the statement of cash flows. 

Receivables are subject to collateral agreements; see 

Note (32). 

(28) Assets Held for Sale and Disposal Groups 

The asset groups held for sale are two disposal groups for 

which the intention to sell was resolved in 2024: 

1. DIN Rail Power Supply Business 

2. E-Drives Business Including the Capital-Intensive 

Stake in the Joint Venture with UNO MINDA in India 

No valuation adjustments were made in connection with 

assets held for sale. 

The assets held for sale mainly relate to the Germany seg-

ment. 

This is shown separately in the statement of financial posi-
tion: 

In EUR thousand 2024 

1. DIN Rail Power Sup-

ply Business 

 

Property, plant and equipment 356 

Inventories 2,482 

2. E-Drives Business Including the 

Capital-Intensive Stake in the Joint 

Venture with UNO MINDA in India 

 

Goodwill 153 

Property, plant and equipment 876 

Investments recorded using the equity method 1,617 

Assets held for sale 
5,485 

 

Expenses incurred in connection with the disposals are dis-

closed in Note (14). 

1. DIN rail power supply business 

On December 31, 2024, FRIWO announced the conclusion 

of a framework agreement to spin off its business with cus-

tomer- and application-specific power supply solutions for 

DIN rails. The implementation of the master agreement is 

still subject to various conditions and should be completed 

by mid-2025. The new owner will acquire the related reve-

nue and income as well as the assets associated with the 

products and production. The approximately 150 employees 

will be taken on by the buyer. 

Before reclassifying the assets as held for sale at the time 

of the term sheet signing in November 2024, an impairment 

test was carried out for the last time in accordance with 

IAS 36, which did not result in any impairment. 
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The impairment test following the classification as held for 

sale based on the difference between the carrying amount 

and the fair value minus selling costs did not result in any 

impairment, either. 

2. E-drives business including the capital-intensive 

stake in the joint venture with UNO MINDA in India 

On February 14, 2025, FRIWO announced that it was divest-

ing its e-drives business, including its 49.9 percent stake in 

UNO MINDA EV SYSTEMS PRIVATE LIMITED. The Man-

agement Board of FRIWO AG had previously signed a term 

sheet with UNO MINDA in November 2024. 

The contracts signed in mid-February cover the sale of the 

two- and three-wheeler applications of the e-drive range; all 

the other e-mobility system ranges will remain with FRIWO. 

The transaction is still subject to various conditions and 

should be completed during the first half of 2025. 

As part of the transaction, FRIWO is selling the assets at-

tributable to the e-drives business. These assets mainly 

comprise certain testing and inspection systems and intan-

gible rights (in particular, knowledge and intellectual prop-

erty) relating to the products developed by FRIWO for UNO 

MINDA EV SYSTEMS and manufactured and distributed by 

the latter, as well as the capital-intensive investment in the 

joint venture with UNO MINDA. The approximately 50 em-

ployees will also be taken on by the buyer. 

Before reclassifying the assets as held for sale at the time 

of the term sheet signing in November 2024, an impairment 

test was carried out for the last time in accordance with 

IAS 36, which did not result in any impairment. 

The impairment test following the classification as held for 

sale based on the difference between the carrying amount 

and the fair value minus selling costs did not result in any 

impairment, either. 

Own work capitalized was recognized in the previous year 

as part of the e-drives business. It was supposed to be 

gradually written off using future license income. However, 

as no future license income is expected from the sale of the 

joint venture interest, own work capitalized in the amount 

of EUR 0.7 million has already been fully derecognized as 

of December 31, 2024 (see Note (21)). This capitalized 

own work was not the subject of the contract. 

In the previous year, the following figures were reported in 

connection with the sale of the production site in Ostbevern 

and component production in Vietnam. 

In EUR thousand 2023 

Sale of Ostbevern pro-
duction site 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

0 

Inventories 0 

Sale of component pro-
duction, Vietnam 

Property, plant and 
equipment 

893 

Inventories 2,218 

Assets held for sale 
3,111 

 

The sale of component production in Vietnam resulted in 

cash inflows of EUR 3.7 million in the 2024 fiscal year. 
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(29) Equity 

The subscribed capital and capital reserve relate to 

FRIWO AG. The share capital of FRIWO AG of 

EUR 22.2 million is divided into 8.6 million no-par value 

bearer shares with equal rights. Each share therefore repre-

sents a share of subscribed capital of EUR 2.60. The contri-

butions to the share capital are fully paid. FRIWO AG does 

not hold any treasury shares either directly or indirectly. The 

capital reserve is available to offset possible future losses 

and, in part, to increase the share capital within the re-

strictions of Section 150 of the German Stock Corporation Act 

(AktG), but not for disbursements. The number of shares is-

sued has not changed in the 2024 fiscal year. 

Pursuant to Article 4(4) of the Articles of Association, the 

Management Board is authorized, with the approval of the 

Supervisory Board, to increase the share capital by up to 

EUR 11.12 million by issuing new bearer shares against cash 

and/or non-cash contributions on one or more occasions (Au-

thorized Capital) until June 12, 2029. The Management 

Board may, with the approval of the Supervisory Board, ex-

clude shareholders’ subscription rights for certain purposes. 

The Management Board has not made use of the authoriza-

tion in the 2024 fiscal year. The authorized capital of 

EUR 11.12 million is therefore still in place. 

The capital reserve primarily includes the statutory minimum 

reserve of FRIWO AG. 

The revenue reserves contain the differences from the capital 

consolidation, the results of the reporting year and previous 

years, reduced by dividends paid in the past and parts of 

other comprehensive income not reclassified to the income 

statement. 

Other reserves include the cumulative results of changes in 

equity recognized in other consolidated comprehensive in-

come that relate to currency effects not recognized in profit or 

loss that result from the translation of the annual financial 

statements of foreign subsidiaries. 

In its separate financial statements as of Decem-

ber 31, 2024, prepared under the German Commercial 

Code, FRIWO AG reported an accumulated loss of EUR -

55,712 thousand (previous year: EUR -46,225 thousand) 

after offsetting against the results carried forward. State-

ments on capital management can be found in the section 

on financial risk management (Note (39)). 

(30) Provisions for Pensions 

The liabilities that exist exclusively in Germany are largely 

tenure-related pension benefits based on fixed amounts. In 

addition, there is also a commitment based on income and 

tenure. These commitments are solely individual agree-

ments. 

Actuarial measurement is based on various assumptions. 

These include determining the discount rates, future in-

creases in wages and salaries, the mortality rates and fu-

ture increases in pensions. All assumptions are reviewed 

on each closing date. 

The actuarial calculation is based on the following parame-

ters: a discount rate of 3.18 percent (previous year: 

3.42 percent), a salary trend of 3.80 percent (previous 

year: 3.80 percent) and, besides individually stipulated 

pension adjustments, a pension trend of 1.90 percent (pre-

vious year: 1.90 percent). 

Pensions and the pension trend are reviewed every three 

years. The mortality tables 2018 G of Dr. Klaus Heubeck 

were used with regard to life expectancy. The development 

of pension obligations is documented by actuarial reports. 

Past service cost and interest expense is recognized in the 

income statement, while changes in actuarial gains and 

losses are a component of other consolidated comprehen-

sive income. 
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The present value of the defined benefit obligation devel-

oped as follows: 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Defined benefit obligation (DBO) as 

of 01/01 
2,178 2,287 

Current service cost (present 

value of the pension claims 

earned in the fiscal year) 
0 0 

Interest expense 71 75 

Remeasurement effects   

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) from 

changes in financial assumptions 196 0 

Actuarial gains (-)/losses (+) from 

changes in financial assumptions 0 0 

Experience adjustment 0 32 

Benefits paid -217 -215 

Defined benefit obligation (DBO) as 

of 12/31 
2,228 2,178 

 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation corre-

sponds to the deficit in the plan since there are no plan as-

sets. 

The pension payments expected next year amount to 

EUR 223 thousand. The weighted average term of the obli-

gation was seven years at the closing date (previous year: 

seven years). 

Given the complexity of the measurement, the underlying 

assumptions and their long-term nature, any defined benefit 

obligation reacts very sensitively to changes in these as-

sumptions. 

FRIWO is exposed to these actuarial risks. 

An increase or decrease in the key actuarial assumptions 

would have the following effects: 

In EUR thousand Increase Decrease 

2024 
Discount rate 

+/- 1 %-point 
-153 174 

 Salary and pension trend 

+/ - 0.25 %-points 35 -34 

2023 
Discount rate 

+/- 1 %-point 
-151 173 

 Salary and pension trend 

+/ - 0.25 %-points 35 -34 

 

The effects were established using the same methods as 

were used to measure the obligation at the end of the year. 

In the process, the effects were considered in isolation, i.e. 

any dependencies that may exist between the investigated 

parameters were disregarded. 
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(31) Other Provisions 

In EUR thousand A
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Other non-current 

provisions 

     

Personnel and social 

welfare related 113 49 0 0 64 

 
113 49 0 0 64 

Other current provi-

sions 
     

Warranties 582 274 0 89 397 

Anticipated losses 37 37 0 28 28 

Other 1,552 1,405 0 541 688 

Restructuring 2,234 370 1,864 0 0 

 
4,404 2,085 1,864 658 1,113 

 

Non-current provisions were calculated by discounting. The 

increase in the discounted amount during the reporting pe-

riod due to the passage of time amounted to EUR 2 thou-

sand (previous year: EUR 2 thousand). A maturity-matched 

interest rate was chosen for discounting. The effect of the 

change in interest rates was immaterial. 

Provisions for guarantees serve to cover guarantee obliga-

tions based on products/services provided. The anticipated 

losses relate to onerous contracts in which the unavoidable 

costs of meeting the obligations under the contract exceed 

the economic benefits expected to be received under it. 

FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH offers its employees the option 

of placing wage and salary components in long-term ac-

counts. The value of provisions from employee-financed 

long-term accounts is determined in accordance with the 

performance of the capitalized value of the matching life in-

surance policy. A net value is reported. 

Please refer to Note (13) for information on the restructuring 

provision. 

Other provisions in the 2024 fiscal year include the costs for 

the audit of the annual financial statements. They were rec-

ognized in trade payables as of December 31, 2023. 
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(32) Liabilities to Banks 

12/31/2024 
Carrying 
Amount 

Current Non-Current 

In EUR thousand Up to 1 Year 1 to 5 Years 
More than 5 

Years 

Non-current syndicated loan 0 0 0 0 

Current syndicated loan 9,902 9,902 0 0 

Other current 8,657 8,657 0 0 

 18,559 18,559 0 0 
 

12/31/2023 
Carrying 
Amount 

Current Non-Current 

In EUR thousand Up to 1 Year 1 to 5 Years 
More than 5 

Years 

Non-current syndicated loan 1,840 0 1,840 0 

Current syndicated loan 11,603 11,603 0 0 

Other current 7,175 7,175 0 0 

 20,618 18,778 1,840 0 
 

Liabilities to banks are collateralized. 

They are collateralized by a land charge, a global assign-

ment of receivables that cannot be factored, the transfer of 

ownership of movable non-current and current assets by 

way of security, the transfer of industrial property rights by 

way of security and the pledging of bank accounts (without 

disposal restrictions). The provision of collateral amounts to 

EUR 18.6 million of the carrying amounts reported in the 

statement of financial position. 

In addition, financial covenants were defined and reporting 

and documentation obligations stipulated for the syndicated 

loan. 

The credit agreement also stipulates that FRIWO AG will 

not pay any dividends during the restructuring period, which 

will run until the end of 2025. 

The weighted average interest rate for liabilities to banks 

was 7.2 percent in 2024 (previous year: 6.9 percent). 

The credit facilities were as follows at the end of the year: 

In EUR thou-
sand 

Credit Facili-
ties 

Utilization 
Available 

Credit Facili-
ties 

12/31/2024 18,687 18,559 128 

12/31/2023 22,210 20,618 1,592 

 

The syndicated loan agreement signed in the first quarter 

of 2020 consists of an amortizing term credit facility of 

EUR 10.4 million and two additional, revolving operating 

credit facilities of EUR 8.3 million and EUR 2.0 million. 

 

In 2023, all three tranches were extended until Decem-

ber 31, 2025. The agreement provides for repayments of 

Tranche A of EUR 0.45 million per quarter in 2024. The re-

maining EUR 1.84 million will be repaid in 2025. 
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No repayments were required on the operating credit facil-

ities until the end of 2020 before quarterly repayments of 

EUR 0.25 million were made on the amortizing term credit 

facilities in fiscal 2021. In 2022, quarterly repayments in-

creased to EUR 0.7 million each. Further repayments total-

ing EUR 2.1 million were made in 2023. 

Further repayments totaling EUR 3.8 million were made 

in 2024. The liability from the syndicated loan therefore 

amounted to EUR 9.9 million as of December 31, 2024 

(December 31, 2023: EUR 13.4 million).  

The transaction costs in connection with the extension of 

the syndicated loan agreement (EUR 0.5 million) were de-

ferred and charged directly to equity and will be amortized 

over the remaining term. 

The Vietnamese subsidiary has also retained a bilateral 

credit facility with a local bank in Vietnam. 

At the time the financial statements are being prepared, the 

financing of the FRIWO Group is secured until Decem-

ber 31, 2025 through the existing syndicated loan agree-

ment. 

The restructuring period also runs until the end of 2025. 

Compliance with the restructuring plans was again con-

firmed – as overwhelmingly likely – by external experts as 

part of the preparation of the 2024 annual financial state-

ments. 

(33) Shareholder Loans 

The shareholder loans provided by the major shareholder 

VTC GmbH & Co. KG, who made these loans available 

through its subsidiary Cardea Holding GmbH, Grünwald, in 

the years from 2020 to 2022, also made a significant con-

tribution to securing the FRIWO Group’s liquidity. FRIWO 

did not take out any additional shareholder loans from 

Cardea Holding GmbH in the 2024 fiscal year. 

In 2024, interest of EUR 618 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 616 thousand) was incurred on the shareholder loans. 

The balance of the shareholder loan including accrued in-

terest is EUR 12.8 million as of December 31, 2024 (previ-

ous year’s closing date: EUR 12.2 million). 

The shareholder loans are not subject to a fixed maturity 

date. Repayment cannot be made until there are no longer 

any obstacles to the successful restructuring of the FRIWO 

Group and both the restructuring and sustainable financing 

have been secured. 

(34) Lease Liabilities 

Lease liabilities break down as follows: 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Land and buildings 1,611 1,380 

Other operating and office 

equipment 
3 18 

Vehicle fleet 47 103 

 1,661 1,502 

 

In the prior period, in connection with the sale of the com-

ponent production facility in Vietnam, FRIWO exercised its 

option to terminate a lease agreement for a plant in Vietnam 

that was scheduled to run until 2027, resulting in a remeas-

urement of the lease liability for land and buildings. 
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No material expenses for short-term leases were incurred 

in fiscal 2024. The total cash outflow from leases for fis-

cal 2024 came to EUR 911 thousand (previous year: 

EUR 1,288 thousand). 

A maturity analysis of lease liabilities is provided in 

Note (39) with the disclosures about liquidity risk. 

Lease liabilities are secured by the leased asset on which 

the lease is based. 

The corresponding right-of-use assets are shown in the 

statement of financial position under the item “right-of-use 

assets” with a carrying amount of EUR 1,569 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 1,370 thousand). 

See Note (23) “Right-of-Use Assets” for de-

tails. 

(35) Trade Payables 

Depending on when payment is due, payment obligations 

are reported as non-current or current. The payment obliga-

tions reported under trade payables are all due within a year 

and must be reported as current in this respect. 

The application of the new IAS 7/IFRS 7 Supplier Finance 

Arrangements has no impact on FRIWO. 

(36) Other Financial Liabilities 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Personnel-related liabili-

ties 
2,612 1,875 

Debtors with credit balances 25 139 

Miscellaneous fi-

nancial liabilities 
79 308 

 2,716 2,322 

 
Personnel liabilities include provisions for bonuses and sev-

erance payments. The increase in the bonus as of the end 

of 2024 is due to above-average target achievement for the 

variable salary components for the 2024 fiscal year. 

 

Other financial liabilities are current liabilities. 

The other financial liabilities include, without limitation, lia-

bilities from factoring due to the foreign currency valuation 

as of the closing date. The decline in 2024 is due to the 

lower sales volume and therefore the lower utilization of fac-

toring. 

(37) Other Non-Financial Liabilities 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023 

Deferred personnel-

related liabilities 
519 817 

Other taxes 285 321 

Other liabilities 276 51 

 1,080 1,189 
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Other Disclosures in the Notes 

(38) Other Financial Commitments and 

Contingent Liabilities 

Other Financial Obligations 

As of December 31, 2024, the purchase commitment for in-

tangible assets and property, plant and equipment was 

EUR 88 thousand (previous year: EUR 3 thousand). 

Guarantees and Contingent Liabilities 

FRIWO AG or one of its subsidiaries are not involved in cur-

rent or foreseeable court or arbitration proceedings that 

could have a considerable impact on the economic position. 

(39) Financial Risk Management and Deriva-
tive Financial Instruments 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk that business parties do not fulfill their 

contractual obligations and FRIWO incurs a financial loss 

as a result. FRIWO is exposed to default risks, especially 

for trade receivables, as part of its business activities. Re-

ceivables are due from a large number of customers. These 

regularly include substantial individual receivables due from 

major customers (see Note (10) for more details). The credit 

default risks resulting from receivables is countered by a 

systematic process when selecting customers, by analysis 

of payment history and by setting appropriate credit limits. 

FRIWO companies sell their products only to customers that 

have previously undergone a credit check. Certain receiva-

bles are also sold under a factoring agreement, meaning 

that significant credit risks are transferred. If default risks 

are discernible among financial assets, these risks are rec-

ognized through valuation allowances. Due to the good 

credit standing of its customers, FRIWO estimates that 

credit risk is generally low. Valuation allowances for trade 

receivables and contract assets are calculated using the 

simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9.5.5, where stage 1 

of the recognition of expected credit losses is omitted. 

 Instead, these assets are written down either in accordance 

with level 2 or level 3. All trade receivables and contract as-

sets where there are no indications of creditworthiness be-

ing impaired are recognized at level 2. In the process, aver-

age default rates determined on the basis of past-due times 

and other factors are used to calculate the expected losses. 

The expected losses are a product of the default rates and 

the loss on default, which is stated at 100 percent of the 

amount of the receivable. If there are indications of impaired 

creditworthiness, the receivable is transferred to Level 3. 
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In particular, awareness of the debtor’s financial difficulties 

combined with an increased likelihood of insolvency should 

be taken as indications of impaired creditworthiness. For 

trade receivables and contract assets where creditworthi-

ness is impaired, the expected credit loss is estimated on an 

individual basis. 

 

For other financial assets and cash and cash equivalents 

covered by the impairment model of IFRS 9, which are sub-

ject to the general approach, the probability of default was 

viewed as minor both within the next twelve months and 

within the entire term based on past figures. There were no 

indicators either that the default risk had increased signifi-

cantly compared with past information. 

The amount of the maximum default risk corresponds to the 

carrying amount of the trade receivables, contract assets 

and other financial assets recognized on the closing date. 

Liquidity Risk 

FRIWO regularly carries out a liquidity planning process for 

the Group in order to be able to identify any possible liquidity 

bottleneck in good time. The maturities of financial assets and 

financial liabilities and estimates of operating cash flows are 

included in short- and medium-term liquidity management. 

FRIWO manages its liquidity by the Group holding sufficient 

cash and cash equivalents in addition to the cash inflow from 

operating activities and maintaining credit facilities with 

banks. The option of selling receivables also reduces the 

Group’s liquidity risk. 

The following liquidity analysis shows the maturities of the 

contractually stipulated undiscounted interest and principal 

payments on liabilities to banks and the maturity structure of 

leases (see Notes (32) and (34)). Variable rate interest pay-

ments on financial instruments were based on interest rates 

last fixed before December 31, 2024. All other current liabili-

ties have no interest portion. 

 

12/31/2024  2025 Cash Flows 2026 Cash Flows Cash Flows 2027+ 
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Liabilities to banks 18,559 1,831 18,559 0 0 0 0 

Lease liabilities 1,661 148 767 80 262 56 632 

 

12/31/2023  2024 Cash Flows 2025 Cash Flows Cash Flows 2026+ 
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Liabilities to banks 20,618 1,775 18,778 521 1,840 0 0 

Lease liabilities 1,502 92 758 46 460 17 284 
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There are various guarantees and collateral provided by 

FRIWO for the syndicated loan and for the Vietnamese sub-

sidiary’s bilateral working capital financing. In addition, re-

porting and documentation obligations were stipulated for 

the syndicated loan. 

The credit agreement also stipulates that FRIWO AG will not 

pay any dividends during the restructuring period. 

The decision to sell the e-drives business and the DIN rail 

power supply business will enable FRIWO to largely reduce 

the Group’s leverage. This would allow the syndicated loan 

to be repaid ahead of schedule in mid- to late 2025, ending 

the restructuring period by the end of 2025. FRIWO will then 

reorganize and restructure its financing structure. 

Factoring and local financing in Vietnam will most likely re-

main an important element. As further components of its fi-

nancing, FRIWO is seeking new credit facilities in Germany, 

although these may be limited by the banks’ restrictive lend-

ing policies. 

Currency Risk 

FRIWO is exposed to currency risks through its international 

activities. Here, a natural hedge is initially created due to 

those foreign currency items that occur in the same currency 

in both accounts payable and receivable. Remaining foreign 

currency risks are mitigated through targeted currency man-

agement. Ideally, companies are financed in their respective 

domestic currency or on a currency-hedged basis as far as 

possible. It is not permitted to raise or invest funds in foreign 

currencies for the purposes of speculation. The Group main-

tains a treasury function that regularly assesses the currency 

risks in the statement of financial position and, in the event of 

a material consolidated risk, hedges these risks through for-

ward exchange transactions. Risks resulting from the USD 

(U.S. dollar) and CNY (Chinese renminbi) exchange rates 

and the USD (U.S. dollar) and VND (Vietnamese dong) ex-

change rates are not hedged. The preferred method FRIWO 

uses to counter the risks from future transactions is conclud-

ing transactions in the currency in which the manufacturing 

costs are incurred. 

Forward exchange transactions were not concluded in 

the 2024 fiscal year. Therefore, as in the previous year, there 

were no forward exchange transactions as of Decem-

ber 31, 2024. A residual risk results from possible changes in 

the U.S. dollar, HK dollar and INR Indian rupee to the euro for 

the positions that are not hedged. Subject to possible tax ef-

fects or deferred taxes, the profit or loss before taxes and eq-

uity exhibit the following sensitivities with regard to this risk: 

 
Currency 

Trends for 

USD, HKD, 

INR 

Impact on Earn-

ings Before 

Taxes Impact on Equity 

In EUR thousand In EUR thousand 

2024 
5% 386 386 

-5% -427 -427 

2023 
5% 103 103 

-5% -114 -114 
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The Group is mainly exposed to the exchange rate risk of 

the U.S. dollar against the euro. At the closing date, the U.S. 

dollar net position was around EUR 7.8 million (previous 

year: approx. EUR 1.9 million). The sensitivity analysis also 

contains the outstanding monetary items denominated in 

foreign currency in U.S. dollar, HK dollar and Indian rupee. 

The effect of a 5-percent deviation in foreign exchange rates 

to the euro on the closing date is calculated. The effect on 

equity is identical to the effect on profit/loss due to the non-

existent cash flow hedges. Differences resulting from the 

translation of financial statements from a foreign currency 

into the Group currency are disregarded. 

Interest Rate Risk 

Interest is payable at variable rates on the syndicated loan and 

on the Vietnamese subsidiary’s bilateral working capital financ-

ing. The shareholder loans were made at a fixed interest rate. 

Movements in market interest rates are monitored and ana-

lyzed continuously. 

No interest rate swaps were in place to hedge interest rate risk 

as of December 31, 2024. 

There is a residual risk regarding possible changes in interest 

rates from the assets and liabilities carrying a variable interest 

rate. Subject to possible tax effects or deferred taxes, the profit 

or loss before taxes and equity exhibit the following sensitivities 

with regard to this risk: 

 

Increase/ De-

crease in Ba-

sis Points 

Impact on Earn-

ings Before 

Taxes 

Impact on Eq-

uity 

In EUR thousand In EUR thousand 

2024 
+100 -384 -384 

-100 384 384 

2023 
+100 -443 -443 

-100 443 443 
 

To determine interest rate sensitivity, net interest from the 

assets and liabilities carrying a variable interest rate was 

compared with the average interest rate of 7.22 percent in 

the fiscal year (previous year: 6.48 percent). Subsequently, 

the change in net interest based on an increase/decrease 

in the average percentage rate of 100 basis points was de-

termined. The impact on equity is identical to the impact on 

profit/loss. 

Derivative Financial Instruments 

As in the previous year, FRIWO had concluded no deriva-

tive financial instruments as of December 31, 2024. 

Capital Management  

The Group manages its capital structure with regard to the 

return on capital employed, taking account of rating targets. 

Its aim is to satisfy both the interests of shareholders and 

lenders. In addition, it includes the macroeconomic situation 

in addition to current individual conditions such as planned 

dividends and investments in determining the respective 

target capital structure. 

In EUR thousand 12/31/2024 12/31/2023* 

Equity 3,346 9,649 

As a percentage of total capital 5.3% 17.1% 

Non-current liabilities 16,006 17,169 

Current liabilities 44,342 44,405 

Total liabilities 60,348 61,574 

As a percentage of total capital 94.7% 82.9% 

Total liabilities and share-
holders’ equity 

63,694 71,223 

* Previous year’s figures have been restated. The restatements are ex-

plained in Note (6b). 

The Group will optimize its capital structure in connection 

with the divestment of the e-drives business and DIN rail 

power supply business by partially repaying bank debt, 

thereby reducing interest expense. The Group also aims to 

significantly improve its equity ratio. 
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(40) Further Disclosures on Financial Instruments 

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial instruments by items in the statement of financial position: 

In EUR thousand C
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Financial assets    

Trade receivables AC 4,047 3,073 

Contract assets AC 13,530 13,775 

Other financial assets AC 2,844 2,176 

Cash and cash equivalents AC 5,398 4,698 

Financial liabilities    

Shareholder loans FLaAC 12,820 12,202 

Non-current liabilities to banks FLaAC 0 1,840 

Current liabilities to banks FLaAC 18,559 18,778 

Lease Liabilities  1,661 1,502 

Trade payables FLaAC 18,885 16,322 

Contract liabilities FLaAC 293 299 

Other financial liabilities FLaAC 2,716 2,322 

Summary per category    

Financial assets measured at amortized cost (AC) 

 

25,819 23,723 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost (FLaAC) 

 

53,273 51,762 
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The carrying amounts of the financial instruments represent 

a reasonable approximation of the fair value as at the re-

porting date, as these are essentially short-term and there 

are no significant differences due to the proximity in time 

between the date of recognition and the closing date. 

The net results from financial instruments were as follows 

as of the closing date: 

2024 Net Results From 

In EUR thou-
sand 

Interest Paid 

Subsequent Meas-
urement 

C
u
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y
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n
s
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o

n
 

Impairment 

FI category 

under IFRS 9 
Income Expense 

Rever-
sal 

Alloca-
tion 

AC 0 0 0 1239 0 

FLaAC 0 -3,483 0 0 -424 

Total 0 -3,483 0 1,239 -424 

The figures were as follows in the previous year: 

2023 Net Results From 

In EUR 
thousand 

Interest Paid 

Subsequent 
Measurement 

C
u
rr

e
n

c
y
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-
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n
 

Impairment 

FI category 
under 
IFRS 9 

Income 
Ex-

pense 
Rever-

sal 
Alloca-

tion 

AC 0 0 0 145 0 

FLaAC 0 -3,370 0 0 -829 

Total 0 -3,370 0 145 -829 
 

(41) Related Party Relationships 

Cardea Holding GmbH, Grünwald, holds a majority stake in 

FRIWO AG. Cardea Holding GmbH and its parent company, 

VTC GmbH & Co. KG, Munich, and their subsidiaries are 

therefore related parties of FRIWO AG within the meaning of 

IAS 24. 

Cardea Holding GmbH granted FRIWO AG shareholder 

loans totaling EUR 10.1 million. The balance of these loans 

as of the closing date is EUR 10.1 million. The interest liabil-

ity associated with the loans amounts to EUR 2.7 million 

(previous year: EUR 2.1 million). Interest costs on the share-

holder loans came to EUR 618 thousand in 2024 (previous 

year: EUR 616 thousand). 

UNO MINDA EV SYSTEMS PVT. LTD., the joint venture es-

tablished in 2022 with UNO MINDA, North West Delhi, Delhi, 

India, conducted transactions as part of operating supply 

and service relationships that generated income of 

EUR 2,096 thousand in the 2024 fiscal year. As of Decem-

ber 31, 2024, receivables amounted to EUR 2,981 thousand 

(previous year: EUR 885 thousand). 

The Management Board and Supervisory Board are classi-

fied as natural related parties. Please refer to Note (42) for 

disclosures on the compensation of the Management Board 

and Supervisory Board. After stepping down from the Man-

agement Board, Tobias Tunsch signed a consulting agree-

ment with FRIWO worth EUR 11.8 thousand in 2024. In ad-

dition, the new Supervisory Board member, Mr. Feuerbach, 

holds a 27 percent interest in Kemeney Boehme Consult-

ants SE. This company has entered into a four-month con-

sulting agreement with FRIWO for EUR 90.4 thousand. 
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(42) Total Emoluments of the Super-
visory Board and the Manage-
ment Board 

Fixed remuneration per Supervisory Board member was 

EUR 10 thousand per year. Variable remuneration is deter-

mined by the amount of the dividends resolved by the An-

nual General Meeting. The total amount of Supervisory 

Board remuneration is limited to three times the fixed 

amount. The chair of the Supervisory Board receives dou-

ble and their deputy one-and-a-half times the fixed remu-

neration. Committee members each receive additional re-

muneration of EUR 1 thousand. 

The chair and their deputy are excluded from these pay-

ments. The fixed remuneration for members of the Super-

visory Board was EUR 71 thousand for the 2024 fiscal year 

(previous year: EUR 76 thousand). 

As in the previous year, members of the Supervisory Board 

received no variable remuneration for fiscal years 2019 

to 2023 in fiscal 2024. 

The total emoluments of the Management Board came to 

EUR 1,213 thousand for the 2024 fiscal year (previous 

year: EUR 856 thousand), of which EUR 1,103 thousand 

was fixed (previous year: EUR 781 thousand) and 

EUR 110 thousand variable (previous year: EUR 75 thou-

sand). 

Former members of the Management Board and their sur-

viving dependents received pension payments of 

EUR 189 thousand in 2024 (previous year: EUR 187 thou-

sand). 

Provisions for pension obligations to former members of the 

Management Board and their surviving dependents totaled 

EUR 1,898 thousand (previous year: EUR 1,841 thousand) 

in accordance with IAS 19. 

For more detailed information, please refer to the 2024 re-

muneration report on the company’s website. 

(43) Governing Bodies of the Company 

Supervisory Board Mandates 

Richard G. Ramsauer  

Chair  

Managing Director  

Mint Equity GmbH & Co. KG 

Member since 2008 

None 

Dr. Thomas R. J. Robl  

Deputy chair  

Managing Director  

VTC GmbH & Co. KG 

Member since 2024 

Munich Private Equity 

AG, Oberhaching 

Munich Private Equity 

Funds AG, Oberhaching 

Dr. Gregor Matthies  

Managing  

Partner  

Dr. Gregor Matthies Consult-

ing & Investment  

Switzerland GmbH  

Member since 2018 

Liikennevirta Oy, 00180 

Helsinki, Finland 

Rocsys BV, Delft, Nether-

lands 

EVUM Motors GmbH, 

Munich 

Felix Feuerbach  

Managing Director  

Kemény Boehme Consultants SE 

Member since 2024 

BOLD KBC Center for In-

novation GmbH, Munich 

Michael Jaeger  

CEO, Behr-Hella  

Thermocontrol GmbH Mem-

ber until 2024 

None 

Uwe Leifken 

Internal Sales Manager – 

Key Account, FRIWO  

Member since May 2016 

None 

Stefanie Kunze 

Internal Sales Manager – 

Key Account, FRIWO  

Member since 2024 

None 

Sabine Vennekötter  

Former Project Manager, FRIWO 

Member until 2024 
None 
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Management Board Mandates 

 FRIWO Power Solutions 

Technology (Shenzhen) 

Co. Ltd., China 

Rolf Schwirz 

Chair of the Management 

Board until Decem-

ber 2024 

FRIWO Vietnam Co. Ltd., 

Vietnam 

FRIEMANN & WOLF India 

Private Ltd., India 

Board of Directors of 

UNO MINDA EV SYS-

TEMS PVT. LTD. 

 FRIWO North America 

Inc., USA 

Tobias Tunsch 

Member of the Management 

Board until January 2024 

Board of Directors of 

UNO MINDA EV SYS-

TEMS PVT. LTD. 

Managing Director of Bo-

num Suisse GmbH 

Dr. Walter Demmelhuber 

Member of the Manage-

ment Board until Febru-

ary 2024 

Hosokawa Alpine Ak-

tiengesellschaft 

Oliver Freund 

Member of the Management 

Board until July 2024 

Managing Director of 

Freund-Interim 

Roald Gréboval 

Member of the Management 

Board until January 2025 

None 

 

(44) Auditor’s Fees 

The fees and expenses charged for the 2024 fiscal year by 

the auditor, Baker Tilly GmbH & Co. KG 

Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, covered the following ser-

vices: 

In EUR thousand 2024 2023 

Auditing services 263 112 

Other assurance services 
0 2 

 263 114 
 

Additional expenses of EUR 56 thousand were incurred in 

connection with the audit of the sustainability report. 

(45) Shareholdings 

FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH, Ostbevern, is linked to FRIWO AG 

through a profit and loss transfer agreement and makes use of 

the expedients permitted by Section 264(3) of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB). 

In EUR thousand 
Interest 

Held 
Equity Result 

2024 

FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH, 

Ostbevern, Germany1) 2) 
100.00% 6,530 -345 

FRIWO Power Solutions 

Technology (Shenzhen) 

Co. Ltd., Shenzhen, 

China2) 3) 

100.00% 1,161 10 

FRIWO Vietnam Co. Ltd., 

Bien Hoa City, Vietnam2) 3) 
100.00% 17,084 2,146 

FRIEMANN & WOLF IN-

DIA PRIVATE LIMITED, 

Bangalore, Karnataka, In-

dia2) 3) 4) 

100.00% -842 73 

FRIWO North America, 

Inc., Houston, Texas, 

USA2) 3) 

100.00% 138 -93 

UNO MINDA EV SYSTEMS 

PVT. LTD., North West 

Delhi, Delhi, India2) 3) 4) 

49.90% 1,292 43 

 

1) After profit transfer 

2) According to IFRS 

3) Indirectly via FRIWO Gerätebau GmbH, Ostbevern 

4) Different fiscal year 
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(46) Disclosure on the Corpo-
rate Governance State-
ment 

The declaration in accordance with Section 161 of the Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act (AktG) was issued by the Man-

agement Board and the Supervisory Board and is made 

permanently accessible to the public on the company’s 

website at: 

https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/. 

   

(47) Events after the End of the Reporting Period 

In February 2025, FRIWO signed agreements with UNO 

MINDA, India, under which the Indian company will acquire 

FRIWO’s 49.9 percent stake in the joint venture UNO 

MINDA EV SYSTEMS PRIVATE LIMITED. The contracts 

also cover the sale of the two- and three-wheeler applica-

tions of the e-drive range; all other e-mobility system ranges 

will remain with FRIWO. FRIWO expects the transaction, 

which is still subject to various conditions and is expected to 

be completed in the first half of 2025, to result in a total cash 

inflow in the lower double-digit million euro range. 

The geopolitical risks remain high, particularly in connection 

with the war against Ukraine and the conflict in the Middle 

East. Possible risks for FRIWO were examined and counter-

measures introduced where necessary. 

The FRIWO Group’s business performance in the first few 

months of 2025 is still heavily dependent on external factors 

beyond the company’s control or influence – in particular, 

general consumer restraint, monetary and interest rate pol-

icy, the development of geopolitical tensions and structural 

obstacles to growth. Short-term business performance will 

depend on whether the expected economic recovery in the 

industrial sector will start in the first half of 2025 and whether 

the company’s order book will trend upward again. 
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The Supervisory Board of FRIWO nominated Dominik 

Wöffen and Ina Klassen as new members of the company’s 

Management Board effective January 1, 2025. 

Mr. Roald Gréboval stepped down from the Management 

Board by mutual agreement effective January 17, 2025. 

No other events of material significance for the Group’s net 

assets, financial position and results of operations occurred 

between the end of the 2024 fiscal year and the day on 

which the consolidated financial statements were ap-

proved. 

 

Ostbevern, April 22, 2025 

The Management Board 

Dominik Wöffen 

Member of the Man-
agement Board 

 

Ina Klassen 

Member of the Manage-
ment Board 
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Responsibility Statement 

“To the best of our knowledge and in accordance with the applicable reporting principles, the consolidated 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations 

of the FRIWO Group and the combined management report and Group management report includes a fair 

review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Group, together with a 

description of the principal opportunities and risks associated with the expected development of the com-

pany and the Group.” 

Ostbevern, April 22, 2025 

Dominik Wöffen 

Member of the Man-
agement Board 

 

Ina Klassen 

Member of the Manage-
ment Board 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 

“To FRIWO AG, Ostbevern 

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements and the Combined Management Report 

Audit Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of FRIWO AG and its subsidiaries (the Group), 

comprising the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024, the consolidated 

income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the fiscal year from January 1 to 

December 31, 2024, and the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 

significant accounting policies. In addition, we audited the combined management report of FRIWO AG 

for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2024. We have not audited the content of the ele-

ments of the combined management report referred to in the “Other information” section of our auditor’s 

report in accordance with German legal requirements. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit: 

• The attached consolidated financial statements comply in all material respects with IFRSs, as 

adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German law pursuant to Section 315e(1) of 

the German Commercial Code (HGB) and, in accordance with these requirements, give a true and 

fair view of the Group’s net assets and results of operations as of December 31, 2024 and of its 

results of operations for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2024. 

• The attached combined management report as a whole presents an accurate view of the Group’s 

position. In all material respects, this combined management report is consistent with the consoli-

dated financial statements and with German legal requirements and accurately presents the risks 

and opportunities of future development. Our audit opinion on the combined management report 

does not extend to the content of the elements of the combined management report referred to in 

the “Other information” section. 

In accordance with Section 322(3) sentence 1 of the German Commercial Code (HGB), we declare 

that our audit has not led to any objections to the compliance of the consolidated financial statements 

or the combined management report. 

Basis for the Audit Opinions 

We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report 

in accordance with Section 317 HGB, the EU Audit Regulation (No. 537/2014; hereinafter “EU-AR”), 

and German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Our responsibility under these provisions and policies is described 

further in the section of our auditor’s report entitled “Responsibility of the Auditor for the Audit of the 

Consolidated Financial Statements and the Combined Management Report.” We are independent from 

the Group companies in accordance with the commercial and professional regulations of European 

and German law and have fulfilled our other German professional obligations in accordance with these 

requirements. Furthermore, in accordance with Article 10(2)(f) of the EU Audit Regulation, we declare 

that we have not performed any prohibited non-audit services as defined by Article 5(1) of the EU Audit 
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Regulation. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to serve 

as a basis for our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the combined manage-

ment report. 

Key Audit Matters in the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Key audit matters are such matters that, in our professional judgment, were the most significant in our 

audit of the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year from January 1 to December 31, 2024. 

These matters were taken into account in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments as a whole and in the formation of our audit opinion; we have not issued a separate opinion on 

these matters. 

In our opinion, the following matters were the most significant in our audit: 

• Continuation as a going concern 

• Revenue realization 

We have structured our presentation of these key audit matters as follows: 

1. Facts and problem definition 

2. Audit approach and findings 

3. Reference to further information 

The key audit matters are presented below: 

1. Continuation as a Going Concern 

Facts and Problem Definition 

FRIWO AG and the FRIWO Group have been in a restructuring phase since the 2020 fiscal year. A 

restructuring consultant submitted an updated restructurability opinion in December 2023 and has 

since confirmed that the restructuring plan is being complied with, with the most recent confirmation 

coming in December 2024. In view of significant deviations from the plan, particularly in the first half of 

the 2024 fiscal year, it was questionable whether the measures defined in the opinion would be suffi-

cient to ensure the profitability of the company and the Group as well as the financing for the required 

period. As a result, further measures were defined (sale of the DIN rail business and e-drives business) 

and implemented at the end of fiscal 2024 and the beginning of fiscal 2025. 

The impact of these measures on the company’s and the Group’s medium-term planning until 2026 

was taken into account in a revised plan in December 2024 and verified by the restructuring consultant. 

The legal representatives assume that the financing of the company and the Group is secured due to 

the expected cash inflows. 

Assessing the appropriateness of the going concern assumption was a particularly important aspect of 

our audit given the number and scope of the measures implemented and their impact on the medium-

term financial forecasts of the company and the Group. 
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Audit Procedure in Accordance with Article 10(2)(c)(ii) of the EU Audit Regulation and Findings 

First, we analyzed the integrated asset, income and liquidity planning of the company and the Group 

for the forecast period and evaluated it together with the results of the restructuring opinion. We also 

reviewed the assumptions underlying this planning as well as the systems and processes. We also 

tracked the implementation of the additional measures defined in the opinion and in the course of 

the 2024 fiscal year. In particular, we examined their impact on the financial position of the company 

and the Group in the forecast period up to 2026. 

In addition, we satisfied ourselves of the quality of the restructuring expert and the usability of the 

opinions and statements for our audit. 

Based on the results of our audit, we consider the going concern assumption used by the legal repre-

sentatives to be appropriate. 

Reference to Further Information 

For information on the measures taken and assumptions made by the company, please refer to the 

disclosures in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in Note “(3) Principles Applied in the 

Preparation of the Financial Statements”, “Financial Reporting Based on the Principle of the Ability to 

Continue as a Going Concern” and in the combined management report in the “Liquidity Risks” section. 

2. Recognition of Revenue 

Facts and Problem Definition 

Revenue for the 2024 fiscal year amounted to EUR 93,023 thousand and represents a significant line 

item in the consolidated financial statements; it is used as a key financial performance indicator for 

management purposes. Revenue includes a significant amount of sales of customized products (reve-

nue recognition over time) in addition to sales of standard products (revenue recognition at a point in 

time). The recognition of revenue over time also results in capitalized contract assets of 

EUR 13,530 thousand. 

The demonstration that the requirements have been met (particularly with regard to revenue recognition 

over time) is complex and in some cases subject to discretion. 
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The structure of the sometimes complex customer-specific contractual agreements and the existing 

discretionary scope in assessing the criteria for determining the date of transfer of control means that 

there is a risk that revenue may be incorrectly recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 

Audit Procedure in Accordance with Article 10(2)(c)(ii) of the EU Audit Regulation and Findings 

In the context of our audit of the financial statements, we reviewed the company’s internal methods, 

procedures and control mechanisms regarding revenue recognized over time and at a point in time. 

We also evaluated the design and effectiveness of the accounting-related internal controls using ran-

dom samples. 

In addition, as part of individual audit procedures, we verified the existence of revenue in the 2024 

fiscal year for randomly selected customer orders. 

Our audit procedures for revenue recognized over time in contract asset accounting take into account 

our findings from participating in the physical inventory count. We also reviewed selected customer 

contracts as random samples and critically assessed management’s interpretation of the criteria for 

recognizing revenue over time. 

We discussed the contracts we selected with the relevant contact persons with regard to existing risks, 

underlying order calculations and margin calculations. Based on the resulting findings, we then as-

sessed the correct recognition of revenue in the consolidated financial statements. 

We are of the opinion that the revenue recognition approach is appropriate. 

Reference to Further Information 

For information on the applied accounting policies, please refer to the “Summary of Key Accounting 

Policies” section in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. For information on revenue, 

contract assets and contract liabilities, please refer the “Segment Reporting”, “Notes to the Income 

Statement” and “Notes to the Statement of Financial Position” sections in the notes to the consoli-

dated financial statements. 
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Other Information 

The legal representatives and the Supervisory Board are responsible for the other information. The 

other information includes: 

• The report by the Supervisory Board 

• The sections contained in the combined management report headed “Employees (Unaudited)”, “Key 

Features of the Internal Control and Risk Management System (Unaudited)”, “Non-Financial Group 

Declaration” and “Corporate Governance Statement (Unaudited Information)” 

• All other parts of the annual report without extensive cross-references to external information, except 

for the remuneration report, the audited annual and consolidated financial statements, the audited 

combined management report and the auditor’s report 

Our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report do 

not extend to the other information, and accordingly we do not offer any audit opinion or any other form 

of audit conclusion on it. 

As part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements, we have a responsibility to read the other 

information and to evaluate whether it: 

• Contains material misstatements in relation to the consolidated financial statements, the audited 

disclosures in the combined management report or our findings from the audit 

• Appears to be materially misstated in other respects 

Responsibility of the Legal Representatives and the Supervisory Board for the 

Consolidated Financial Statements and the Combined Management Report 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

that, in all material respects, comply with the IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the additional require-

ments of German commercial law in accordance with Section 315e(1) HGB and that the consolidated 

financial statements give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of opera-

tions of the Group. Furthermore, the legal representatives are responsible for the internal controls that 

they have deemed necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 

free from material misstatements based on fraud (i.e. manipulation of the accounting and damage to 

assets) or errors. 

The legal representatives are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going con-

cern when preparing the consolidated financial statements. They are also responsible for disclosing 

matters in connection with the continuation of business activities, if relevant. Furthermore, they are 

responsible for accounting on the basis of the going concern principle unless they intend to liquidate 

the Group or discontinue its business operations, or there is no realistic alternative. 
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Moreover, the company’s legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the combined 

management report that, on the whole, provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and, in all 

material respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and with German legal re-

quirements and accurately presents the risks and opportunities of future development. Also, the legal 

representatives are responsible for the precautions and measures (systems) that they deem necessary 

to enable the preparation of a combined management report in accordance with the applicable German 

legal requirements to provide sufficient suitable evidence for the statements in the combined manage-

ment report. 

The Supervisory Board is responsible for monitoring the Group’s accounting process for the preparation 

of the consolidated financial statements and the combined management report. 

Responsibility of the Auditor for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

and the Combined Management Report 

Our objective is to obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatements based on fraud or errors and whether the combined 

management report as a whole provides a suitable view of the Group’s position and, in all material 

respects, is consistent with the consolidated financial statements, audit findings and German legal 

requirements, and accurately presents the risks and opportunities of future development, and to issue 

an auditor’s report containing our audit opinions on the consolidated financial statements and the com-

bined management report. 

Reasonable assurance is a high degree of assurance, but not a guarantee that an audit performed in 

accordance with Section 317 HGB, the EU Audit Regulation and the German generally accepted stand-

ards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the IDW will always reveal a material mis-

statement. Misstatements can result from fraud or errors and are considered material if they could 

reasonably be expected, individually or collectively, to influence the economic decisions that users 

make on the basis of these consolidated financial statements and the combined management report. 

We exercise due discretion during the audit and maintain a critical attitude. In addition: 

▪ We identify and evaluate the risk of material misstatements in the consolidated financial statements 

and the combined management report based on fraud or errors, plan and implement audit proce-

dures in response to these risks and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 

a basis for our audit opinions. The risk that material misstatements resulting from fraud are not un-

covered is higher than the risk that material misstatements resulting from errors are not uncovered, 

as fraud can entail fraudulent collaboration, falsifications, deliberate omissions, misleading depic-

tions or the suspension of internal controls. 
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▪ We gain an understanding of the internal controls relevant to the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements and the arrangements and measures relevant to the audit of the combined management 

report in order to plan audit procedures that are appropriate under the given circumstances, but not 

with the objective of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal controls or 

these arrangements and measures. 

▪ We assess the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the company’s legal represent-

atives and the reasonableness of the estimates and related disclosures by the legal representatives. 

▪ We draw conclusions about the appropriateness of the going concern principle applied by the legal 

representatives and, on the basis of the audit evidence obtained, whether there is material uncer-

tainty about events or circumstances that can give rise to significant doubts about the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. If we come to the conclusion that material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to refer to the relevant disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the com-

bined management report in the auditor’s report or, if these disclosures are inappropriate, to modify 

our respective audit opinion. We draw our conclusions on the basis of the audit evidence obtained 

up to the date of our audit report. However, future events or circumstances can lead to the Group 

being unable to continue its business activities. 

▪ We assess the presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 

the notes and whether the consolidated financial statements present the underlying transactions and 

events in such a way that the consolidated financial statements, in accordance with the IFRSs as 

adopted by the EU and the additional requirements of German commercial law in accordance with 

Section 315e(1) HGB, give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of 

operations of the Group. 

▪ We obtain sufficient, suitable audit evidence for the accounting information of the companies or busi-

ness activities within the Group in order to issue audit opinions on the consolidated financial state-

ments and the combined management report. We are responsible for designing, supervising and 

performing the audit of the consolidated financial statements. We bear sole responsibility for our 

audit opinions. 

▪ We assess that the combined management report is consistent with the consolidated financial state-

ments and the law, and the view of the position of the Group that it provides. 

▪ We perform audit procedures on the forward-looking statements made in the combined management 

report by the legal representatives. In particular, on the basis of sufficient and suitable audit evidence, 

we analyze the significant assumptions on which the forward-looking statements are based and as-

sess whether the forward-looking statements have been properly derived from these assumptions. 

We do not provide a separate audit opinion regarding the forward-looking statements or the under-

lying assumptions. There is a considerable yet unavoidable risk that future events will deviate mate-

rially from the forward-looking statements. 
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Among other things, we discuss with those responsible for overseeing the audit the planned scope and 

scheduling of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in the inter-

nal control system that we identify during our audit. 

We declare to those responsible for overseeing the audit that we complied with the relevant independ-

ence requirements and discuss with them all relationships and other matters that can reasonably be 

assumed to affect our independence, and the precautions taken against this and, if relevant, the ac-

tions undertaken to eliminate any threats to our independence or protective measures taken. 

Of the matters we discussed with those responsible for overseeing the audit, we determine which mat-

ters were most significant in the audit of the consolidated financial statements for the current reporting 

period and that are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report 

unless the public disclosure of such matters is prevented by law or other legal provisions. 

Other Statutory and Legal Requirements 

Report on the Assurance on the Electronic Rendering of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

and the Combined Management Report Prepared for Publication Purposes in Accordance with 

Section 317(3a) HGB 

Declaration of Non-Issuance of an Audit Opinion 

We have been engaged to conduct an audit in accordance with Section 317(3a) of the German Com-

mercial Code (HGB) to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the presentation of the consoli-

dated financial statements and the combined management report (hereinafter also referred to as 

“ESEF documents”) prepared for disclosure purposes complies in all material respects with the re-

quirements of Section 328(1) of the German Commercial Code (HGB) for the electronic reporting for-

mat (“ESEF format”). 

We do not express an opinion on the ESEF documents. Due to the significance of the matter described 

in the “Basis for the declaration of non-issuance of an audit opinion” section, we were not able to obtain 

sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our opinion on the ESEF documents. 
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Basis for the Declaration of Non-Issuance of an Audit Opinion 

We did not express an audit opinion on the ESEF documents because the legal representatives had 

not provided us with any ESEF documents for our review by the time we issued our auditor’s report. 

Other Disclosures Pursuant to Article 10 of the EU Audit Regulation 

We were elected as auditors by the Annual General Meeting on June 13, 2024. We were engaged by 

the Supervisory Board on August 1, 2024. We have been the auditor of FRIWO AG since the 2024 

fiscal year. 

We declare that the audit opinions contained in this auditor’s report are consistent with the additional 

report to the Audit Committee according to Article 11 of the EU Audit Regulation (audit report). 

Other Matter – Use of the Auditor’s Report 

Our auditor’s report must always be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial state-

ments and the audited combined management report. 

Responsible Auditor 

Thomas Gloth is the auditor responsible for the audit.”
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Addresses and Dates 

Financial Calendar 2025 

Fiscal Year January 1 to December 31 

Publication of the 2024 annual report 

Press release on Q1 2025 

Annual General Meeting 

Publication of the 2025 half-year financial report 

Press release on Q3 2025 

April 24, 2025 

May 8, 2025 

June 5, 2025 

August 14 ,2025 

November 6, 2025 

Addresses 

FRIWO AG 

Von-Liebig-Strasse 11 

48346 Ostbevern, Germany 

 

WKN 620110 

ISIN DE0006201106 

Phone: +49 (0) 25 32 / 81 – 0 

Fax: +49 (0) 25 32 / 81 – 112 

E-mail: ir@friwo.com 

Internet: https://www.friwo.com 

Our website https://www.friwo.com/en/about/investor-relations/ provides a comprehensive range of 

information about the FRIWO share and the company. This includes dates, current financial reports, 

information about the Annual General Meeting and financial communications. 

Note: 

To make this report more readable, we have opted not to use male and female genders simultane-

ously in this report and used the generic masculine. All personal pronouns apply equally to all gen-

ders. 

Key figures in the report are rounded to the nearest whole number. Due to rounding, totals and 

percentages in this report may not add up precisely to the amounts shown. 

mailto:ir@friwo.com
https://www.friwo.com/




 

 

 


